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25t May 2019

The Hon. Dennis P. Lister JP MP
Speaker of the House of Assembly
21 Parliament Street

Hamilton HM 12

Dear Mr. Speaker:

It is both my pleasure and my solemn duty to submit to you the Report on the findings of the Parliamentary
Joint Select Committee (“the Committee”) charged with examining the incident at the House of Assembly
on 2" December 2016. The report represents the end product of a Committee which has worked with
diligence, focus and commitment on the task with which it was presented.

We trust that the information presented will serve to highlight not only issues directly related to the
decision-making prior to and on 2" December 2016, but also other matters which should be examined
as well.

We are most indebted to you, Mr. Speaker, for your support throughout this process which has at times
been most challenging. As you are aware, we had to restart our proceedings in February 2018, and we
have had to work on, despite at times not having a full complement of members. We acknowledge the
support provided by His Excellency the Governor, Mr. John Rankin, who was sworn in just days after the
incident. We are grateful for the contributions of all persons who voluntarily provided information, and
value the contributions made by other members of the community.

Finally, we thank the Clerk to the Legislature, Mrs. Shernette Wolffe, as well as former Assistant Clerk Ms.
Sierra 0’Meally, Consultant Clerk Mrs. Alberta Dyer Tucker and Sergeant Major Arnold Allen whose
services were most appreciated.

Mr. H.K.E. Swan JP MP, Chairman

Senator The Hon. Joan Dillas Wright JP, President of the Senate
Mrs. Tinee Furbert JP MP

Mr. Scott Simmons JP MP

Mr. Ben Smith JP MP

Mr. Neville Tyrrell JP MP

Senator Marcus Jones
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FOREWORD

“There comes a time when one must take a position that is neither safe nor politic nor popular, but he
must take it because his conscience tells him it is right.” Rev. Dr. Martin Luther King Ir.

From its first meeting in December 2017, the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee (“the Committee”)
knew that its task would not be an easy one. It was given a timeline of three to six months to delve into
and report fairly on the circumstances which had led to an incident which had provoked high levels of
tension and polarization in the Bermudian community.

The Committee is aware that even now, some members of the public might feel that this review was
unnecessary. The truth is that even two years later there are many in the community, particularly those
directly affected by the incapacitant spray and those who witnessed the events, who remain interested
in understanding how the country arrived at that point on that day. In the main, most want to know what
could be done to avoid a repeat of the incident. Moreover, the Committee’s efforts have uncovered that
there are still key stakeholders who have much to answer for as it relates to the decision-making on 2"
December 2016.

The Committee trusts that this final report, although dealing with ‘historical’ events, will be useful and
that its recommendations, together with recommendations highlighted in other reports, will be
considered and operationalized in order to reduce the potential for another event of this nature.

It is already a matter of public record that operational decisions made by the Bermuda Police Service
contributed to the unfortunate manner in which events unfolded that day. That notwithstanding, and
given its mandate to investigate the decision-making which had occurred, the Committee took the
position that it should examine as much of the existing material as it could, identify any gaps which
occurred when trying to piece together the events and seek clarity from those who could fill in some of
the gaps.

Committee members committed to apply fairness, objectivity and transparency to all aspects of its
investigation. More importantly, although members represented the gamut of political interests-
Government, Opposition and Independent- they were determined not to make their investigation a
political event. Therefore, they devoted themselves to meeting, researching and interviewing behind the
scenes. They maintained confidentiality to avoid having their in-process efforts critiqued in public or in
the media.

One particular matter should be mentioned. During the process of requesting information from key
stakeholders, the Committee found itself engaged in dialogue with one lawyer who represented not just
a member of the Executive, but also (or so was the initial thought!) the former Commissioner of Police.
Towards the end of its research, the Committee was advised by the lawyer that he represented the entire
Bermuda Police Service. Potential conflicts of interest will be addressed later in this report.

The point in mentioning the lawyer is that the Committee had no substantial allocation at its immediate
disposal in order to seek legal advice. That notwithstanding, Members were most appreciative to be given
potential access to funds through the Office of the Legislature. However, the absence of a specific budget

1 The National Police Coordination Centre (NPoCC) Report was made public on 28" March 2017.



dedicated for the purpose of the Committee’s mandate is noteworthy and should be a consideration in
the future for any Joint Select Committee with a similar mandate. This of course would be a matter for
the House of Assembly’s Rules and Privileges Committee to determine.

The Committee must acknowledge the assistance provided by the current Speaker of the House of
Assembly, The Honourable Dennis P. Lister, and His Excellency the Governor Mr. John Rankin, without
whom the task might have heen frustrated by on-going legal maneuvering and the obstacles presented
by persons, some of whom hold or held constitutional offices.

The Committee wishes to thank for their cooperation former Speaker The Hon. K. H. R. Horton JP and
former Parliamentarians Mr. E. T. Richards, Dr. E. G. Gibbons and those persons who were directly
involved in the incident and willing to speak with the Committee. Additionally, the Committee is
appreciative of responses provided by Opposition Leader Mr, L. C. Cannonier IP MP, current Secretary to
the Cabinet Major M. T. Telemaque and by Mrs. C. Whitter, Deputy Head of the Public Service. The
Committee also acknowledges that only after issuing summons, information was provided by former
Pariiamentarian Mr. . Baron, current Parliamentarians Mr. M. H. Dunkiey 1P MP and Mr. T. Moniz JP MP,
and former Deputy Commissioner Mr. P. Wright. The Committee also acknowledges the most helpful
contributions of former Commissioner of Police Mr, M. De Silva, which were received after intervention
from Government House.

tn addition, thanks must be given to former members of the Committee: The Hon. M. J. Scott JP MP,
and former One Bermuda Alliance Senators Andrew Simons IP and Robyn Swan. Their efforts and
contributions were most appreciated.

During each instance when it was short of a member, the remaining members of the PJSC continued to
deliberate on evidence received to determine the next steps necessary.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The work of the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee (“the Committee”) is an important undertaking in
Bermuda’s history, as it affords a more comprehensive analysis than that found in other documents on
one of the most serious social issues to have unraveled in Bermuda for more than 40 years. Sadly, many
in Bermuda relate the tragedy of 2™ December 2016 to the disturbances that took place in the 1960s
and 1970s.

To assist in understanding some of the deep-rooted feelings, the Committee attempts below to put into
context the socio-political climate leading up to and during that period in 2016. It must be said repeatedly
that Bermuda is ripe for an academic analysis of this period and the contents of this report can be a
valuable resource in that effort.

While a matter best examined by a scholar such as a social scientist, it is reasonable to deduce that the
social atmosphere that developed in 2016 did not happen overnight; there were many contributing
factors. On 1%t December 2017, Parliamentarian Renee Ming noted in the Legislature? that some 26
protests had occurred in the four year period between 2012 and 2016.

The work of the Joint Select Committee has been extended twice with the permission of the Speaker of
the House: first because of delays caused by the ignoring and/or reluctance to engage by key witnesses
that the Committee wished to interview, which also included legal challenges which were referred to the
Speaker of the House. In the later months as the Committee began to uncover more information, due in
part now to the willingness of persons to share information, together with the Committee’s commitment
to uncover the facts, the Committee was encouraged to seek an extension during its summation.

“Truth crushed to earth will rise again” — Rev. Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.

The mandate of the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee was to examine and to obtain a clear
understanding of the decision-making that prevailed on 2" December 2016, both at the House of
Assembly and otherwise behind the scenes, which resulted in Officers being deployed in protective gear
using a ‘Bubble Tactic’, and later resulted in Officers discharging CAPTOR spray on protestors.

Testimony from some of the protestors who were engaged in “civil disobedience’ disclosed that the
experience was traumatic and some even considered it ‘life threatening’. It was stated during testimony
that an announcement was made that the “House would not sit at 1:00 p.m.”, which was followed soon
after by the surprise arrival of the police unit.

Astonishingly, when the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee reviewed the video from the body camera
placed on an Officer, it was uncovered that an Order was given to Officers to deploy CAPTOR spray. The
revelation ‘flew in the face’ of what was initially reported by the Bermuda Police Service, and of what
previously had formed a major part of the findings and subsequent decision from the Police Complaints

Authority.

Furthermore, the statements of former Deputy Speaker Mrs. Suzanne Roberts-Holshouser and former
Member of Parliament Mr. Kenneth Bascome, shared with the Committee during its interview with

2 House of Assembly Hansard 1%t December 2017, p. 781.



members of the People’s Campaign, revealed significant information that has illuminated serious
discrepancies in the statements provided by the Bermuda Police Service and the testimony and
statements provided by other witnesses. It should be noted that the testimony of Mrs. Roberts-
Helshouser and Mr. Bascome did not form part of the police file requested to be sent to the Committee.
However, their testimony states that discussions and planning took place between them, their political
colleagues and the Bermuda Police Service about how to gain entry to the House of Assembly, and
therefore reinforces Finding 3.9 of the National Police Coordination Centre Report which made significant
reference to the adverse involvement of Platinum Command.

A Disastrous Day in Bermuda’s History
From the outset, reports of the event, commonly referred to as the ‘pepper spray event’, placed the focus
on the protestors and the Officers on the frontline, by making them the centre of attention.

However, during the process of gathering evidence and considering testimony, the Committee realized
that while the protest itself was one matter, the decisions made by persons in light of the protest were a
separate matter. It was the reaction by decision-makers to the protest which resulted in the disastrous
events of the day.

Two questions emerged: WHO told the public to come out and WHO decided what should be done in light
of the protest? A third related question was also raised: WHY did the events unfold as they did?

The Committee considered WHO was responsible for the presence of the protestors. In fact, it is a matter
of public knowledge that chief amongst those encouraging the public to come out were:

THE PEOPLE'S CAMPAIGN

The People’s Campaign was instrumental in uncovering key details about the airport redevelopment
through Freedom of Information requests to the Canadian Government. In addition the group organized
public meetings prior to the anticipated debate of the airport redevelopment bill. On the evening of 1%
December 2016, the People’s Campaign held a highly emotive public meeting at which members of the
public were encouraged to be present at the House of Assembly on 2" December 2016. The number of
protestors, although few in the early morning, grew as the day progressed.

It was reported that many came out to show their displeasure about the airport redevelopment bill. It
cannot be ruled out that some in the crowd may have come to intentionally block access to the House of
Assembly, thereby breaking the law.

THE PROGRESSIVE LABOUR PARTY

Parliamentarians from the Progressive Labour Party (the Opposition at that time} did attend many of
the highly emotive meetings/protests that took place, challenging the then One Bermuda Alliance
Government. In addition, the then Leader of the Opposition, Mr. David Burt JP MP, addressed the public
at a meeting at St. Paul’s Centennial Hall on the evening of 1% December 2016 and encouraged them to
demonstrate their dissatisfaction with the airport redevelopment proposal.

In video-footage taken on Parliament Street on the day of the incident, members of the Progressive
Labour Party were seen in the crowd. Their presence would have been seen as a validation of the protests.



NB: By way of additional information, the Committee considered at length the pros and cons of the
involvement of Parliamentarians in emotive causes that lead to civil disobedience; however, it was
determined that their involvement was not dissimilar to what has transpired historically in both Bermuda
and overseas.

After establishing WHO encouraged the protestors, the Committee turned its attention to WHO made
decisions that day, particularly during the period between 10:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m. which, based on
evidence provided, was a key period:

THE ONE BERMUDA ALLIANCE GOVERNIMENT

The OBA Government must accept some responsibility for the decision-making. It appears that Members
of the Cabinet, determined to have the already oft-delayed debate on the airport redevelopment bill
occur that day, influenced the Speaker to change his mind to have it debated at 1:00 p.m., thereby
contributing to the climate of confusion that took place.

THE SPEAKER OF THE HOUSE OF ASSEMBLY

Considering the authority vested in the Speaker of the House in 2016, The Hon. K. H. Randolph Horton JP,
it is apparent that he was indecisive on 2™ December 2016, having first stated that the House would not
convene if Parllamentarians were not in the House at 10:00 a.m. and later changing his mind. This change
of mind seemed to come after a series of telephone calls between the Speaker and the Acting Governor,
the former Premier and the Bermuda Police Service. This change of mind also later forced the Gold
Commander and/or other Senior Officers, now finding themselves under pressure, to react in haste.

THE ACTING GOVERNOR

The Acting Governor was in frequent contact with the parties including the Speaker, the Commissiconer,
the Premier et alia. Her presence/participation in the process could have also influenced the decisions
made on the day and some responsibility must be ascribed.

THE BERMUDA POLICE SERVICE

The Bermuda Police Service must accept some responsibility for the outcome of the unfolding of events
on 2™ December 2016. The National Police Coordination Centre’s peer review, which will be referenced
in more detail fater in this report, details the BPS's deviation from the plan of action it had established for
the day, as Officers found themselves reacting to events.

During the process of the 2018/2019 review, the Committee adopted the view that the newly-appointed
Police Commissioner interfered with the intent of the Committee to interview member(s) of the Bermuda

Police Service.

That notwithstanding, 2" December 2016 will forever remain a tragic event in Bermuda’s history. In
fact, 2016 in its entirety can be described as a tumultuous political period characterized by a plethora of
protests which culminated in the CAPTOR spray incident in December.




A. THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

The work of all Parliamentary loint Select Committees is important because of the charge to ensure that
outcomes are evidenced-based and in the best interests of the country. The investigations of this
particular Committee were important because members were tasked to look into a serious national
incident. The powers and authority vested in Joint Select Committees can be found in Part IV of the
Parliament Act 19573, Sections 36 through 38 *of The Bermuda House of Assembly Official Standing Orders
(revised July 12, 2013) also deal with the operation of legislative committees.

The Motion to appoint a Joint Select Committee to investigate, report and make recommendations on the
events of December 2, 2016, was approved as amended in the House of Assembly (HOA) on 1% December
2017. The wording of the Motion follows:

WHEREAS at the gates of this House of Assembly a show of democracy descended into open
conflict between concerned citizens of Bermuda, and those charged with protecting the very rights
they sought to exercise, on December 2" 2016

AND WHEREAS the Government having declared its intention to establish a Parliamentary
Committee to look into the events generally, including the decision-making and any directives of
the Executive and the then Speaker of the House of Assembly to the Police, that led up to and
precipitated events that day, including the deployment of police in riot gear and the use of
incapacitant spray on the crowd of citizens assembled;

BE IT RESOLVED that this Motion for the appointment of a Joint Select Committee to carry out the
said Inquiry into the events of December 2", 2016 be approved

AND, Thereafter, pursuant to Part IV of the Parliament Act 1957, that a Parliamentary Joint Select
Committee be appointed to (1) to enquire into the aforesaid events as thoroughly as may be; (2
bring closure to this event by the making of all proper and necessary findings, recommendations
and where required, sanctions; and to submit its report to the House of Assembly within three to
six months.

On 13™ December 2017, Mr. H. Matthie, Vice Chairman of M.O.V.E.,, an organization which had
established a committee to educate its members on the 2" December 2016 protest and pepper spraying
incident, especially in light of the then upcoming deadline for appeal/action to be taken by the protestors,
sent communication to Mr. H. K. E. Swan JP MP, the Parliamentarian who had laid the Motion in the House
of Assembly. That communication was held until after the Committee held its first meeting. Other similar
communication to the Chairman was also held.

On 15" December 2017, the Committee held its first meeting, and elected Mr. H. K. E. Swan JP MP as its
Chairman. From the start, the members expressed their commitment to doing their best for Bermuda,
and to ensuring that any research and investigations related to the investigation were carried out with
fairness and objectivity. The Committee’s Terms of Reference *were derived directly from the Motion;
thereafter, the approach to the task at hand was determined. The Committee then commenced a

3 part IV of the Parliament Act 1957 is found in Annex 1.
4 Sactions 36 through 38 of the Bermuda House of Assembly Official Standing Orders are found in Annex 2.
5 The Committee’s Terms of Reference and operating authority can be found in Annex 3.



comprehensive review of two main documents: the National Police Coordination Centre (NPoCC) Report
and the Decision of the Police Complaints Authority, before determining the key persons who should be
interviewed.

In order to both demonstrate accountability and to solicit input from any persons with information, the
Committee placed newspaper notices faying out its Terms of Reference and sent out letters to key
identified stakeholders, asking for statements of account on what happened that day.

The Committee aiso used this period to advise M.O.V.E. that the Committee’s mandate was not related
to and could not impact any current or pending charges brought by the Bermuda Police Service. As such,
while the Committee understood the urgency of the organization’s request to meet, it was not positioned
to provide the organization with information or advice which would impact the deadline for appeal, which
was a legal matter.

In early February 2018, former Premier Michael Dunkley IP MP, who had been asked to submit a
statement of account to the Committee but did not do so, pointed out a procedural error: although
ratified by the Lower House, inadvertently the Committee had not been properly ratified by both Houses
in accordance with the Parliament Act 1957. While Mr. Dunkiey's observation was correct, a sitting
Member of Parliament would customarily and as a matter of protocol raise his or her concerns directly
with the Speaker and await a response, rather than raising the matter in the media before the response
was given®. The net effect was that the Committee immediately stopped the work it had done to date
until it could be properly constituted.

Speaker Lister acknowledged the anomaly and ensured that the Motion to establish the Committee was
sent to the Senate which ratified it later in February 2018. The incident was helpful in that members
collectively agreed that the Committee’s work would not be played out in public and that all Committee
press releases would be channeled via the Chairman.

Once properly ratified, the Committee determined that all work undertaken between December 2017 and
February 2018 was null and void; as such, the Committee began afresh with its new end date set for
August 2018. All persons previously appointed to the Committee agreed to continue serving, although
objections to the participation of Mr. H. K. E. Swan and The Hon. M. J. Scott were raised by lawyer A.
Dunch who represented, inter alia, Mr. Dunkley and at least one other potential witness. All persons and
organizations previously contacted by the Committee ‘were advised of the adjusted start date and invited
to resubmit any materials which they might have provided already. Members again elected Mr. H. K. E.
Swan to serve as Chairman.

Seven persons were appointed to the Committee in December 2017 and the same seven appointed again
in February 2018. In accordance with section 38 {4) of the Official Standing Orders of the Bermuda House
of Assembly, a minimum of 4 members had to be present at each meeting in order to form a quorum. The
Committee also determined that in order to expedite its work, on occasion a sub-committee of less than
4 members could review information and make recommendations for the larger committee to consider.

% Royal Gazette 7 February 2018
7 Including Government House, The Police Complaints Authority, Trott and Duncan, M.O.V.E., Mr. C. Looby, Mr. J.
Baron, Mr. M. Dunkley JP MP, Commissioner M. De Silva and The Hon. K. H. R, Horton JP.




On 6% March 2018, lawyer Alan Dunch wrote to the Speaker on behalf of Mr. Dunkley and others for
whom he {Mr. Dunch) acted, with objections to the participation on the Committee of Mr. H.K.E. Swan [P
MP and The Hon. M. J. Scott iP MP. Mr. Dunch suggested that Messrs. Swan and Scott, both of whom had
spoken passionately to the Motion in the House of Assembly- as did others- should either voluntarily
decline to serve as members, or that the Speaker should rescind their appointments and replace them on
the grounds of apparent bias and consequent procedural unfairness. The letter noted that Mr. Dunkley
was not prepared at that time to participate in any way in the proceedings of the PJSCand that he reserved
all rights that might arise once the Speaker had responded to the concerns raised.

On 15™ june 2018 the Speaker announced in the House of Assembly (“HOA”) that Mr. S. Simmons 1P MP
would replace The Hon. M. J. Scott JP MP, who represented at least one client involved in court-
proceedings related to the incident on 2" December 2016. In April 2018, former Opposition Senator
Andrew Simons was removed from the Senate, leaving a void in the Committee’s membership until a
replacement was named. In July 2018, Ms. Robyn Swan was named as a new Opposition Senator and
later as a Committee member. However, her tenure was short-lived. Her removal once again left a
membership void which was not filled until November 2018 when Mr. Marcus Jones was named as a new
Opposition Senator and member of the Committee.

Challenges with membership notwithstanding, the Committee met® regularly to discuss and analyze the
information gathered, relying on several sources to gather information for its examination:

{1} The National Police Coordination Centre (“ the NPoCC Report”) commissioned by the
Governor and authored by Assistant Chief Constable Chris Shead of the United Kingdom;

{2} the Decision (in respect of the 26 complaints made by members of the public on the use of
captor spray at the House of Assembly on 2 December 2016), rendered by the Police
Complaints Authority on 10" August 2017;

(3) statements of account requested by the Committee and given voluntarily by The Hon. K. H.
R. Horton JP, Mr, E.T. Richards and Dr. E. G. Gibbons;

(4} interviews with and/or statements of account provided by Mr. M.H. Dunkley JIP MP, Mr. J.
Baron and Mr. P. Wright after summons?;

{5} astatement of account, police policy documents and other documents, together with
police camera video footage provided by former Commissioner M. De Silva, which were
received after a request from the Committee to Government House;

(6} responses from Superintendent J. Howard Yof the Bermuda Police Service through the
current Commissioner of Police; and

{7} media reports on the incident.

A list of the correspondence issued and received by the Committee over the course of its review can be
found in Annex 5.

The Committee held regular meetings at which members compared and contrasted information from the
reports, formulated guestions based on the information gathered, identified gaps in understanding and

8 Alist of meeting dates can be found in Annex 4,

? Part IV of the Parliament Act 1957 affords the Committee power to issue a summens.

2 The first summons to Superintendent Howard was issued in November 2018; the second was issued in
December 2018.



where appropriate, sought out key stakeholders who could possibly shed light on those gaps. As a result
of this approach, the Committee recorded a number of matters which are highlighted and discussed in
the Findings Section of this document.

After inter-Committee discussions surrounding the sensitive nature of some of the material which might
be collected, and at the recommendation of former Senator Andrew Simons, the Committee established
an electronic account with box.com which allowed for the safe and secure storage of materials.

As it had done prior to its ratification, in March 2018 the Committee placed two advertisements in the
Royal Gazette, outlining its membership, the Authority under which it operated and its Terms of
Reference. More importantly perhaps was the invitation for any member of the public to make a
submission to the Committee. Regrettably, the advertisements again attracted no responses.

While it is clear that memories may fade after 2 years, the Committee was still shocked at how little focus
had been placed by key stakeholders {or for that matter, the public) on the contents of the NPoCC Report.
Perhaps this fack of focus occurred because those key stakeholders were not interviewed by Chief
Constable Shead, or perhaps it was because they viewed the NPoCC report as focused solely on Police

operations.

That may explain why some of the key stakeholders ignored initial requests from the Committee for
statements of account. In fact, the Committee found its initial approaches to certain key stakeholders met
with indifference or stony silence. Because of the view that the information held by these individuals was
critical to understanding the events of 2" December 2016, the Committee chose to exercise its authority
to issue a summons to each of those persons. Even then, perhaps because of the length of time which
had passed, some of these stakeholders stated that they no longer had access to files or that they did not
recall certain critical events, Ironically, these same persons, once pressed, were able to recall in great
detail other events of the day.

While being fully cognizant that some matters of national security cannot be publicly discussed, the
Committee found that information provided by former Police Commissioner M. De Silva (after
intervention through Government House) and Deputy Commissioner P. Wright {after a summons was
issued) was useful in creating some understanding of general police operations. However, achieving a
deeper and richer understanding of the details of police decisions on 2" December 2016 was stymied
when the lawyer for the new Commissioner, whom one might assume was not on the Island on 2™
Dacember 2016, wrote that all communication to officers involved should be through the Commissioner
(or the lawyer), as the Commissioner alone spoke for the Bermuda Police Service,

The Committee considered engaging a lawyer. It wrote to a small number of lawyers, received quotes hut
was later advised that some lawyers approached were conflicted. In the end, the Committee continued
to refer all legal matters to the Speaker for consideration and opinion,

The Committee recognized that as its 6-month deadline of August 2018 approached, it was just beginning
to uncover more meaningful information. Thus, before the HOA recessed in June 2018 the Committee
decided to ”Rise and Report Progress” to Speaker Lister, and to seek an extension of time from the
Parliament. This was agreed to and a six-month extension was granted.

1 MIM Letter dated 26' September 2018.




The Committee found the latter part of 2018 to be a far more active period than the first part of the year.
It was during the months between September and December when it finally secured the cooperation of
persons invited to appear before it. As a result of the testimony of witnesses sworn under oath, the
Committee was able to further identify other persons of interest involved in the events on 2" December
2016,

In January 2019, in order to expedite its work, the Committee agreed to the formation of a periodic sub-
committee to review drafts of its proposed final report. After meeting and examining particular sections
of the document, the sub-committee reported to the larger Committee which would then determine
whether sub-committee suggestions would be accepted or not.

In March 2019, a further extension was granted by the Speaker and the Committee has done its best to
meet the amended timeline.
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B. THE CONTEXT

Before going any further, it is important to establish the context for the events on 2" December 2016. As
part of the preparation for this report, the Committee briefly considered leadership as well as the social
and political climate which had been created in 2016. The year was an interesting one for Bermuda for a
number of reasons.

Although a British Overseas Territory, Bermuda is a self-governing jurisdiction with a duly elected House
of Assembly. The Bermuda Government operates under the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968. There
exist three separate governance arms:

e The Legislature, which comprises the Senate and the House of Assembly, is responsible for making
laws for the peace, order and good governance of Bermuda;

e The Executive, the authority of which is invested in Her Majesty, and which comprises the
Governor and the Cabinet. The Governor has special responsibility for external affairs, defence
including armed forces, internal security and the police.

e the Judiciary, which comprises the Court of Appeal, the Supreme Court and the Magistrates Court
and which ensures that the law of the land is applied evenly and fairly.

As part of this review, the Committee has had to make representation to members of the Legislature,
members of the Bermuda Police Service and civil servants - all of whom have responsibilities and duties
outlined in the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968.

The Commander-in-Chief of Bermuda is the Governor, appointed under the Foreign and Commonwealth
Office in the United Kingdom. Under relevant sections of the Constitution, the Governor’s responsibilities
are provided for as follow:

Governor’s special responsibilities
62 (1) The Governor, acting in his discretion, shall be responsible for the conduct (subject to

the provisions of this Constitution and of any other law) of any business of the
Government, including the administration of any department of government, with
respect to the following matters-

(a) external affairs;

(b) defence, including armed forces;
(c ) internal security;

(d) the police.

(2) The Governor, acting in his discretion, may by directions in writing delegate, with the
prior approval of the Secretary of State, to the Premier or any other Minister designated
by him after consultation with the Premier such responsibility for any of the matters
specified in subsection (1) of this section as the Governor may think fit upon such

caonditions as he may impose.

Appointment, etc., of Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner of Police

87. Power to make appointments to the offices of Commissioner of Police and Deputy
Commissioner of Police and to remove or exercise disciplinary control over persons holding

11



or acting in those offices is vested in the Governor acting after consultation with the Public
Service Commission.

In 2016, Bermuda had three Governors within a 9-month period:

e Mr. George Fergusson {commenced tenure 23 May 2012; finished 2™ August 2016)
e Mrs. Ginny Ferson® {commenced tenure 2" August 2016; finished 5™ December 2016}; and
e Mr. John Rankin {commenced tenure 5" December 2016; remains in place)

Acting Governor Ms. Ginny Ferson was the Commander-in-Chief of Bermuda on 2" December 2016.

The timing of the transition of power at Government House came at the most inopportune time. The
turnover of appointments to the role of Governor coincided with an acutely challenged Government and
a country in crisis.

Although in the fourth year of its tenure, the One Bermuda Alliance (OBA) Government held only a razor-
thin majority in the House of Assembly, with the then Speaker of the House, The Hon. K.H.R. Horton P
MP, actually an elected member of the Opposition Progressive Labour Party. In addition, the Government
was at serious odds with the people, with Bermuda witnessing an unprecedented number of protests. In
fact, the protest on 2™ December 2016 was not the first held at the House of Assembly in Bermuda that
year,

in March 2016, the One Bermuda Alliance Government was hastily moving forward with introducing
reforms to immigration legislation- which generated great disquiet amongst members of the public. Why
was immigration such a thorny socio-economic issue in Bermuda? One must first understand that even
in the twenty-first century, Bermuda continues to suffer from a myriad of racial problems- a fact
substantiated in reports by social scientists and Royal Commissions Bwhich have demonstrated that
immigration has been used to manipulate the electoral composition of the country. It is an established
fact that Black and Portuguese Bermudians in Bermuda have been adversely impacted by these past
immigration policies.

Political researcher and Parliamentarian Walton Brown Ir JP MP, in his book Bermuda and the Struggle for
Reform: Race, Politics and Ideology 1944-1998", provides at least one historical example of why there
was such long-standing angst regarding immigration policy. Mr. Brown details a racially structured
immigration palicy promoted by the now defunct United Bermuda Party intended to ensure that all British
subjects living on the Island for at least 3 years were given the vote-- made possible by a section included
in the 1963 franchise legisiation. Thereafter, the Government of the day encouraged immigration to the
Island by British citizens in particular. Census data from between 1950 and 1970 show that there was a
significant increase in persons born outside of but living in Bermuda. Since more than half of these
individuals came from the British Commonwealth, after three years residency in Bermuda, they were
entitled to vote, It is worth noting that while 15% of these persons were black, 83% were white.

12 Mrs, Ferson, the Deputy Governor, was Acting Governor in the interim after Mr. Fergusson left and before Mr,
Rankin was sworn in.
13 For example, The Wooding Report 1969, The Newman Report 1974 et alia
14
p. 68
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At the same time, Government leaders publicly planted the seed in the minds of Bermudians that the
Island’s birth rate was too high and that the Island was becoming over-crowded. In fact, locals were told
that if Bermuda had more people than it could educate and train, there might be a strong possibility that
in the future, the Government would have to search for other countries willing to take Bermudians.

Although this is but one example, it serves to underscore the fact that historically many Bermudians felt
themselves to be at a disadvantage because of immigration policies. Thus, they were willing to converge
en masse on the HOA in March 2016, Fven though former Chief Justice, Dr. lan Kawaley stated at the
time'® that it was “strongly arguable” that the withdrawal of labour in circumstances where it has no
connection to a labour dispute was a breach of section 34 of the Labour Relations Act 1975, protestors
downed their tools and physically came out in numbers in support of the protests at the House of
Assembly. In fact, hundreds of persons locking arms in order to surround the building and engage in what
was considered by most as a peaceful protest resulted in the unheard-of outcome of preventing the
immigration legislation from being debated.

A peaceful protest is universally accepted as the act of citizens expressing disapproval through a statement
or action without the use of violence. This type of protest has been used in countries all over the world to
advocate for, inter alia, human rights issues, anti-war campaigns, and for expressing disapproval of various
political/governmental policy issues.

An aligned concept is that of civil disobedience, which s a conscious decision on the part of protestors
to refuse to chey governmental demands or commands, especially as a nonviolent and usually
collective means of forcing concessions from the government. When people engage in acts of civil
disobedience, one might expect arrests to ensue.

Thus, the protestors in March 2016 could have been arrested, but they were not. Instead, former Premier
Sir John Swan brokered a settlement between the Government and representatives of the People’s
Campaign. At the time, the Bermuda Police Service (BPS) earned plaudits from then Governor George
Fergusson for its management of the situation. As the former Governor pointed out in his comments on
20" March 2016,

“But f am clear, the police have a duty to maintain public peace as well as to enforce the law.
These can be two different things, though it is not good if they diverge too far or for too long.
The law should not be broken. However, it is not always sensible for the police to apply zero
tolerance at the time, especially when emotions are running high. There was a risk of violence
last week, despite the good efforts of the protest leaders to prevent this, and violence would
have had serious consequences for the whole community. Although the police will no doubt be
learning lessons too, in my view the police goft this right™.”

The Governor's comments notwithstanding, the actions of the Police in March 2016 were roundiy

condemned by some, including former Attorney General Trevor Moniz JP MP who accused the police of,

inter alia, being “missing in action.......standing back and twiddling their thumbs and doing nothing”. %’

15 The Royal Gazette 16™ March 2016
16 Bernews 20" March 2016
17 House of Assembly Hansard: Maotion to Adjourn 21% March 2016
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Just as the Government’s immigration policy had proven unpopular in March 2016, the Government's
airport redevelopment initiative was proving to be equally unpopular in the lead up to December 2016.
Objections were voiced, not to the building of a new airport to replace the existing L.F. Wade International
Airport, but rather to the terms agreed to by the then Government since the initiative offered outsourcing
of the Bermuda airport to a Canadian Corporation for a period in access of 30 years. {lronically, a similar
deal by the same company was rejected in the Cayman Islands which, like Bermuda, is a British Overseas
Territory.) Although the terms of the airport contract had not all been released at the time, the public was
aware that arrangements for the deal had not followed expected tendering and procurement processes.

After receiving responses to a series of Freedom of Information requests to the Canadian Government,
the People’s Campaign published a special report entitled ‘A Bad Deal for Bermuda’ criticizing the
redevelopment plan and claiming that the country would face unlimited debt as a result of the
arrangements made. Perhaps not surprisingly, the process as carried out locally drew much negative
attention and criticism. On the evening prior to the anticipated debate, the People’s Campaign hosted a
public meeting about the airport redevelopment.

Added to this was the fact that most of the public were aware that the OBA Government was investigating
reports that certain contracts awarded under the previous PLP Government were not properly tendered.
The irony of this, vis a vis the airport project, was not lost on the public.

Early in the morning on Friday, 2™ December 2016, a small group of members of the public assembled at
the gates of the House of Assembly in order to protest, At 10:00 a.m., the Bermuda Police Service warned
protestors via Dispersal Order that blocking the gates was an offence'®, but took no other direct action
against them.

The period between 10:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m. was a most critical one in the events of the day, as it was
during this period that decisions were made that altered the whole trajectory of the day. Members of
Parliament intending to engage in debate on the legiskation were blocked from accessing the House.
Former Speaker Horton had already determined that if Parliamentarians were not in their seats by 13:00
a.m., the session would be cancelled!®. Because there was no quorum by 10:15 a.m. a.m., the Speaker
cancelled the session, although that decision was later amended. His position was communicated to the
former Acting Governor, the former Premier, the then Leader of the Opposition and the former
Commissioner of Police.

However, as the morning progressed, uncertainty still prevailed amongst Parliamentarians and the public
regarding whether the House would sit, and it appeared that some behind-the-scenes maneuvering took
place. During this period, two additional significant events occurred: {1} the numbers of protestors
increased, and (2) a decision was made for the House to convene at 1:00 p.m.

The increased numbers of protestors blocking access to the House through its gates now presented a
major challenge. In contrast to the way the Bermuda Police Service dealt with protestors in March 2016,
Officers now marched in formation towards the crowd. Protestors who had been warned to disperse now
found themselves sandwiched between the HOA walls and the on-coming Officers. In the confusion
which followed, an order was given and incapacitant spray was used on protestors, sending some to seek

18 The Parliament Act 1957, sec. 12.
19 Mir. K. H. R. Horton Statement 23" April 2018, paragraph 7.
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medical treatment. Members of the Bermuda Police Service were also injured as a result of their actions
which seemed to have provoked the crowd.

Governor John Rankin, who had been sworn in just days after the event, ordered an independent review
of the actions taken by the police on 2™ December 2016, Assistant Chief Constable Chris Shead of the UK
National Police Coordination Centre conducted the review, published as the National Police Coordination
Centre (“NPoCC” ) Report.

Twenty-six protestors filed complaints with the Police Complaints Authority, which in August 2017
returned a Decision unanimously concluding that no misconduct could be attributed to the Officers and
thus the complaints could not be upheld®®. (However, one of the main findings of the Police Complaints
Authority is disputed by this Committee).

In December 2017, the House of Assembly passed a Motion establishing the Parliamentary Joint Select
Committee to examine the incident at the House of Assembly on 2™ December 2016. Thereafter the
Speaker of the House of Assembly, The Hon. Dennis Lister JP MP, appointed a Parliamentary Joint Select
Committee to investigate the matter, giving the Committee a timeline of between three and six months

to presert its final repaort.

2 |n February 2019, it was reported that a settlement had been reached between the Ministry of National Security
and those filing complaints against the Bermuda Police Service.
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C. FINDINGS

Former President Barack Obama once said, “If you're walking down the right path and you're willing
to keep walking, eventually you'll make progress.”

The former President was right.

The task facing the Committee at first seemed laborious, especially in light of the marked disinterest of
the persons it initially tried to contact. Nonetheless, armed with its Terms of Reference, the Committee
patiently went about its work, as members pored over the two primary reports written about the day's
events. This close examination and the subsequent discussions proved fruitful in that they raised a number
of questions which, it seemed, had not been previously articulated. The Committee identified those
persons best placed to answer the questions and then set about inviting them to respond. In some cases,
there was no initial response. In other cases, the initial contact led to immediate responses. In other cases,
initial contact led to responses from a lawyer. However, the more the Committee probed, the more it felt
that progress was being made.

The Committee identified specific periods of time relevant to the decision-making on or just before 2"
December 2016. For ease of reference, the findings are listed according to those time periods and are as
follows:

e Priorto 8:00 a.m. on 2" December 2016 (including any time on or before 1% December 2016);
o 2" December 2016 before 10:00 a.m.;

e 2" December 2016 between 10:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m.; and

e 2" December 2016 after 1:00 p.m.

The Committee also made other discoveries not directly linked to the timeframe above and has included
those items in the final section of the Findings.
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SECTION 1: PRIOR TO 8:00 A.M. on 2" DECEMBER 2016 (INCLUDING ANY TIME ON OR BEFORE 1°"
DECEMBER 2016)

NB: Please note that in the main, the Committee depended on witnesses for the gecuracy of the times at
which specific events occurred; therefore, there may be some averlap in the recounting, depending on
the witness who provided the testimony.

SUMMARY

The Bermuda Police Service (BPS) had experienced a steep learning curve in March 2016 during the multi-
day protest against the Government’s proposed immigration policy. Although then Governor George
Ferguson was extremely complimentary of the Police handling of the protest in March 2016, it was
noteworthy that within the ranks of the then One Bermuda Alliance Government, there was both criticism
of and openly expressed opposition to the way the BPS handled the March 2016 protests.

Because an Operation Order was developed, it is a matter of record that the BPS was aware that the
M.Q.V.E, organization planned public protests about the controversial Airport Redevelopment Concession
Bill 2016 at the House of Assembly on Monday, 21t November 2016. However, the actual debate was
due to take place on 23" November 2016.

In fact, there were a few false starts before the date of the debate was finally settled. The date was moved
from 23 November to 25% November to 30" November until finally, it was determined that the debate
would take place on 2™ December 2016.

Because protests were anticipated, the BPS crafted a plan for managing the situation. According to the
statement received from former Commissioner M. De Silva?, sometime around 21% November 2016, he
appointed Superintendent J. Howard, who was Acting Assistant Commissioner at the time, as Gold
Commander. For those who may be unfamiliar, police organizations will on occasion establish a specific
command structure to deal with certain issues, e. g. those involving public order. There is a single Gold
Commander who sets the strategic plan for management; he or she establishes strategic intentions and
the outcomes to be achieved and places them in one of three categories: preferred, acceptable and
unacceptable. The Silver Commander is responsible for establishing tactical plans to achieve the desired
outcomes; the Gold Commander signs off on these plans. Bronze Commanders, and there may be more
than one, set operations. According to the former Commissioner, Bronze Commanders are responsible
for the management of the groups of resources and the executions of actions to carry out the tactical
plan. By way of specific example, Bronze Commanders may be responsible for areas such as intelligence
gathering.

Mr. J. Baron reported in his testimony? that sometime during the week of 21°* November -25" November
2016, he met with the former Commissioner, the former Deputy Commissioner and the former Minister
of Finance in the Commissioner’s office regarding the upcoming debate. He was made aware that an
Operational Order had been developed to deal with the protests but he was not aware of its contents. He

2 NPoCC Report, paragraph 2.1
22 Mr. M. De Silva Statement 12% june 2016
B Mr. |, Baron Interview 12t September 2018.
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reported that although he was aware of the command structure, but was not aware of the identity of the
Gold or any other Commander.

To reiterate, the initial debate was due to have occurred on 23" November 2016. However, the first
documented operation plan, outlining the potential for protests about the anticipated debate, was
developed for 25" November 2016. According to Mr. Shead, the Operational Order for this event appears
to have been commenced on 30" November and then was updated on 2" December once the events of
the day started to become problematic.

A public meeting organized by the People’s Campaign took place on the evening of 1% December 2016
and although the BPS was aware of the highly emotive nature of the meeting, no change in the operational
plan was made in response to newly acquired intelligence.

Also on the evening of 1% December 2016, the former Leader of the Opposition made an appeal for
members of the public to attend the grounds of the House of Assembly on the next day in order to show
their objections to the airport matter.

Per the testimony of former Parliamentarians Messrs. E.T Richards and Mr. i. Baron, together with
testimony of current Parliamentarian Mr. M. H. Dunkley who was Premier at the time, a meeting took
place between the Gold Commander and the then Ministers of Finance and National Security sometime
prior to 2" December 2016%. The Committee understood the date of the meeting to be 1* December
2016, based on testimony from Mr. Dunkley®. According to Mr. E.T. Richards, arrangements were also
made at a meeting with then Inspector Glasford of the BPS Special Branch for him to be escorted from his
office to the HOA at 8:00 a.m. on 2™ December 2016%.

Mr. E.T. Richards arrived at his office in the Government Administration Building {GAB) just after 7:30 a.m.
to await his escort. From his office window, he saw his fellow Parliamentarian Mr, S. Richards inside the
HOA grounds. Somewhere between 7:45 a.m. and 7:55 a.m. he also viewed an orderly queue of about 8
to 10 men filing down Parliament Street from the Church Street corner to the HOA gate. The anticipated
police escort still had not arrived.

Former Speaker the Hon. K. H. R. Horton also arrived early, entering the HOA at 7:45 a.m. By 8:00 a.m,,
Mr. Horton, Mr. Sylvan Richards, two HOA custodians and the HOA Sergeant-at-Arms were present inside
the building.

The Committee’s review of the period prior to 2™ December 2016 not only showed that some level of
inaction on the part of the BPS set the stage for what followed, but the Committee also uncovered
discrepancies in the testimonies of key stakeholders. The Committee deems these discrepancies as grave
enough to give cause to declare that the truth remains unanswered to this day. There remains much that
can be gleaned about this period.

2 The confirmation by three former Cabinet Ministers that a meeting took place is in direct contrast to the
response from the BPS which denied outright that such a meeting took place, thereby calling the accounts of the
former Parliamentarians into question.

% Mr. M., Dunkiey JP MP Interview 4*" December 2018.

26 Mr, E. T. Richards Letter 19% September 2018 and Correspondence 14% November 2018.
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Key People: Prior to 8:00 a.m. on 2™ December 2016 (including any time on or before 1* December 2016)
e Former Speaker the Hon. K.H.R. Horton JP MP
s Former Minister of Naticnal Security J. Baron JP MP
¢+ Former Premier M. Dunkley IP MP
s Former Attorney General T. Moniz JP MP
s Former Minister of Finance E.T. Richards JP MP
+ Former Minister of the Environment S. Richards JP MP
+ Former Commissioner M. De Silva
s BPS Gold Commander Superintendent J. Howard
s BPS Inspector A. Glasford

FINDING 1.1: identifying the Chain Of Command

Both former Commissioner De Silva and Assistant Chief Constable Shead (in the NPoCC Report) give an
account of the normal command structure used by police organizations for certain public events- such as
the protests on 2" December 2016. It would be expected that there be a single Gold Commander, at least
one Silver Commander and one or more Bronze Commanders.

However, in section 3.9 of the NPoCC Report, Mr. Shead made the following statement:

“The role of Platinum{emphasis added] was referenced numerous times during the review. During
the event, there was ligison between the Commissioner and other senior stakeholders and where
appropriate, the Commissioner passed on the intentions of the Speaker of the HOA regarding
session commencement times to the Gold and Silver commander to enable them to plan
accordingly. The Platinum role however Is not one that is recognized in public order command
with the most strategic recognized role being that of Gold. However, it is reasonable to assume
that where the Gold Commander is not the Commissioner or Chief Constable of a police force, that
person may wish to provide advice and support to the Gold Commander before or during the event.
Care does however need to be taken to ensure that role responsibility within the command
structure is not confused. Platinum does not become the de facto Gold Commander should he or
she provide advice and support and the Gold and Silver Commander need to remain cognizant that
[they] have the most senior command roles for the operation and should not perceive any support
provided as being an instruction. For this event the Gold Commander amended his strategy to just
three strategic intentions from the original seven based on his perception and it highlights that
amongst the existing command structure, there was clear misunderstanding of roles and
responsibilities, reinforcing the need for appropriate training.”

Noting that this was the only reference to Platinum and after being informed by a number of witnesses
that they were unfamiliar with the term, much less knowing to whom it referred, the Committee heard
evidence from former Deputy Commissioner P. Wright who explained during his interview with the
Committee ¥’ that during joint exercises between the BPS and other organizations such as the Emergency
Measures Organization, the term Platinum Command was used. As far as he knew, the term was coined
to refer to a group of people who were not Gold Command, and who did not instruct the Gold

27 Mr. P. Wright Interview 7t" November 2018.

19




Commander, but who needed to be kept informed of significant local events because they might be called
upon to comment on them, especially if there was a matter of international importance. He also noted
that while there was nothing written in any manual about Platinum Command, on occasion Government
House might call meetings of certain heads and refer to those meetings as Platinum meetings.

By way of letter dated 26" September 2018, Government House indicated that the Acting Governor at
the time, Mrs. G. Ferson, confirmed that she had no interactions with the Gold Commander on 2™
December 2016. Thus, several questions remain unanswered:

+ Who was/were the person(s) considered as Platinum Command?

e Why was it that no-one other than the former Deputy Commissioner was willing to expound on
the role?

s  Was pressure or influence from the Platinum role the reason the Gold Commander amended his
seven strategic intentions to three?

« Did this person or group influgnce the former Speaker ta hold the session at 1:00 p.m.?

FINDING 1.2: Meeting between Gold Commander and Politicians

Two members of the then Cabinet (Finance Minister Mr. E.T. Richards and National Security Minister Mr.
J. Baron) stated that they met with the Gold Commander of the Bermuda Police Service prior to 2™
December 2016. Former Premier M. Dunkley JP MP confirmed that he was aware that a meeting between
the two former Ministers and the Gold Commander had taken place.

The testimony of the three former Cabinet Ministers indicated that a meeting took place; however, this
is in direct contrast to a response from the Bermuda Police Service through the new Commissioner of
Police (Mr. Corbishley) who, in answering questions directed by the Committee to the Gold Commander,
advised by letter dated 14* January 2019 that no such meeting occurred.

Unfortunately, the Gold Commander has not appeared before the Committee to clarify this matter, even
though he has been issued two summonses®®, From the standpoint of the Committee, he is in breach of
the summaons {invoking immunity}, and has a case to answer with regards to this breach.

Testimony from Mr. Dunkley identified [now Chief] Inspector A. Glasford of the Bermuda Police Service
Special Branch as being present at the temporary Cabinet Office on the morning in question. Further, Mr.
E.T. Richards stated that he had received instructions via the Inspector who was to arrange for an escort
for Mr. Richards to the House on the morning of 2" December 2016. That notwithstanding, Commissioner
Corbishley indicated that Inspector Glasford was not involved in events on 2™ December 2016

It is noteworthy that Mr. Corbishley was not the Commissioner of Police on 2™ December 2016, having
assumed the position following the June 2018 retirement of Commissioner Michael De Silva.

2 1gth November 2018 and 12 December 2018,
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FINDING 1.3: Existing Security Concerns about the House of Assembly

In response to a 2015 request from Former Speaker The Hon. K. H. R. Horton, a security review of the
House of Assembly and its grounds was carried out by a BPS Special Branch Officer. The letter of review
was addressed to Detective Inspector Glasford, Officer-in charge of the Special Branch. In the aftermath
of the March protests, the review was updated in April 2016.

The Committee noted that many of the recommendations for enhanced security have been addressed,
and noted that some which have not yet been carried out, such as the installation of additional fencing
and CCTV coverage of the external grounds, might have been useful to have had in place in December
2016.
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SECTION 2: 2" DECEMBER 2016 BETWEEN 8:00 A.M. and _10:00 A.M.

SUMMARY:

According to reports and testimony, at around 8:00 a.m. small groups of people had begun to gather both
at the Parliament Street entrance to the HOA as well as at the three ancillary gates {the corner of
Parliament and Church Streets, the corner of Church and Court Streets and at Reid Street, opposite the
Cabinet Office proper®). The former Premier, who had parked his vehicle at the Cabinet Office grounds
that morning, made his way to the temporary Cabinet Office on Reid Street. He reported that he did not
see any significant numbers of people as he made his way past the HOA grounds.

Since his escort had not arrived at 8:00 a,m. as arranged, Mr. E.T. Richards decided at about 8:15 a.m.to
enter the HOA grounds alone; however, he was unable to access the grounds either because of being
turned away by a police officer in uniform and/or by protestors®. He called the former Premier to advise
him of this.

BPS Officers on site at the HOA 3tinformed the protestors that they could not block access to the HOA but
the Officers were ignored.

Former Commissioner De Silva and Superintendent Howard were travelling into Hamilton together®,
Shortly after 8:15 a.m. both started receiving telephone calls to report that crowds had gathered at the
HOA. The former Premier called the Commissioner at 8:29 a.m. to advise that one of his colleagues {Mr.
E.T Richards) had been physically prevented from entering the HOA grounds. The former Minister of
National Security, Mr. Baron, made a similar call at 8:32 a.m. In both cases, the Commissioner advised
that Officers were at the HOA and attempting to deal with the issue.

At 8:30 a.m. BPS Inspector C. Clark called the Speaker to ask if Parliamentarians could meet in another
location.

Reports to the Commissioner, who by now was in his office, continued to come in. An undefined number
of Government Ministers and members had assembled in the GAB Office of Mr. E. T. Richards, not for a
meeting, but rather waiting for instructions from the BPS as to when they could enter the HOA. Mr. Baron
was called to Mr. E. T. Richards’ office where he was advised that Mr. Richards was prevented from
entering the HOA by members of the public and by a uniformed police officer.

At approximately 9:00 a.m., the Commissioner was informed that the Gold Commander’'s Team had
contacted the Speaker to discuss contingency options for the HOA to continue including it seems, the
tactics to achieve the goal of facilitating access to the HOA. The tactics were to include arresting persons
who were committing the arrestable offence of blocking access to the HOA. The contingencies included
changing the dates and/or times and/or venues for convening. While the Speaker was reportedly open to
changing the date and/or time, he considered that the venue must remain as was. It was at this paint that

2 0n 2™ December 2016, the Cabinet Office Building was undergoing renovations; staff operated out of
Innovations House, 46 Reid Street, Hamilton, which is located between Parliament and Burnaby Streets.

30 Mr, J. Baron Statement 12' September 2018.

3 |t is unclear whether these Officers are from the prior evening's night watch or whether they were deployed to
the HOA in the morning.

32 Mr, M. De Silva Statement 12" June 2018, paragraph 21.
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the Commissioner was informed that the Speaker would cancel the session if Parliamentarians were not
in the Chamber by 10:00 a.m.

Just before 10:00 a.m. the Commissioner was advised that the Speaker had called the Gold Commander
to say that he was cancelling the session®. The Commissioner contacted the Speaker directly. The Speaker
confirmed that the session would be cancelied. As a result, the BPS suspended the planned enforcement
tactic while commanders regrouped to assess the new information.

During this period, as might be expected, a number of other events took place. The former Minister of
National Security reported that he tried more than once to contact the Speaker to ascertain what was
going on. At about 9:15 a.m. the former Minister of National Security was alsoc called by a senior civil
servant and asked to speak at a funeral on behalf of the Premier. Thus, for a period of time, he was
removed from most of the core actions and activities which occurred after this time period.

Key People: 2™ December 2016 Before 10:00 a.m.
s  Former Speaker Mr. K. H. R, Horton JP MP
e Former Minister of National Security Mr. J. Baron JP MP
*  Former Minister of Finance Mr. E. T. Richards JP MP
* Former Commissioner M. De Silva
¢ BPS Gold Commander Superintendent J, Howard
s BPS Inspector C. Clark

FINDING 2.1: Police Stood Down

Officers from the Bermuda Police Service were on duty at the HOA. They were prepared to execute the
planned enforcement tactic but just before they would have done so, the Gold Commander’s Team was
informed that the HOA sitting was cancelled- a fact confirmed by the former Commissioner, The extent to
which this stand down was communicated to Officers down the line of command and to others is unclear.

3 Mr. M. De Silva Statement 12" June 2018, paragraph 25.
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SECTION 3: 2"° DECEMBER 2016 BETWEEN 10:00 A.M. AND 1:00 P.M.

SUMMARY:

As might be expected, this time period is punctuated by a large number of telephone calls between key
stakeholders to ascertain the status of events.

Accarding to testimony provided by former Speaker The Hon. K.H. R. Horton, just prior to 10:00 a.m. he
realized that only 2 of the 5 persens present in the HOA were Parliamentarians {Mr. Horton and Mr. S.
Richards), and was minded to postpone the session until 9" December 2016.

As indicated earlier, in his statement former Commissioner M. De Silva reported that with just minutes to
spare, he was informed that the Speaker had contacted the Gold Commander’s Team to say that the
session was cancelled. At 10:11 a.m., Acting Governor Mrs. G. Ferscn called the former Commissioner to
enquire about the status of events at the HOA grounds. The Commissioner was able to advise that as a
result of the decision of the Speaker to cancel the session, the BPS had actually suspended its enforcement
plan to arrest offenders blocking the HOA gates. The Acting Governor indicated that she would be in
contact with the Speaker; throughout the rest of the morning, she periodically requested updates from
the Commissioner.

At 10:15 a.m. former Premier Dunkiey called the former Commissioner to enquire about the status of
events. According to the Commissioner, the former Premier indicated that he would contact the Speaker
to see if he would change the decision®. At 10:30 a.m., former Minister Baron called the Commissioner
with a query on the status and received a similar reply.

The former Speaker gave testimony™ to confirm that around this same time, he spoke by telephone with
the Premier and the Attorney General, expressing his view that he would like to adjourn the HOA.
According to Mr. Horton, the Premier and the Attorney General were interested in sitting and getting on
with business. In hind-sight, the Committee found this to be a bit curious since according to the farmer
Premier when interviewed, there were no critically important or time-sensitive deadlines to be met that
would have necessitated that the HOA debate the amendments on that day. Nevertheless, the former
Speaker stated that he ended his conversation with the Premier and the Attorney General stifl with the
mindset that he would adjourn proceedings.

After speaking with the Premier, the Attorney General and the Commissioner, the Speaker had a lengthy
discussion with the Acting Governor. According to Mr. Horton, they discussed the possible adjournment
of the HOA, juxtaposed against the importance of carrying on the business of the country. They had some
further discussion around the Parliament Act 1957 and the Standing Orders of the HOA. The Acting
Governor relayed the assurances she had been given by the Commissioner about the Speaker’s safety and
that of his staff. Correspondence® received by the Committee stated that the Acting Governor was always
clear that it was for the Speaker to decide whether or not to proceed with a sitting of the HOA,

3 Mr, M. De Silva Statement 12 June 2018, paragraph 27.
3 Mr. K. H. R. Horton Statement 23" April 2018, paragraph 7; Mr. K. H. R. Horton Interview 28" September 2018,
% Government House Letter 4% April 2018,
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Just around 11:00 a.m., the former Minister of Finance and others left his Ministry office in the
Government Administration Building on Parliament Street and headed to the Premier’s office at the
temporary Cabinet Office on Reid Street. A Committee query about the identity of those persons who
assembled at the office of the former Premier during the morning in guestion revealed that several
Parliamentarians were there for extended periods as they awaited word an the status of the opening of
the HOA. Amongst those that met separately or in a small group with the Premier were the Attorney
General and the Minister of Finance. During the morning, the Premier also had separate meetings with
the Minister of National Security, Minister Fahy and Minister Gibbons. The Parliamentarians maintained
a healthy separation between themselves and technical officers. No technical officers were engaged
in meetings, nor did they provide advice with respect to the handling of the matters of the day.

The former Premier called the Commissioner again at 11:06 a.m. to say that he was in discussions with
the Speaker and that he was hopeful that the HOA would be able to resume in the afternoon. Mr. Dunkley
called the Commissioner again at 11:45 a.m. to advise that he understood that the Speaker was now
planning to open the HOA and resume the session at 1:00 p.m.*?. Mr. Dunkley asked about the police plan
to get Parliamentarians past the crowds and into the HOA. The Commissioner explained that different
tactics were being considered, with an aim of encouraging protestors who were breaking the law to stop,
so that Parliamentarians could walk in uncbstructed.

The former Speaker confirmed that it was after his conversation with the Acting Governor that he decided
to hold the HOA session at 1:00 p.m. Most interestingly, and perhaps most curiously, the former Speaker
candidly admitted in his own words to the Committee that he advised the Acting Governor that he would
not take his seat as Speaker if the House convened at 1:00 p.m.; the Deputy Speaker would have had to
have taken the chair.

The Speaker thereafter telephoned the Premier and the Leader of the Opposition to inform them that the
HOA would meet at 1:00 p.m.

At 12:06 p.m. the Speaker calted the Commissioner to say that it was his intention to resume the session
at 1:00 p.m. He also inquired about the police plan to get Parliamentarians past the crowds. The
Commissioner advised the Speaker that the BPS continued to engage with protestors to encourage them
to stop breaking the faw, but that, if left no other alternatives, arrests would be made. The Speaker stated
that he did not ask the Commissioner what the plans were, nor was he told what they were. In a
subsequent call to the Commissioner at 12:21 p.m., the Speaker confirmed his intention to resume the
session in the HOA.

At 12:38 p.m. the Commissioner spoke by telephone with the Gold Commander who advised that despite
trying all morning long, BPS attempts to encourage the protestors to stop blocking the HOA gates had not
achieved success. As a resuit, the Team now planned to arrest protestors who were committing offences
and, as a safety precaution, the arrest team would be equipped with helmets and other protective gear.
Both the Commissioner and the Gold Commander were cognizant of the limited time in which action could
be taken, as the 1:00 p.m. deadline was fast approaching. Shortly thereafter, at 12:47 p.m., the
Commissioner contacted the Acting Governor to provide her with an update.

37 Mr. M. De Silva Statement 12 June 2018, paragraphs 28 and 29.
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lust prior to 1:00 p.m., the Speaker looked outside the HOA and “noticed that no Parliamentarian

appeared to approach the House”, %

At 1:00 p.m. the BPS read a proclamation to the crowd stating that protestors could not assemble
unlawfully and that they were committing offences.

Key People: 2™ December 2016 Between 10:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m.
*  Former Acting Governor Mrs. G. Ferson
+ Former Speaker Mr. K. H. R. Horton JP MP
s  Former Premier Mr. M. Dunkley IP MP
s Former Attorney General Mr, T. Moniz JP MP
» Former Minister of Finance Mr. E. T. Richards IP MP
s Former Commissioner M. De Silva
s BPS Gold Commander Superintendent 1. Howard
»  HOA staff

FINDING 3.1: Reversal of Cancellation of the HOA

Former Commissioner M. De Silva provided the following account*®:

“I was made to understand the Speaker informed the Gold Commander’s team that he was
cancelling the session. | placed a call to the Speaker at 9:54 a.m. and he confirmed that fact. The
police suspended the planned enforcement tactic while commanders regrouped to assess the new
information,

At 10:11 am | received a telephone call from Acting Governor Ginny Ferson who enquired about
the status of events at the HOA grounds. | explained that we had suspended an enforcement team
to arrest the offenders who were blocking the gate as a result of the decision from the Speaker to
cancel the session. She indicated that she would call the Speaker and she asked me to keep her
updated. | received a few text messages from the Acting Governor throughout the rest of the
morning. | do not hold those records any longer, but I recall that the messages were requests for
periodic updates.

At 10:15 am | received a call from Premier Dunkley, who had a similar enquiry. | gave a similar
reply. Mr. Dunkley indicated he would contact the Speaker to see if he would change the decision.
{ received o calf from Mr. Baron at 10:30 am. We had a similar conversation.

! received a brief call from Mr. Dunkley at 11:06 am. He informed me that he was in discussions
with the Speaker and that he was hopeful that the House would be able to resume in the afternoon.

i received another call from Mr. Dunkley at 11:45 a.m. He informed me that he understood the
Speaker was planning to open the House and resume the session at 1:00 pm. He asked me about
the police plan to get MPs past the crowds and into the HOA. | explained that different tactics were

BMr. K.H.R. Horton Statement 23 April 2018, paragraph 11,
% NMr. P, Wright Statement 7™ November 2018, p. 3.
0 Mr, De Silva Statement 12 June 2018, paragraphs 25-30
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being considered, including driving MPs in a police vehicle. | explained that our desire was to
encourage those protestors who were breaking the faw to stop blocking access, and to allow MPs
to walk in unobstructed. | explained that Mr. Dunkley’s police Special Branch liaison officer would
inform him shortly of the final plans to escort the MPs into the HOA.

{ received a call from Mr. Horton at 12:06 pm. He informed me that it was his intention to resume
the session at 1:00 pm. He asked me about the police plan to get MPs past the crowds. | explained
that we were continuing to engage with protestors and organizers to encourage them to stop
breaking the law by blocking access to the HOA. It was our hope that we would gain compliance
in that regard, but that we would consider making arrests if there were no afternatives. | received
another calf from Mr. Horton at 12:21 pm and he confirmed his intention to resume the session in
the HOA.”

This period of time proves to be pivotal as it represents the period when a tremendous amount of
pressure was placed on Speaker Horton to reverse his decision to cancel the session of Parliament.

That view notwithstanding, Mr. Horton reported to the media that he was under no pressure to change
his decision about the cancellation. #

The testimony of former Minister Baron was also of interest. While he was honoured to deliver the
tribute at the funeral, he was displeased to have been sent on a ceremonial duty away from the
unfolding events which were directly connected with his Ministry of Nationai Security. Further, Mr.
Baron noted that with regard to the strategy and tactics used by the BPS, he could not see the logic of
trying to “gain entry” into the HOA where the occupants were not in harm’s way.

The Speaker received numerous calls from police and politicians but it appeared that it was the call
between the Speaker and the Acting Governor’s which seemed to place heightened emphasis on the
Speaker reversing his decision.

When posed a question by the Committee, Governor John Rankin responded on behalf of former Acting
Governor Ferson;

* Ms. Ferson confirmed that she had no interaction with Gold Command on December 2nd 2016. As
previously noted in my letter to you on Agpril 4, she did speak with the former Speaker around 1030hr to
RELAY to him reassurances she had been given by the Commissioner of Police about the safety of him
and his staff. They also had a discussion about the right of people to protest and the right of
Parliamentarians to access Parliament unhindered...”

The pressure placed on former Speaker Horton was immense and eventually he reversed his earlier
decision to cancel the session and open the House of Assembly at 1:00 p.m.

This was a decision which former Speaker Horton said during his testimony that he “regretted”. He also
revealed,

4 Royal Gazette 1°f April 2017.
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1 shall stress that at this point | informed the Acting Governor that if the sitting indeed did take
place at 1pm | would not take my seat as Speaker for that time. The Deputy Speaker would have
to act as Speaker and assume the chair.”*

FINDING 3:2: Timing

The Speaker guides the sitting of the House of Assembly. According to the statement provided by the
former Commissioner of Palice, at just prior to 10:00 a.m. the Speaker informed the Gold Commander’s
team that the proceedings at the HOA would not be held; as a result, the enforcement plan to arrest
offenders who were blocking the gate was suspended. For all intents and purposes, the HOA sitting was
cancelled.

If that is the case, a question can be raised: why at 11:45 a.m. (per the Commissioner) was the BPS still
actively involved in consideration of how to get Parliamentarians pass the crowd?

The Speaker reportedly did not contact the Commissioner until 12:06 p.m. to indicate the possibility that

proceedings might resume at 1:00- something that he did not confirm until the telephone call at 12:21
p.m.

FINDING 3.3: Communication

Communication is aiways key.

fa) Although the decision to hold the session at 1:00 p.m. had by now been confirmed, the former
Minister of National Security, who had been sent to attend a funeral on behalf of the Premier,
encountered a senior civil servant outside the Cathedral at approximately 12:50 p.m*. The civil
servant, in good faith one presumes, informed the Minister that the session had been cancelled
and that Pariiament would not sit.

If at ten minutes before the proposed sitting, people in general were still unaware that there
would be a sitting, this suggests the lack of a proper communication strategy on the day. ft might
also be a factor in why the crowds were later stunned to see police in helmets advancing towards
them.

{b) Ina letter dated 17" October 2018, the Committee was advised that former Acting Governor Mrs.
Ferson recalled that she had received a telephone call from former Attorney General Mr. Moniz
in the morning in question. The purpose of the call was 1o alert her to the difficulties in accessing
the House of Assembly. "

This is in direct contrast to Mr. Moniz's testimony in response to a specific question he was asked
about contact during his interview.

2 Mr. K. H. R. Horton Statement 23™ April 2018 paragraph 9.
43 Mr, 1. Baron Statement 12%* September 2018, p. 2
4 |etter from Government House 17" Qctober 2018
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FINDING 3.4: HOUSE OF ASSEMBLY (HOA) STAFF

The majority of the House of Assembly staff were not located on the grounds of the HOA on Friday, 2™
December 2016. At that point, in anticipation of renovations at the HOA, the Office of the Legislature had
been moved to a temporary location on Victoria Street in the City of Hamilton.

Following the request from the Committee for an account of their experience on the day, the Clerk to the
Legislature convened a meeting of the staff and their collective testimony, in the form of minutes from
the meeting, are included as Annex 6.

Most noteworthy is that, contrary to all prior accounts from the BPS, it was revealed that the Gold
Commander (Superintendent J. Howard} had been in contact with the HOA on two occasions trying to
persuade them to be escorted and later transported past protestors to gain entry into the HOA.

It must be stated that HOA refused these offers and, as a result, it was not possible to convene Parliament
on that day.
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SECTION 4: 2" DECEMBER 2016 AFTER 1:00 P.M..

SUMMARY:

Earlier on 27 December 2016, a number of BPS Officers were stationed inside the gates and on the
grounds of the HOA.

The small crowd from early in the morning had now grown in numbers. The majority of the crowd
assembled at the Parliament Street entrances to the HOA. A smaller group was standing outside the
southern entrance gate on Reid Street (opposite the Cabinet Office), where Officers were standing behind
the walls observing them. The size of the crowd at Parliament Street notwithstanding, persons (civilians)
who were present from early in the morning commented on the peaceful atmosphere which prevailed.
They commented on the diversity of persons assembled (men, women, young and seniors) and that
persons engaged many of the Officers on the streets in conversation, adding that no animosity between
the protestors and the Officers was apparent.

Armed with the news that the HOA was now to sit, the Gold and Silver Commanders requested tactical
advice and were given three options: (1) do nothing; (2) use a bubble tactic to gain entry; or {3} use the
Police Support Unit (PSU) with full protective equipment and shields®. The Commissioner was aware that
the tactic chosen by the Commanders was the “bubble tactic”, which involved Officers making a tight
circle by standing close together and moving simultaneously.

Just around 1:00 p.m. a critical order was given for the arrest team of BPS Officers to prepare themselves
for the task of moving the crowds of protestors who were blocking access to the House of Assembly and
thus once preventing Parliamentarians from entering the grounds.

Although not outfitted in full riot gear {they carried no shields), the Officers were kitted in protective gear:
with bright green/yellow reflective jackets, batons, face visors and Captor spray. They moved in formation
from the station on Victoria Street to those areas where HOA gates were blocked. The order appeared to
be to arrest those persons who were breaking the law by keeping elected officials from entering the House
of Assembly to do the peoples’ business.

According to the former Commissioner, the protestors became aggressive and actively resisted the
Officers. The Committee viewed body camera video which showed a group of Officers marching in
formation, pushing through persons assembled, to the front of the Parliament Street vehicle entrance. In
doing so, several persons, including seniors, were jostled. It appeared that the Officers “bulldozed” their
way through the crowd. The crowd became agitated- perhaps at the unusual and unexpected sight of
seeing Officers marching in formation towards them, or perhaps because of the way in which they felt the
seniors were being treated- or both. Whatever the cause, the atmosphere immediately changed.
Witnesses confirmed that the mood changed to one of disbelief. Protestors standing in front of the gate
locked arms to prevent the gates from being opened.

It is not really clear what the bubble tactic was intended to achieve. According to the NPoCC Report, the
intent of the bubble is normally to protect the people within it for movement through a crowd, but in this

45 NPoCC Report, paragraph 4.11
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case, there was no-one within the bubble. The Parliamentarians for whom access to the HOA was to being
cleared were not present.

The NPoCC Report also made further points about the use of the bubble tactic:

{a) even if the BPS/PSU had been able to gain ground through the use of the bubble tactic, they did
not have sufficient numbers to maintain that ground, given the large number of protestors®s;

{b} the command team was undoubtedly under pressure to take some form of action- given the
decision for the HOA to sit, coupled with the {ack of experience and training for dealing with this
type of event.

At about 1:15 p.m., the former Speaker looked out of the window at the HOA *and saw Officers with
helmets marching towards the crowd at the HOA main gate. It appeared to him that there was pushing
and shoving going on between the Officers and the crowd. Appalled at what he was witnessing, the
Speaker made the final decision to adjourn the sitting until 9" December 2016. Somewhere around 1:30
p.m., he called the Premier, the Leader of the Opposition and the Commissioner to inform them of his
decision not to hold the session. He later called the Government Department of Communication and
Information so that they could inform the public of the adjournment.

Unable to secure the opening of the Parliament Street gate, after about 10 minutes the Officers regrouped
and marched from Parliament Street to Reid Street. Many of the persons originally at the Reid Street
entrance had heard the commotion on Parliament Street and had moved closer to the corner of Reid and
Parliament Streets. Realizing that the Officers were turning on to Reid Street, those persons rushed back
to the southern gate, joined by others,

The PSU Officers marched to the gate and again found protestors with locked arms. Reports from
members of the crowd characterize the behavior of the Police as very aggressive- pushing and pulling
persons who considered themselves as participating in a peaceful protest.

Video footage showed that although orders were given for the pecple to get out of the way, it was actually
physically impossible for them to do so. The south wall and Officers were at their back; the PSU Officers
in helmets were in front of them. In the ensuing pandemonium, protestors were warned by the BPS that
they would be tasered or sprayed. Finally, an order was given by one Officer for Officers to take out
CAPTOR and spray®®.

More chaos, recorded on police body cameras, ensued. The matter ended when the PSU Officers
retreated towards the corner and then up Court Street to the Police Station on Victeoria Street. The BPS
reported afterwards that fourteen Officers were assaulted during the incident: six suffered serious injury
and eight were commonly assaulted®,

46 NPoCC Report, paragraph 4.14

47 Mr. K. H. R. Horton Statement 23" April 2018, paragraph 12
% BPS body camera video

4 Commissioner Corbishley Letter 15% March 2019
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Although aware of what was happening at the HOA gates, the Commissioner and the Deputy
Commissioner remained in their offices at the time of the incident, believing that their presence at the
incident might cause confusion over who was in charge of the Officers.

The Committee had the opportunity to view videos from the body cameras of seven Officers. One video
demonstrated that the situation was a no-win one from the start.

In the aftermath of the events in Hamilton, the Police returned to the Hamilton Police Station. In reviewing
the video footage from the police body cameras, the Committee heard the following comment from
Officers involved, “That was a waste of time”.

Evidence provided to the Committee confirmed that a meeting, either called by the Acting Governor or
by the Premier, was held at Government House at 3:00 p.m. In attendance were the former Premier, the
former Deputy Premier, the former Attorney General, the former Minister of National Security, the former
Commissioner of Police and the former Deputy Commissioner,

Key People: 2™ December 2016 after 1:00 p.m.
¢ Former Acting Government Mrs. G. Ferson

¢ Former Minister of National Security Mr. J. Baron JP MP
e Former Premier Mr. M. Dunkley JP MP

s Former Speaker Mr. K. H. R. Horton JP MP

¢ Former Attorney General Mr. T. Moniz JP MP

s Former Minister of Finance Mr. E. T. Richards JP MP

+ Former Commissioner M. De Silva

¢ Former Deputy Commissioner Mr, P, Wright

e BPS Gold Commander Superintendent J. Howard

FINDING 4.1; Tactical Advice

The BPS had a particular strategic intent on 2™ December 2016:

The House of Assembly will sit by the Police gaining and maintaining access to one of the
gates, allowing the legisiators to attend the House of Assembly*C.

The NPoCC Report indicates that the BPS tactical commanders sought advice on how they should manage
the situation and were given three options: do nothing, use the bubble tactic or send in an arrest unit. *

The Report mentioned in paragraph 4.11 that advice was sought from a tactical advisor whose identity
still remains unknown to the Committee.

The BPS found itself in the unenviable position of being given a relatively short span of time to figure out
how to navigate through a large crowd in order to provide access to the HOA for Parliamentarians.
However, there is no witness testimony to suggest that the Government Parliamentarians, who were to
lead the debate on the airport redevelopment legislation, were anywhere closer to the HOA grounds than

30 BPS Operational Order 30% November 2016, amended 2™ December 2016, Appendix C
51 NPoCC Report, paragraph 4,11
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the temporary Cabinet Office at Innovation House on Reid Street. Thus, even if the tactic had worked and
the gate had been opened, the Parliamentarians for whom it had been opened were not there to enter.

FINDING 4:2 Body Cameras and Instructions to Use CAPTOR Spray %2

The former Commissioner provided the Committee with much useful information, including video footage
from body cameras worn by Officers directly involved in the 2" December 2016 incident.

Astonishingly, when the Committee reviewed one particular video from a body camera worn by an
Officer, it uncovered that an Order was given to Officers to deploy CAPTOR spray. That revelation ‘flew
in the face’ of what was initially reported by the Bermuda Police Service, and of what previously had
formed a major part of the findings and subsequent decision from the Police Complaints Authority.

The BPS policy on the use of Captor Spray indicates that CAPTOR “is primarily designed for dealing with
vialent subjects who cannot otherwise be resirained.”

Moreover, the policy also states that the use of CAPTOR may be appropriate against:

(i) Those offering a level of violence which cannot be appropriately dealt with by lower

levels of force;

{ii) violent offenders, where failure to induce immediate incapacitation would increase the
risks to alf present.

... The decision to use CAPTOR will be dependent on an officer’s assessment of the situation.
This will include their own ability to deal with the situation and the threat posed by the
subjectfs).

Finally, the policy notes,

The ultimate responsibility for using CAPTOR rests with the individual officer, who is
answerable ultimately to the law in the courts. Individual officers are accountable and
responsible for all their usage of CAPTOR and must be in a position to justify such use in the
light of their legal responsibilities and powers.

According to its progressive list of use of force methods, the BPS ranks the use of CAPTOR as an
acceptable method, but only if other methods have not worked. In the already referenced Operational
Order %3, the BPS notes:

333 Police Officers, in carrying out their duties shall as far as possible apply non-
violent methods before resorting to any use of force.

52 See also Finding 5.6
53 BPS Operational Order 30 November 2016, amended 2™ December 2016.
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334 Palice Officers should use force only when strictly necessary and where other
means remain ineffective to having no realistic chance of achieving the lawful
objective,

in the video referenced above, one can clearly hear an Officer who appears to be in charge at the south
gate give a command for CAPTOR to be brought out and then for the Officers to spray the crowd. This
runs in direct contrast to the BPS Usage policy which indicates that the individual officer assesses the risk
before making a choice to use CAPTOR.

The command is then given by another Officer, “No more CAPTOR spray.”
Any person, knowing that an order to use CAPTOR spray was given on 2" December 2016, and who has

been prepared to sit back and say nothing to the contrary, is a party to absolving the leadership of any
responsibility for the actions taken.

FINDING 4.3: The South Gate

As indicated, the Committee reviewed footage from police body cameras; it also reviewed footage
available from local media outiets such as Bernews and the Royal Gazette. Thus, the Committee was
able to observe what transpired at the north-west gate to the HOA, at the Parllament Street vehicle gate
and at the south gate on Reid Street.

The Committee found particularly interesting one video which clearly shows the situation which arose at
the southern gate to the HOA (Reid Street opposite the Cabinet Office). The Officer who appears to be in
command at the south gate is clearly heard directing the crowd to “Get out of the way or you will be
sprayed” and “Get out of the way of the gate”. The identity of the Officer who might have given the order
to move from Parliament is unknown to the Committee. However, he and other Officers are standing
behind the wall and in the way of the unlocked gate, which prevents the crowd from moving in that
direction. More significantly, Officers in helmets on Reid Street are clearly visible in the video. They appear
to be moving in such a way that the crowd is pressed against the HOA wall, The overall result was that
the crowd, even if trying to comply with the order to move, had nowhere to go.

Having viewed video footage and heard the testimony of withesses, the Committee noted that several of
the persons at the southern gate were women; some were seniors.

Given that the PSU Officers had no success in gaining access to the HOA through the Parliament Street
gate, it is unclear whether it was thought that the smaller gate on Reid Street would be easier to access.

It is clear from witness accounts that it was at the southern gate where most of the CAPTOR was
discharged. However, it remains unclear whether the thought at the south gate was to utilize the bubble
tactic again to gain access to the HOA grounds, or whether it was to arrest protestors who were blocking
access to the HOA,
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FINDING 4.4 Gold Commander Not in Attendance at Meeting at Government House

The Committee fully understands the BPS chain of command as explained during his interview by former
Deputy P. Wright®* (i.e. It is the Commissioner alone in the Bermuda Police Service who answers to the
Governor).

Former Premier Dunkley, in response to a question as to why he thought that the Gold Commander was
not present at Government House, stated that the Commissioner was free to bring along whomever he
wanted to the meeting. However, given the extreme circumstances of 2™ December 2016, it would seem
that the Gold Commander, who was in charge of police operations that day, and perhaps even the Silver
Commander, should have been required to attend the meeting called at Government House to give an
account of what transpired.

FINDING 4.5: Acting Governor Takes a Position Against the Protestors

Section 10 of the Bermuda Constitution guarantees the right of freedom of assembly and association.

In the aftermath of the protests on 2" December 2016, the Centre for Justice provided information via
the media as part of its remit to raise public awareness around civil liberties. The Centre hoted that freedom
of assembly could only be lawful if it was peaceful. Freedom of peaceful assembly means the intentional
and temporary presence of a number of individuals in a public place for a common purpose. An assembly
is deemed peaceful if its organizers have professed peaceful intentions and the conduct of the assembly
is non-violent.

That notwithstanding, the Centre noted that so long as the assembly, march ar protest was lawful and
peaceful, the right to engage in such an assembly, march or protest could not be interfered. However, it
also provided several legal references which identified the offences committed when access to carry out
Government business was prevented. The article noted that anyone seeking to engage in civil
disobedience should be aware of the risks associated with doing so, which might result in criminal
sanction.

According to a Royal Gazette article®*published on 2" December 2016, Acting Governor Mrs. G. Ferson
deplored the “inciteful” protest, urging protestors to act within the law. In her statement, Mrs. Ferson
noted that

“The right to peaceful protest is also o right that we hold dear, but there are people who seek to
go beyond peaceful protest *°and incite criminal activity.”

Although the Committee did not have the benefit of directly interviewing the former Acting Governor, the
Committee was of the view that the Acting Governor's comments reflected the Government House
position. As such, there is a possibility that the comments could have influenced incoming Governor John
Rankin’s decision to call only for a [police] peer review which was limited in scope, rather than a
comprehensive review or a Commission of Inquiry into the events.

54 My, P. Wright Interview 7™ November 2018
% The Royal Gazette 2™ December 2016
56 Bernews 3™ December 2016
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FINDING 4.6: Role of the People’s Campaign and Others in the Protest

The Committee appreciated the voluntary meeting with the People’s Campaign during which the group
provided submissions®” which proved most enlightening.

In anticipation of the 2" December 2016 debate at the HOA, the Peaple’s Campaign engaged in a
concerted effort to encourage members of the public to attend the protest®. They were not in favour of
the Government's plan to move ahead with the airport development under the existing terms and
conditicns, having conducted significant research on the then-proposed airport project and uncovered
significant findings through a PATI request to the Canadian Government. Thus, members of the group
exercised their democratic right to encourage a peaceful protest.

On the evening of 1! December 2016, the People’s Campaign hosted what was reported as a very emotive
public meeting which featured the then Opposition Leader Mr. David Burt and the late Mr. Larry Burchall
as speakers. At the meeting, members of the public were encouraged to attend the HOA the next day
to show their oppaosition to the proposed redevelopment.

During the course of the morning an 2" December 2016, the BPS had been advising protestors to clear
the entrances or risk being arrested.®® As word reached the Officers that the HOA would be re-opening at
1:00 pm, an attempt was made to gain access through the main gate by using a poorly executed 'bubble
tactic' which resulted in physical confrontations between the BPS and protestors. Some members of the
public, in anticipation of a potential arrest for civil disobedience, did block the HOA entrances on the
Parliament and Reid Street sides. As the confusion escalated, protestors could be seen reacting to the
CAPTOR spray.

PLP Parliamentarians are seen in video footage standing at the entrance to the HOA; they are also seen
approaching the BPS officers,

FINDING 4.7 Traurnatic Experience for Frontline Protestors and Officers

The Committee was approached by persons who had been involved in the protest. Subsequently, the
Committee offered those protestors who had filed a complaint with the Police Complaints Authority the
opportunity to offer a testimony, The same opportunity was afforded through the Commissioner to
Officers who might have been involved in the events of the day.

By listening to those who chose to be interviewed, the Committee came to recognize that the experience
on 2" December 2016 was not only traumatic but feft a lasting impression in minds of those involved,
even more than two years on. One person described the interview process as cathartic. Other comments
made by those interviewed are listed in part in Annex 7.

Notwithstanding the fact that some interviews took place, the Committee noted that some protestors

57 The submissions from the People’s Campaign are included as Annex &
5 Bernews 30" November 2016

8 The Royal Gazette 2™ December 2016

5 Mr, M, De Silva Statement 12 June 2018, paragraph 22,
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who had filed complaints with the Police Complaints Authority were reluctant to appear due to a
stipulation contained in a legal settlement, *

®1 The Royal Gazette 12" February 2019
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SECTION 5: FINDINGS FALLING QUTSIDE THE TIMELINE ON 2™ DECEMBER 2016

SUMMARY

During its investigation of decision-making on 2™ December 2016, the Committee encountered a number
of additional findings- many of which do not fit into the neat package of the timeline for the day. These
findings are nonetheless important and underscore discrepancies. The most significant of these
discrepancies are cause for concern; those which are of somewhat lesser significance are, at the very least,
cause for eye-brows to be raised.

The Committee noted that it was faced with a multitude of attempts to thwart its efforts, e.g. the
deliberate ignoring of its requests for information, which appeared as an attempt to prevent it from
obtaining a proper understanding of the decision- making that led to the 2" December 2016 incident.
Given the level of reluctance and resistance encountered by the Committee, one might consider certain
actions as deliberate attempts on the part of some to avoid true accountability.

These concerns were later confirmed following the revelations contained in the witness statements of the

former Deputy Speaker, Mrs. S. Roberts-Holshouser, former Junior Minister Mr. K. Bascome, together
with the submission from the HOA staff.

FINDING 5.1 : Section 3.9 of the NPoCC Report

The NPoCC Report was a peer review of the Bermuda Police Service conducted by Assistant Chief
Constable Chris Shead under direction of His Excellency the Governor. As it relates to this investigation,
Deputy Governor Ms. Ginny Ferson was Acting Governor and Commander-in-Chief on 2™ December
2016.

When interviewed by the Committee about the findings contained in the NPoCC Report, key government
stakeholders seemed unaware of the findings, particularly those findings listed in section 3.9 which called
into question their role.

Significant excerpts from section 3.9 follow:
“The role of Platinum was referenced numerous times during the review.”

“The Platinum role however is not one that is recognised in public order command with the
maost strategic recognized role being that of Geld.”

*... for this event the Gold Commander amended his strategy to just three strategic intentions
from the original seven based on his percepticn and it highlights that amongst the existing

command structure, there was a clear misunderstanding of roles and responsibilities...”

“Care does need to be taken to ensure that the responsibility within the command structure is
not confused. Platinum does not become the de facto Gold Commander. ..."

It was revealed that unknown key stakeholders outside of the BPS were not included in the interviews
conducted by Mr. Shead; however, it is clear from the Report that the involvement of these stakeholders
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was of a significant magnitude, especially considering references outlined in the Report. The failure to
interview these persons left a huge void in accountability.

To Mr. Shead's credit, this deficiency in his remit was not lost on him. However, save and except for the
Committee’s review, this aspect of Mr. Shead’s report would have passed inta history totally unnoticed.
If a Parliamentary Joint Select Committee had been struck to work in tandem with Mr. Shead, those key
persons, some of whom are now known to have been a part of the Legislature, would have been
compelled much earlier (before the two year period during which some of their memories failed them) to
offer testimony so that a more comprehensive picture of events could have been produced earlier.

As it stands, the delay caused by the failure to comprehensively investigate the event at the time, by
fimiting it as a peer review of only the BPS, taken together with the retirement of the former Police
Commissioner and of the former Deputy Commissioner, could have rendered the Committee’s work a
‘cold case’. Certainly, other questions are ralsed.

FINDING 5.2; Heavily Redacted Documents- Preventing The Committee from Acquiring and
Understanding Information

It proved extremely frustrating for the Commitiee to consider evidence from the BPS when key elements
were redacted. For example, two key pages of the Tactical Options given to Silver Command follow:
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it was difficult for the Commiittee to try to piece together a coherent picture of how decisions were
made and of who made them- when faced with such heavily redacted documents.

As an arm of the Legislature charged with conducting business on behalf of the people of Bermuda, the
Committee would have expected to be entrusted with the clear information necessary to assist with
fulfilling its mandate.

FINDING 5.3: Non-response of Key Stakeholders

As the Committee sat about its work, it noted those persons identified in various reports, statements and
other documents. Once it had settled not only on the list of names, but also on the questions which might
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be posed to these persons, the Committee sent letters which explained the authority under which it
operated, and invited those persons to provide a statement of account by a particular deadline.

These letters appeared in the first instance to have been ignored by the recipients, save for letters sent
to the former Premier and the former Commissioner of Police. In those instances, the Committee received
communication from lawyer A. Dunch. The lawyer laid out his clients’ concerns about the composition of
the Committee and stated that there would be no co-operation until the matters were addressed. At the
same time, the former Premier, a seasoned politician, took the step of going to the print®* and television
media to voice his concerns about Committee membership. it is generally the narm for a sitting member
of the Parliament to address any concerns which he or she might have in such instances with the
Honourable Speaker and then to wait for a response.

informed by the lawyer that there would be no response at that time from the former Commissioner, the
Committee wrote to His Exceflency the Governor who has control over the operations of the Bermuda
Police Service. Thereafter, the Committee was pleased to receive a comprehensive hinder of
documentation from former Cammissioner De Silva. it was through this documentation (some of which,
nonetheless, was heavily redacted) that the identity of several key players, including the Gold
Commander, was verified.

FINDING 5.4; Police Willfully Disobey Summaons

Part IV of the Parliament Act 1957 outlines the authority of Jeint Select Committees, including the power
to issue summonses. To ignore @ summons is an offence.

By way of information, the Committee issued summonses to specific Officers who played key roles on 2"
December 2016. The purpose of each summons was to allow the Committee to interview the Officer in
question. Unfortunately, the Gold Commander who provided the strategic leadership on 2™ December
2016, did not appear before the Committee, even though he was issued two summonses.

By letter dated 14" December 2018, current Commissioner Corbishley indicated that he alone spoke for
the Bermuda Police Service (unless he duly authorized someone else to do so), and as such, he would
accompany the Gold Commander into the Committee interview room on 19" December 2018 so that he
{the Commissioner) could respond to Committee’s queries. The Committee was not prepared to accept
the Commissioner’s position and so advised him. Nonetheless, the Commissioner accompanied the
summonsed Officer to the interview and was once again presented with the Committee’s position.

The Chairman again informed the Commissioner that the summons was for the Gold Commander alone
and that, in such circumstances, the Committee would refuse to set a precedent for future Committees
by allowing the Commissioner to sit in the interview. The Commissioner did not accept the Committee’s
position and as a result, both Officers left. Thus, the scheduled interview with the Gold Commander did
not take place.

The Committee expressed concern that the Commissioner showed a lack of respect for the procedures it
had established and was encouraging Officer(s) to do the same.

82 The Royal Gazette 7™ February 2018; Bernews 10" February 2018
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From the standpoint of the Committee, the Gold Commander remains in breach of the summons
{invoking immunity), and still has a case to answer with regards to this breach.

FINDING 5.5; Collective Legal Representation

By way of reminder, the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee is composed of persons elected and
appointed to serve the people of Bermuda. As such, the Committee does not take direction from a private

person.

After it had been reconstituted, the Committee discovered from letters (dated 26" March 2018 and 28%
March 2018) that lawyer Alan Dunch of MM Barristers and Attorneys was the instructed attorney for
former Premier Mr. M. Dunkley and former Commissioner De Silva and “others for whom we act”. Mr.
Dunch indicated that any communication from the Committee to those he represented should be directed
through him.

On behalf of his clients, Mr. Dunch raised with the Speaker and with the Chairman the propriety of having
2 particular members (Messrs. Swan and Scott) sit as part of the Committee. The Speaker removed Mr.
Scott from the Committee; Mr. Swan continued as the Chairman, duly elected by the other members of
the Committee. Mr. Dunch considered that the Speaker had only addressed the membership issue in part
and thus appeared to call into question the constitution of the Committee.

In a letter dated 26" September 2018 Mr. Dunch revealed that, in addition to those already named, “ ...as
you already well know”, he was the instructed attorney of the entire Bermuda Police Service. The
Committee had been aware that Mr. Dunch represented the former Commissioner, but up to the
September letter, the Committee was not aware that he purported to represent the entire Bermuda Police
Service. The Committee did query whether the BPS had received the necessary approvals to hire a private-
firm lawyer as its representative, but to date has not received a response.

Given the clear delineation of powers as outlined in the Constitution, the Committee was hard-pressed to
understand how a single lawyer could at the same time represent a member of the Legislature (Mr.
Dunkley) as well as the entire BSP, which falls under the Executive - under the control of His Excellency
the Governor.

It is the Committee’s view that having Mr. Dunch represent both parties created an extreme conflict of
interest.

FINDING 5.6: Police Complaints Authority Decision Must be Called into Question

During its review, the Committee discovered that evidence it received was at variance with the Decision
issued in August 2017 by the Police Complaints Authority (PCA). There were several reasons for the
position taken by the Committee:

{a) The PCA did not interview those with complaints

Twenty-six persons filed complaints with the PCA. However, based on testimony from persons
involved, it does not appear that the PCA held individual or even group interviews with those persons.
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(b)Police Camera Footage

The Committee collectively reviewed the body camera video provided by former Commissioner De
Silva. The review revealed unequivocally that a command was given by an Officer at the southern

access gate to the HOA to use CAPTOR spray on the crowds gathered.

This discovery refutes the key finding of the Police Complaints Authority (PCA) and underscores that
what the PCA lists as a fact is actually erroneocus.

The PCA asserts as fact that,

“there was no order given by any person in command [emphasis added] that Captor should be
used. In every instance on the 2™ December when Captor was used, it was a decision made by
the individual officer. This is in accordance with the Use of Force Policy.”

Finding — The PCA heard from Officers during the course of sworn examination and we also
reviewed media and police footage. Officers reported fearing for their own safety as well as for
that of fellow Officers. The appearance of the Officers coming to execute the “Bubble” from
Church Street on to Parliament Street galvanized those who were protesting and a dangerous
and chaotic period followed. The PCA is satisfied that there was no general command to use
Captor. Officers who used it did so in the belief that they were protecting themselves or a
colleague and, to use the words of the Policy governing the use of Captor at paragraph 6.5:-
“The use of CAPTOR may be appropriate against:

in fact, this finding proved to be untrue. In Police video axon body 2 X81005093 {at 12:08 minutes into
taping) an Officer orders,

“Get out of the way or you will be sprayed, move/go forward”
In these instances, persons could not move as they were blocked in tightly.
The Officer gave command to other Officers,
"CAPTOR now, all of them, all of them" and the command is followed.
Prior to this, he could be heard telling Officers, “ If you're going to use CAPTOR, CAPTOR one at a time.”
Later, a different Officer gave the order, " No more CAPTOR spray".

This Finding of the Police Complaints Authority must be nullified as it is based on a totally erroneous
premise. The Committee’s discovery is conclusive that the use of CAPTOR was the result of a clear
directive to Officers at the southern gate to the House of Assembly.

(¢} Timing of the PCA Decision

According to the PCA Overview: We have determined the background as set out above from the review
of the media and interviews and also from our reading of the NPoCC Report of ACC Shead .
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It is noteworthy that the PCA delivered its position after both the presentation of NPoCC Report and the
conclusion of the court case against the complainants that they were reviewing; reference to both were
included in their deliberations.

Considering that it has been established that one of their key finding is based on a false premise, the
Committee must call the PCA Decision into question.

FINDING 5.7: The Commissioner of Police Alone Speaks for the Bermuda Police Service

Mr. Stephen Corbishley tock up his role as Commissioner of Police in August 2018, succeeding former
Commissioner Michael De Silva some 20 months after the incident on 2™ December 2016 Mr. Corbishley
was not Commissioner at the time of the incident.

In a letter to the Chairman dated 21% September 2018, Commissioner Corbishley indicated that he fully
understood the issues the Chairman raised [in a letter to the Governor who has control of the BPS}, and
that he was fully supportive to assist with the remit of the Joint Select Parliamentary Committee (JSPC) in
examining the matters of 2™ December 2016. He sympathized “ with the JSPC’s role to make thorough
enquiries into this event through access to all information.”

On 26™ September 2018, the Committee received a letter from lawyer A. Dunch indicating that he
represented the entire Bermuda Police Service. He further wrote that the Commissioner alone, or through
the lawyer, would speak on behalf of the Bermuda Police Service in relation to such issues as were raised
by a properly constituted Parliamentary Joint Select Committee.

Thereafter, and certainly contrary to the tone of his first letter to the Committee, the Commissioner
asserted verbally as well as in writing to the Chairman, that he alone speaks for the Bermuda Police
Service, unless he duly authorizes someone else to do so. Thus, Committee questions for Officers who
were directly involved in the incident on 2" December 2016 must be channeled through him.

The Committee has a full understanding of lines of command but questions the accuracy of information
which is now filtered from a direct source through the Commissioner. By way of example, the Committee
was informed by one Parliamentarian that arrangements were made through a member of the Police
Special Branch for him to be escorted to the House of Assembly. The same Officer was identified by
another Parliamentarian as being present in the former Premier’s office on the morning of 2™ December
2016. However, a query made through the Commissioner about any involvement of the particular Officer
in events related to the day yielded a response that he was not involved.

FINDING 5.8: Possible Willful Misleading

The submission by the HOA staff and the witness statements from former Deputy Speaker Mrs. S. Roberts-
Holshouser and former Junior Minister Mr. K. Bascome (the latter two obtained from the People’s
Campaign} not only raise serious questions about the BPS Command but also call into question the
involvement of members of the then-Executive, as outlined in Section 3.9 of the NPoCC Report by Mr. C.
Shead.
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D. COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee has identified a number of recommendations which it lists below in Part 1.

The Committee noted additional recommendations made by Assistant Chief Constable C. Shead regarding
the BPS and its actions on 2™ December 2016. Former Commissioner De Silva supported the
recommendations. The Committee also considers them to be relevant still and thus has included them in
Part 2.

PART 1
1.0 FURTHERANCE OF EXAMINATION

Recommendation 1.1:

In order for these findings to be taken to the proper conclusion, a forensic audit by persons trained in
reviewing and analyzing information must be carried out by an entity such as the Ombudsman or another
relevant agency. This recommendation is not centred solely on the events of 2™ December 2016. It is
abundantly clear to the Committee that a suitably trained and equipped professional body should
examine the information gathered about any tumultuous event. Further, it should be mandated that such
an entity be reinforced with strong law enforcement backing and the legal authority to have access to all
relevant source documents.

Recommendation 1.2

Further to Recommendation 1.1, the Committee recommends that all persons or entities required to
provide information to a Parliamentary Joint Select Committee provide the information in its entirety at
the time of asking. Very late in its investigation, the Committee was provided with information which,
had it been provided at the initial time of asking, would have certainly changed the line of questioning
taken with certain witnesses.

Recommendation 1.3

The absence of a specific budget dedicated for the purpose of the Committee’s mandate is noteworthy
and should be a consideration in the future for any Committee with a similar mandate. This would be a
matter to be addressed to the Speaker.

Every assignment given to such a Committee should be budgeted according to its unique merit. Making
allowance for the acquisition of professional expertise, administrative and legal costs and the like must
be considered an integral part so that the work is completed at a high and competent level.
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2.0 BERMUDA POLICE SERVICE

Recommendation 2.1

The legislation under which the Police Complaints Authority operates should be updated to allow for an
appeal process. The jurisprudence in the western world demands that this higher level of justice be
afforded the complainant. The Committee recommends additicnally that the membership of the PCA be
reconsidered/restructured so that technical information on police operations be provided by an officer
who will serve as an ex officio member of the PCA.

Recommendation 2.2

Similar to an Emergency Measures Organization Meeting, a meeting of ALL key stakeholders {e.g. BPS,
members of the Legislature, HOA staff and others) should be held prior to events where it is known that
a contentious Bill or other highly emotive matter is to be debated in the HOA.

Recommendation 2.3

In any circumstances, but particularly those similar to the events encountered on 2° December 2016,
the Bermuda Police Service must ensure that threat/risk levels are properly assessed, and
communicated to the relevant persons, before taking action. Such assessment would avoid reactionary

actions.

3.0 THE PUBLIC

Recommendation 3.1

The BPS and security firms should be trained in de-escalation versus escalation technigques and strategies
for working with large crowds to maintain order.

Although this recommendation is highlighted in the NPOCC report, an added feature to this suggestion is
the need for enhanced public awareness of rights. just as the rules of engagement are a critical part of
each law enforcement officer’s repetoire, equally as important is the expected behavior when the public
participates in a peaceful protest. As much as the right for peaceful protest is cne of many freedoms
available to a democratic society, equally as important is the right for its citizenry to enjoy safety. Although
freedom of movement by protestors is a democratic right and must be allowed, the boundaries of that
freedom need to be clearly defined and communicated in the interest of public safety.

Public announcements through the media, communicating street closures, restricted areas and
entrances, etc. should be the norm leading up to the day of pre-planned protest events.
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Recommendation 3.2

The Committee interviewed several members of the public who were involved in the events on 2™
December 2016. Even two years after the event, most of these persons expressed relief at finally “being
able to tell their story”. Several described the feeling associated with the re-telling as cathartic.

This underscores the fact that persons filing complaints with the Police Complaints Authority were not
interviewed after the filing. When asked specifically whether they had been interviewed individually of
collectively, the response was no.

The Committee also understood from correspondence from the current Commissioner of Police that
beyond the physical assaults suffered by Officers, all were greatly affected emotionally by the events of
2™ December 2016, with some referring to the period as their most fearful period in policing.

The recommendation which follows is born out of the 2™ December 2016 events but is meant to apply to
other events which might have a broad impact on a relatively small community such as Bermuda. In those
circumstances where persons (whether civilians, Police Officers or others) suffer extreme trauma, for
example through a hurricane, a horrific accident or events such as those under investigation, counselling
services should be made available as a matter of course to those involved and to those impacted. While
it is beyond the remit of this Committee to say whether or not such counselling should be with or without
cost, the Committee recognizes that there is a need for persons to be able to unburden themselves in an
organized, healthy and judgement-free manner so that they can move forward with their lives for the
benefit of the community as a whole.

4.0 HOUSE OF ASSEMBLY

Recommendation 4.1

In addition to the Ministerial Code of Conduct, a code of conduct should be developed for all
Parliamentarians {i.e. ALL members of the Legislature) which includes how they are expected to conduct
themselves during protests.

The Committee noted shortcomings on the part of both the Goverament and the Opposition parties
during the events of 2" December 2016. The proper response of Parliamentarians during protests is
important. There is an expectation that as legislators, they are obligated to uphold the law both in
application and in appearance. Since their conduct can be open to subjective interpretation, a
comprehensive code of conduct needs to be established removing all doubt in the minds and perception
of the public.

Recommendation 4.2

The following recommendations from the July 2016 HOA security review which was conducted by the
BPS should be undertaken if they have not already been started:

s permanent relocation of the Supreme Court off of the premises of the HOA,;

» installation of alarm systems;

+ installation of panic buttons;
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s installation of plexiglass separating the public gallery from the Sessions Chamber;
s installation of CCTV for 360 degree exterior property coverage, including all gates and
entrances, together with parking areas.

5.0 LEGAL AND POLICY

Recommendation 5.1

Consider the inclusion and interpretation of national interest and public interest in Bermuda's
Constitution.

The laws of other western jurisdictions should be examined for precedents that can be amalgamated to
the Bermuda Constitution in order to promote clarity of understanding regarding the two constructs.

Recommendation 5.2

After consultation with the BPS and others, consider having the Human Rights Commission develop a
document entitled The Right to Protest Guidelines.

Recommendation 5.3

Update and amend the Public Order Act 1963 to include protests, marches and demonstrations, counter
- demonstrations, press conferences, public and private meetings.

Recommendation 5.4

Develop and utilize when needed protocols related to a comprehensive communication strategy and
policy for public order demonstrations.

Recommendation 5.5

Develop and implement a formal chain of command and organization chart for Ministers and the BPS to
utilize during public demonstrations.

Recommendation 5.6

Committees such as Parliamentary Joint Select Committees should have full access to non-redacted
materials. During the course of the Committee’s attempt to gather information that would enhance the
accuracy of the report, full access to source documents such as law enforcement cogent notes and
Government briefing notes were not readily available. These documents, which are considered official
government property, need to be released without a Committee having to resort to summonses,
subpoenas or any other law enforcement mechanisms. Any amendments to existing legislation to enforce
this or risk ‘obstruction of justice’ charges must be one of the tools in a Parliamentary Joint Select
Committee’s toolbox.
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Recommendation 5.7

Section 40 of the Parliament Act 1957 provides for offences against the Act. The Gold Commander at the
time of the 2™ December 2016 incident still remains in breach of the summons issued by the Committee;
thus, the Committee recommends that the appropriate course of action be pursued against him in this

matter.
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PART 2

(1)NPOCC Report: THE BERMUDA POLICE SERVICE

Assistant Chief Inspector Chris Shead of the National Police Coordination Centre published the
recommendations, which the Committee endorses for their validity, in his report on police operations
on 2" December 2016. The information in parentheses refers to particular sections of the NPoCC
Report.

1. It is recommended that an appropriate planning process is established for all public order events well
in advance of the event commencement date. The process should incorperate the establishment of a
strategy, an appropriate and effective command structure and the development of suitable
contingency plans. {2.1, 2.5, 3.4 & 3.5)

2. It Is recommended that an overarching strategy be established and appropriately briefed to
commanders for alt long running disputes. (2.2)

3. It is recommended that clear guidance regarding record keeping and what policy logs should be
maintained throughout the planning and implementation of public order events and introduce an
audit process to ensure the direction is adhered to. {2.13)

4. Tofacilitate an effective response to future events, public order command training should be delivered
to those who are likely to be placed in command positions. it is also recommended that the Force
establishes the required numbers of trained commanders and the succession arrangements going
forward, to help maintain resilience. (3.6)

5. Itis recommended that consideration be given to reviewing how the BPS allocates command roles for
public order events to ensure the most appropriate and experienced commanders are utilised in the
most demanding roles (3.7).

6. Itis recommended that consideration be given to the lobbying for additional appropriate legislation
to assist in the management of protest and fill existing legislative gaps (4.5).

7. 1t is recommended that BPS review its approach to the use of threat and risk assessments to ensure
greater specificity and enable them to inform the planning for public order and public safety events
{4.8).

8. It is recommended that the BPS invest in protest liaison training and ensure a ‘no surprises’
communication strategy is adopted for future public order events (4.9).

9. It is recommended that consideration be given to the delivery of appropriate tactical training to the
PSU and other appropriate personnel (4.15).

10. Itis recommended that the application of public order tactics by the PSUs is reviewed and any lessons
tearnt incorporated into future training {4.15).
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Former Commissioner De Silva supported these recommendations and categorized them as follows:

a) Planning: barriers around HOA environs, establish the number of commanders needed and
provide training; invest in Police Liaison Teams; review length and breadth of tactical training

b) Training: for Officers; develop strategies, command structures and contingency plans; establish
corporate record-keeping standards for public order incidents; develop threat and risk
assessments for public order incidents; develop protocols for politicians for incidents at HOA;

¢) Communication: improvements within BPS; what structure exists between BPS and politicians
during crisis:

d) Legislation: to assist with management during a crisis; Parliament Act and Employment Act re:
members/serving community

Recommendation

This Committee recommends that the Minister of National Security report to the HOA with an update
on the status of action taken on these recommendations.
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Mr. Ben Smith JP MP

Mr. Neville Tyrrell JP MP A/{ - i;;
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ANNEX 1

PART IV
EVIDENCE BEFORE LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEES

Resolution required to apply Part IV

29, (1) This Part shall apply in refation to the proceedings of a legislative committee in any case where a
resolution that this Part shall apply in relation to that legislative committee—

{a) has, as respects a committee of the whole House, been passed by the House of the Legislature
which is resolved into a committee of the whole House; or

{b) has, as respects a sefect committee, been passed by the House of the Legislature from which
the select committee has been appointed; or

{c) has, as respects a joint sefect committee, been passed by each House of the Legislature,

but unless a resolution has been passed as aforesaid such provisions shall not apply in relation to the proceedings
of a legislative committee.

{2) Any such resolution as aforesaid which relates to the proceedings of a joint select committee shali, when
passed by one House of the Legislature, be duly communicated to the other House of the Legislature.

{3) Where either House of the Legistature (or, as respect a joint select committee, then each House of the
Legislature) has passed a resolution as aforesaid in respect of the proceedings of a legislative committee, a certificate
to that effect signed by the President or, as the case may be, the Speaker {or, as respects a joint select committee,
then both by the President and the Speaker), shall be delivered to the chairman of the legislative committee; and
any such certificate shall, until the contrary is shown, be accepted in any proceedings of the legislative committee,
and in all courts in Bermuda, and for all purposes whatsoever, as proof that the resolution was duly passed by the
appropriate House or Houses of the Legislature.

Summoning of witnesses

30. {1) The chairman of a legislative committee may issue a summons under his hand to any person requiring
that person to attend as a witness before the legislative committee at a time and place specified in the summons;
and hereinafter in this Part “summons” is used to denote a summons duly issued under the authority of this section,
and cognate expressions shall be construed accordingly.

{2) Without prejudice to anything in sections 32, 33 or 34, a summons to attend before a legislative
committee may require the person summoned to produce to the legislative committee on so attending any
document, specified or referred to in the summons, which is in his possession or under his control or is otherwise
avallable to him.

{3) A summons to attend before a legislative committee shall be deemed to include requirements—

(a) that the person summoned shall remain in attendance as a witness before the legislative
committee until his further attendance is excused by or on behalf of the chairman of the legislative
committee; and
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{b) that if while the person summoned is in attendance the legislative committee adjourns, then he shall,
if so directed by the chairman of, or the secretary to, the legislative committee, attend again as a withess
before the committee at a time and place specified by the chairman or secretary, and shall then remain
in attendance until his further attendance is excused by or on behalf of the chairman of the legislative
committee:

Provided that nothing in this subsection precludes the issue of a fresh summons to a person who has already
been summoned, whether his attendance under the previous summons has been excused or not, or whether or not
he has been directed {on an adjournment} again to attend before the legislative committee as aforesaid.

{4) A summons may be served on a person by delivery of the summons to him personally or by sending it
by post under registered prepaid cover addressed to him at his last known place of residence; and if a summons is
sent by post the person to whom it is addressed shall be deemed, until the contrary is shown, to have received it in
the ordinary course of transmission by post.

(5) A summons may be in the form set out in the First Schedule.

Evidence on cath

31 {1} A person who, having been duly summoned, is in attendance before a legisiative committee may,
without prejudice to anything in sections 32, 33 or 34 be required by the chairman of the committee to give evidence
on oath or, in circumstances where an affirmation is permitted under the Evidence Act 1905 [title 8 item 10], then
on affirmation, as to the subject matter of the terms of reference of the committee.

{2} An oath or affirmation made by a person in attendance as a witness hefore a legislative committee
shall, with necessary modifications, be In the form ordinarily used in proceedings before a court.

{3) The chairman of, or secretary to, a legisfative committee may administer an oath or affirmation to any
person in pursuance of the foregoing provisions of this section,

Privilege of withess

32. No person who, having been duly summoned, is in attendance before a legislative committee shall be
required to answer any question, or to produce any document, which he would not be required, respectively, to
answer or produce in proceedings before a court; and any such person shall, in respect of any evidence, or the
disclosure of any communication, or the production of any document, be entitled to the same right and privilege as
before a court.

Restriction on disclosure of official matters

33, No public officer, being duly appointed to be the holder of any office or post connected with the discharge
of the functions of any Government Department or Government Board shall, except with the consent of the
Governor—

{a) produce to any legislative committee any document which relates to the correspondence of any
Government Department or Government Board or to any other matter affecting the public service; or

(b} give before any legislative committee evidence regarding any such matter;
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nor shall secandary evidence be received by or produced to any legislative committee of the contents of any such
document as aforesald.

Refusal to answer where reply or document of an irrelevant private nature

34, Where any person who, having been duly summoned and being in attendance before a legislative
committee, refuses—

{a) to answer any guestion that may be put to him; or
{b} to produce any document referred to in his summons,

on the ground that the reply to the question or, as the case may be, the contents of the document, are of a private
nature and do not affect the subject of enquiry under the terms of reference of the committee, it shall be the duty
of the chairman of the committee to determine whether such refusal should be upheld on those grounds; and if he
determines that such refusal should be upheld he shall excuse such person, or if he determines that it should not be
upheld he may, subject as hereinafter provided, require him to answer or to produce the document accordingly:

Provided that—

(iYwhere the chairman of the committee determines that such refusal should not be upheld he shall, if so
required by the person in attendance as aforesaid, report the matter to the appropriate parllamentary
authority; and the appropriate parliamentary authority may make such order as appears to him to be just
and equitable; and the chairman and the person in attendance as aforesaid shall govern themselves
accordingly; and

(ii} in any such case as aforesaid the chairman of the committee shall inform the person in attendance of his
right to require that the matter be reported to the appropriate parifamentary authority.

Evidence excluded from other proceedings

35, Except in connection with a charge of an offence of perjury, or an offence under section 40(b}, arising
therefrom—

{a) no evidence shall be received in any other proceedings whatsoever that any particular facts were given
in evidence by any person before a legislative committee; and

{b) no secondary evidence of the contents of any document produced by any person before a legislative
committee shall, except as mentioned in the foregoing provisions of this section, be received in any such other
proceedings,

unless the consent of the person who gave such evidence, or produced the document in question, before the
legistative committee has been first obtained.

Leave to disclose evidence

36, Without prejudice to anything in sections 26, 27, and 35, no member or officer of either House of the
Legislature, and no shorthand writer or parliamentary printer, shall give evidence in any other proceedings in respect
of any minutes of evidence taken before a legislative committee or of the contents of any document laid before the
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committee, or in respect of any proceedings of the committee, unless the leave of the appropriate parliamentary
authority has been first obtained.

Payment of witnesses

37. {1} Any person who, having been summoned, attends before a legistative committee and, if s0 required,
duly gives evidence or duly produces any document before the committee shall be entitled to be paid at the rate
specified in section 9 of the Evidence Act 1905 [title 8 item 10], as respects a witness in a criminal cause.

(2) Where professional evidence Is given by any other spedially qualified person summoned and in
attendance hefore a legislative committee, or any examination or analysis in respect of any person or thing is carried
out in connection with any such evidence or is made in compliance with any order or request of the commiittee, then
the specially qualified person shall be entitled to receive fees at the rates specified in the First Schedule to the
Evidence Act 1905 [title 8 item 10]; and the chairman of the committee shaii have the like powers as a judge in
determining the amount of such fees,

{3) Any payment to witnesses made under this section shall be made out of the Consolidated Fund from
monies provided by the Legislature for that purpose.

Interpreters

38. {1) The chairman of the legislative committee shall have the like powers as a court with respect to
obtaining the services of an interpreter.

(2) Aninterpreter whose services are obtained as aforesaid shall be entitled to be paid at the rate
specified as respects an interpreter appearing before a court,

{3) Sections 12 and 13 of the Evidence Act 1905 [title 8 item 10] (interpreters) shall apply and have effect,
with necessary modifications, in relation to a legislative committee as they have effect in relation to a court.

(4} Any payments to interpreters made under this section shall be made out of the Consolidated Fund out
of monies provided by the Legislature for that purpose.

Retention of documents

39. Where in accordance with any of the foregoing provisions of this Part any document has been produced to
a legislative committee, the committee may retain the document for so long as is reasonably necessary to make a
copy thereof or to take extracts therefrom, as may be required for the proper and convenient discharge of their
functions.

Offences under Part IV
40. Without prejudice to anything in the foregoing provisions of this Act, any person—

(a} who, on being duly summoned to attend as a witness before a legislative committee, fails
without reasonable excuse~

(i) to attend in accordance with the terms of the summons; or

58



(il) to remain in attendance until he is excused from further attendance; or

(iii) to attend again In accordance with any direction duly given to him, as mentioned in
section 30(3); or

{b} who, while in attendance as a witness before a legislative committee, after having been duly
summoned—
() refuses to make an oath or (as the case may be} an affirmation when required to do
s0 hy the chairman of the committee; or

{ii} refuses properly and fully to answer any question put to him by a member of the
committee, being a question which, having regard to the foregoing provisions of this
Part, he is bound fully to answer; or

{iii) refuses to produce to the committee any document in his possession or under his
control or otherwise available to him which he is required under the terms of the
summons to produce, and which having regard to the foregoing provisions of this
Part, he is bound to produce; or

{iv) uses any insulting or threatening language towards or in the hearing of the
committee or any member thereof, or causes any disturbance or interruption in the
proceedings of the committee,

commits an offence agalnst this Act:

Punishment on summary conviction: a fine of $840.
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36.

37.

38.

ANNEX 2

BERMUDA HOUSE OF ASSEMIBLY
Official Standing Orders

Revised: July 12, 2013

36. OTHER SELECT COMMITTEES

{1} A Select Committee, other than a Standing Select Committee, shall be appointed by order of the
House, which shall specify the terms of reference of the Committee.

{2) Yt shall consist of as many Members as the House may nominate.
(3) The quorum of a Select Committee shall be such as specified in the order of the House.

(4) Every Select Committee shall be so constituted as to ensure, as far as Is possible, that the balance
of parties in the House is reflected in the Committee.

(5} Where a Member of a Select Committee dies, or for any other reason his or her seat becomes
vacant, then subject to the preceding subparagraph, the House shall nominate another Member
in replacement. Subject to the wishes of the House, the proceedings of a Committee shall not be
invalidated on the ground of a vacancy in the membership of the Committee so occurring.

{6) Except as otherwise provided in these Orders, or by special direction of the House, a Select
Committee may elect a Chair from among its Members.

37. JOINT SELECT COMMMITTEES

{1) The Speaker may for the purposes of any Joint Select Committee {other than the Public Accounts
Committee) appoint not more than seven Members to sit with Members of the Senate as a Joint
Select Committee.

(2) The quorum of a Joint Select Committee shall be such as the Committee may decide.
(3) A Joint Select Committee shall elect its own Chair.

(4) A Joint Select Committee may be appointed at the request of either House with the approval of
the other House.

38. PROCEDURE OF COMMITTEES
{1) Except as otherwise provided in these Orders, this order shall apply to all Select Committees.

{2) If the Chair of any Select Committee shall be absent from any meeting, the Committee shall elect
another member to serve as Chalr for that meeting only.
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(3} Unless the House otherwise directs, except for the Standing Orders Committee and the House and
Grounds Committee, all other Select Committees shalt have the power to send for persons, papers
and records.

{(4) Unless the House otherwise orders, a simple majority of the Members of the Committee shall be a
quorum,

{5) The first meeting of a Select Committee shall be held at such time and place as the Chair [in the
case of a Standing Select Commlttee], or the Speaker [in the case of a Special Select Committee],
shall appoint. Subsequent meetings shall he held at such time and place as the Committee may
determine: provided that if the Committee fails to do so, the Chair shall, in consultation with the
Clerk of the Committee, appoint such time and place.

{6) The deliberations of a Select Committee shall be confined to the matter referred to it by the
House and any extension or limitation thereof made by the House.

{7) A Select Committee shall not have the power to delegate any of its functions to the Chair.

(8} Subject to any order of the House or resolution of the Comimittee, the sittings of a Select
Committee shall be private,

{9} A Select Committee may:-
{a) sit at any time when the House is adjourned;
(b} except by leave of the Speaker not sit while the House is sitting.

{10) Every Select Committee shall, before the end of a Session, make a report to the House upon
matters referred to it; but where a Committee finds itself unable to conclude its investigations
hefore the end of the Session it may so report to the House,

(11) A Report of a Select Committee may contain the opinions and the observations of the Committee
and may be accompanied by any Minutes of evidence taken before the Committee.

{12} A Select Committee may make a special report relating to its powers, functions and proceedings
on any matters that it thinks fit to bring to the notice of the House.

(13} (a) The Chair of a Select Committee shall prepare a draft report and submit it for the consideration
of the Committee; but alternative drafts may be submitted for consideration by any other
Member of the Committee;

(b} The report finally to be adopted shall be such as is agreed to with amendments, if any, by all
the Members of the Committee or, falling unanimous agreement by a majority of the
Members;

{c) Any Member dissenting from the report of a majority of the Committee may by leave of the
Committee put in a concise written statement of his reasons for such dissent, and such
statement shall be appended to the report.

{(14) The proceedings of and the evidence taken before any Select Committee and any documents
presented to and decisions of such a Committee shall not he published by any Member thereof, or
by any other person, before the Committee has presented its Report to the House.

(15) A report or special report together with a copy of the Minutes of proceedings of a Select
Committee and a copy of the Minutes of any evidence given hefore that Committee shall:
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{a) be presented to the House by the Chair or other Member deputised by the Committee; and

{b) shall without question put be ordered to lie upon the table and the report shall be ordered to
be printed.

{16) The minutes of proceedings of a Committee shall record:
{a) the names of the Members present each day of the sitting of the Committee;
{b) the names of the witnesses examined;

{c} in the event of a division taking piace, the question proposed, the name of the proposer and
the respective votes thereon of the members present;

{d) a copy of the draft report and any alternative draft, and any amendments thereto,

{17) The report of a Select Committee may be taken into consideration by the House on a mation “That
the Report of the Select Committee on be adopted” and such a motion may be moved by
any Member.

{18) in any Select Committee, the Standing Orders of the House shall be observed so far as may be
applicabie, except the Order limiting the number of times of speaking. Unless provided by unanimous
consent, no Member shall speak for more than 20 minutes at any one time,
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ANNEX 3

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Terms of Reference require the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee to look into the events of 2nd
December 2016 generally, including the decision -making and any directives of the Executive and then
Speaker of the House of Assembly given to the Bermuda Police Service that led up to and precipitated the
events on that day. These events include the deployment of Police in riot gear and the use by some Police
of incapacitant pepper spray on the crowd of citizens assembled in protest.

AUTHORITY
The Parliamentary Joint Select Committee was established by the House of Assembly at its Session on 1%
December 2017 under the Parflament Act 1957 {"The Act”) and the Standing Orders of the House of

Assembly (S0 38: 1-3).
Pursuant to Part IV of the Parliament Act 1957, the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee was appointed
to:

{1) inquire into the events as aforesaid as thoroughly as may be:

(2) to bring closure to these events by making all necessary findings, recommendations and,
where required, to recommend any proper sanctions; and

{3) to submit its report to the House of Assembly within three to six months.

In relation to every issue relevant to the events of 2™ December 2016, the Parliamentary Joint Select
Committee shall-

{1} identify the key or relevant decision-makers of the precipitating actions which led to the
main events under inquiry;

{2) send for all persons, papers and records that are relevant to the Committee’s mandate to
thoroughly inquire into the events;

(3} examine all persons who are or were accountable for decisions, deployments, and acts or
omissions on 2™ December 2016 whether as Premier, Ministers, Public Officers, Civil Servants or
Constitutional Office Holders.
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ANNEX 4

Meetings of the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee

Date

Location

Present

27" February 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, . Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. 1. Scott, A. Simons

13%" March 2018

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, 1. Dillas Wright, M.J. Scott, N. Tyrell, A. Simons

27" March 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T, Furbert, B. Smith, M.L. Scott, N.
Tyrrell, A. Simons .

6t April 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrell, A. Simons

10" April 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, B. Smith, M.J. Scott, N.
Tyrrell, A. Simons

13 April 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J, Dillas Wright, B. Smith, M.} Scott, A. Simons

20 April 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, B. Smith, M.l. Scott, A,
Simons

25% April 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, B. Smith, M.J. Scott, N. Tyrrell

30% April 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, B. Smith, M.J. Scott, N.
Tyrrek, A. Simons

16% May 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, T. Furbert, B, Smith, M.J, Scott, N. Tyrrell

28" May 2018

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, 1. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrell

6% June 2018 House of Assembly H.K.E, Swan, }. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M.J. Scott, N. Tyrrell, A,
Simons

8% August 2018 House of Assembly H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M.J. Scott, R. Swan

15% August 2018 House of Assembly H.K.E. Swan, }. Dillas Wright, T, Furbert, S. Simmons, N. Tyrrell

227¢ August 2018 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrell Invited: S.
Wolffe, Clerk to the Legislature

29" August 2018 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, ). Dillas Wright, S. Simmons, N. Tyrrell

&% September 2018 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrel)

12* September 2018 | House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, 1. Billas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrreli
Summeonsed: J. Baron

20" September 2018 | House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, S. Simmons, N. Tyrrell,

R. Swan

28% Saptember 2018

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, T. Furbert, S. Simmons, B. Smith, N. Tyrrell
Invited: K. H. R. Horton

10" October 2018 Human Rights H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, B. Smith, N. Tyrrell
Boardroom

12*" October 2018 Human Rights H. K. E. Swan, J, Dillas Wright, S. Simmans, B. Smith, N. Tyrrel
Boardroom

14" November 2018

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, B. Smith, N, Tyrrel|

28t November 2018

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B. Smith, N.
Tyrrell Summonsed: P. Wright

4" December 2018

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B. Smith, N,
Tyrrell Summonsed: M. H. Dunkley

19*" December 2018 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, |. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B. Smith, N.
Tyrrell

4% January 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, T. Furbert, M. lones, B. Smith, N. Tyrreil

11 January 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B. Smith, N, Tyrrell

18" January 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, [. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, N. Tyrrell

22" January 2019 House of Assembly H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, N. Tyrrell (sub-Committee meeting)

25" January 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, 5.5immons, B. Smith,

N. Tyrrelt
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28" January 2019

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrell {sub-Committee meeting)

29" January 2019

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, N. Tyrrell {sub-Committee meeting)

1%t February 2019

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, N. Tyrrell {sub-Committee meeting)

1% February 2019

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, L. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M, Jones, 5. Simmons
N. Tyrrell

4% February 2019

House of Assembly

H.K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, N. Tyrrell (sub-Committee meeting)

8 February 2019

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, L. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. lones, S. Simmons,
B .Smith, N. Tyrrell

12" February 2019

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, M. Jones, B .Smith, N. Tyrreil

14* February 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B .Smith, N.
Tyrrell

19 February 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B .Smith, N.
_ Tyrrell

20t February 2019 House of Assembly H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones, B .Smith, N.
Tyrrell

21 February 2019 House of Assembly H.K.E. Swan, 1. Dillas Wright, N. Tyrrell (sub-Committee meeting}

28t February 2019

House of Assembly

H. K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones

5% March 2019

House of Assembly

K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, M. Jones

12 March 2019

House of Assembly

K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, M. Jones, N. Tyrrell

3¢ April 2019

House of Assembly

K. E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T Furbert, N. Tyrrell

8t April 2019

House of Assembly

K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, N, Tyrrell, S. Simmons, B
Smith, M. Jones

7% May 2019

House of Assembly

K.E. Swan, J. Dlllas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrell, B Smith, M.
Jones

14" May 2019

Boardroom, PRGC

K.E. Swan, J. Dillas Wright, T. Furbert, N. Tyrrell, M. Jones
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ANNEX 5

Communication issued/received by the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee

Dates of Communication from PCA

Dates of Communication to PCA

Mr. J. Baron 13t March 2018, 3% Aprit 2018, 26% April 215t March 2018
2018, 20 August 2018
Dr. D. Binns 27% February 2019 27 February 2019

Mr. L. C. Cannonier

215t December 2018

25% January 2019

Clerk to the Legislature

20d July 2018, 231 tuly 2018, 231 July 2018,
20t August 2018

5th july 2018, 24th July 2018, 16% May 2019

Commissioner Corbishley

7t January 2019, 14% january 2019, 27t
January 2019, 13* March 2019

24% September 2018, 14% December 2018,
20% December 2018, 8 January 2019 (x2),
11 January 2019, 14% January 2019, 5t
February 2019, 7t February 2019, 15t
March 2019

Commissioner De Silva

13™ March 2018

12t june 2018

Mr. M. Dunch

3 March 2018, 26'h March 2018, 28t
March 2018, 22 June 2018, 26tk September
2018, 26t September 2018, 5* December
2018

Mr. M. H Dunkley

13% March 2018, 12% October 2018, 23+
October 2018, 5 December 2018, 5th
December 2018

16% October 2018, 23 October 2018, 26t
October 2018

Mr. W. Furbert JP MP

4th April 2019

br. E. G. Gibbons

4th Qctober 2018

15% October 2018

The Hon. K. H. R. Horton

13t March 2018, 5t April 2018, 264 April
2018, 4" May 2018, 5% October 2018

5t April 2018, 23 April 2018, 15t May 2018

Government House

13% March 2018, 8% April 2018, 39 May
2018, 14 June 2018, 11t July 2018, 16%
August 2018, 18th September 2018, 5t
October 2018, 12th October 2018, 29t
October 2018, 30th November 2018, 6th
December 2018, 7™ January 2019, 14t
January 2019, 27% January 2019

4tk April 2018, 15t May 2018, 10% July 2018,
26t September 2018, 17t October 2018,
18th Decamber 2018

Superintendent J. Howard

16% August 2018, 17" August 2018, 24t
September 2018, 19th November 2018, 12th
December 2018, 7t January 2019 14t
January 2019, 27% January 2019

Mpr. E, Johnstone

12t October 2018

Sen. The Hon. Mrs. K. 12t April 2018, 1% May 2019 15t May 2019
Lighthourne-Simmons

Mr. C. Looby 13t March 2018

Mr. J, Lynch 12t October 2018 31 October 2018

Mr. H Mattie 13% March 2018

Mr. T. G. Moniz 11% May 2018, 30t May 2018, 22" August 14k May 2018, 18" May 2018, 4t

2018, 12t October 2018, 20t November
2018

September 2018

Mr. P. Perinchief

10% August 2018, 18t August 2018

People’s Campaign

8% March 2019

7t May 2019

Police Complaints Authority

13t March 2018, 29 August 2018

Mr. E. T. Richards

18t September 2018

19% September 2018 (x3), 14% January 2019

The Hon, W. H. Roban IP MP

4% April 2019

Royal Gazette

14t May 2018

The Hon. Speaker

13t March 2018, 26% April 2018, 22™ May
2018, 7th June 2018, 22™ June 2018, 7th
September 2018, 17" December 2018, 7%
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lanuary 2019, 14t January 2019, 27t
January 2019, 5% April 2019

Major M. Telemague

Sth December 2018, 7t January 2019, 220
February 2019

11t December 2018, 9t January 2019, 220
February 2019

Trott and Duncan

13t March 2018, 29 August 2018

Mr. P. Wright

18t September 2018, 29th October 2018

30t Qctober 2018

Mirs. C. Whitter

27th February 2019

4% March 2019

67




ANNEX 6

Submission regarding the House of Assembly Staff

&

House of Assembly
Legislature Office

STAFF MEETING MINUTES
May 16, 2019 - 3:00 p.m.

The meeting was called to order by the Clerk to the Legislature, Mrs. Shernette Wolffe May 16, 2019.

Facilitator: Mrs. Shernette Wolffe Minutes taken: Ms, Jessica Bowers
Clerk to the Legislature Administrative Assistant to the
Clerk to the Legislature
Attendees: Mrs. Shernette Wolffe — Clerk to the Legislature

Mr. Clark Somner — Deputy Clerk to the Legislature

Sgt. Major Allen - Sgt.-At- Arms

Mr. Derek Lamb - Parliament Information Officer

Mrs. Nadine Place - Administrative Officer

Ms. Jessica Bowers — Administrative Assistant to the Clerk
Agenda:

1. Events of December 2", 2016

1. Events of December 2™, 2016.

At 7:15 am, the morning of December 2™ 2016, the Sergeant-At-Arms arrived at the Legislature
Office located in the Swan Building, 26 Victoria Street. At 8:15 am the Sergeant-At-Arms then left
the Legislature Office to unlock the gates of the House of Assembly. At this time no crowds had
formed. While unlocking the gates of the House of Assembly the Sergeant-At-Arms was
approached by Bermuda Industrial Union (BIU) President, Mr. Chris Furbert, who questioned the
Sergeant-At-Arms asking why he was locking the gates, The Sergeant-At-Arms responded stating
that he was not locking the gates, but unlocking them which he proceeded to do before returning
to the Legislature Office.

The Sergeant-At-Arms then escorted the Speaker of the House, Speaker Horton from the
Legislature Office to the House of Assembly. The Speaker of the House remained in the Speaker’s
Chamber of the House of Assembly and the Sergeant-At-Arms returned to the Legislature Office.

The Sergeant-At-Arms made a final trip to the House of Assembly. Upon return from the
Legislature Office to the House of Assembly, the Sergeant-At-Arms found the gates had been closed
by a crowd of individuals. A canvas material had been used to cover the gate blocking access to
and from the House of Assembly Grounds. The Sergeant-At-Arms asked to pass through the gates
which was granted,

The Clerk to the Legislature arrived at the House of Assembly before 9:00 am and found the crowd
formed at the gates. The Clerk to the Legislature proceeded to find parking elsewhere and went
directly to the Legislature Office. The staff of the Legislature ascertained that the House of
Assembly would not be meeting due to the crowding and remained in the Legislature Office.

1|Pape
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The Clerk to the Legislature received a call from Inspector Howard asking if the staff of the
Legislature would be willing to come to the House of Assembly for a 1:00 pm start. Inspector
Howard also inquired if the Office wished to be escorted while walking to the House of Assembly
Grounds, The Staff did not agree to leave the Legislature Office.

The Clerk to the Legislature received a second call from Inspector Howard asking if the staff would
be willing to be escorted by vehicle to the House of Assembly. The staff of the Legislature did not
agree to that arrangement,

The Speaker of the House of Assembly, Speaker Horton then called the Clerk to the Legislature to
discuss arrangements for the Legislature staff to come to the House of Assembly as the daily
proceedings could not take place without them.

The Clerk to the Legislature informed the Speaker of the House that if both parties, the One
Bermuda Alliance and the Progressive Labour Party, ngree to come to the House of Assembly, then
the staff of the Legislature will come,

The Sergeant-At-Arms noted that there was no threat made to the House of Assembly itself.

Protective gear arrived before 1:00 pm when the Members were due to arrive,

el

CONFIRMED THIS I b DAYOFma\j! v 2019

Clerk to the Legislature

2|Page
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Submissions from the People’s Campaign

Mecting with Pelice € 0mm£ssluncr Michaet Desitva
Thursday, i‘mwmher 10% 2&16

Mecting with the Commissioner of Police, Mr. ‘Michael Desilva and some of his team 1neanbers
with Bro. Chris and Sis. Ronnie. The Commissioner wanted to have a conversation recognizitg
that Parliament was fo- re-open; he. said hie had spoken to the | gr.m:rmnem abaut some thmgs, also
based on Rev. Tweed's situation, a few othier things and the airport. He was trying to give the
govemment a heads up abott some things, the Commissioner tatked about the March event and
how they were asked to do certain things.

Bro. Chrs said to hin we tried to make sure il evend was about peapie being law abiding
citirens, we weore not breaking the law, he had told the people leave the police alone ihey are not
the enemy, the Commissioner lhanked ki foe sa\fmg that. Bro, Chris told the Commissioner he
understands. the: dilemma they’ find themselves in but those elected members of Parliament are
elected to do the peoples® business and if they are not going in the House o dv the peoples’
husiness the people witl probably lock them oot again,

The. Commissioner: wanted to reaffinm: their commitment to work with the BIU, they were
pzutef:img the peace, they were iot in support of the movement and they were not an agent of the
govemnmient, they were protecting the rule of Jaw, They were not asking us to revend our taclics,
{hey ‘expect that there will be protest, they lisd advised {he govérnment to grar up for protest,
riske space for it rather than shut it down, do riot impose on thelr Constitutional rights,

The Conmisaimer said he ok a emw_ider&ble amount of heat frem the way they handled the
prodest in March; they did not want to impose on anybedy’s Constitutional rights. There was talk
of locking the [xmpk: out of the House of Parliament gmunadsz because they were confused on
what was parkland and open space, he told them they wore an}) there (o uphold the law.

Bro. Chris also talked fo him about the relationship the BILI has had with the police in the past,
when we: have had df:m«mxuauam The police would come arvund and have conversations with
Sis. Molly or the BHU to see if we needed any assistance; we have always had a geod working
reiammlnp with the police, They. tatked ahout the evenl we Hiad this vesr where Mr.: Calvin
Soith and Ma, Neheminh Astwood reached out to us and a few of them had heen talking o us
aboit the yituation we wete dealing with,

We kept saying Lo the people on the hill we arg net here to break any laws. I wis u predy gosd
mecting e did not expect the letter, which talks about the content of the meeting, the
Comuiissioner said that it was fmporiant that we meet every guarler to have diafogue.

Bro. Chis said he had never been inside the Police Station; they gave us a tour aller they
finishad.

ANNEX 7
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SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

The defendants in this matter are Ernest Trott, Sherman Hill, Antione Minors,
and Dornielle Farrell

enee:

» Obstruction

The facts are as follows:

At 10am on Friday 2*' December 2016, the House of Assembly was scheduled to
convene and debate the pending Airport Authority Act 2016 and the Bermuda
Airport Concessions Act. The Member of Parliament to chair the bills was the
Honorable Minister Everard “Bob” Richards. As a result, members of Parliament
were required to attend the House of Assembly to conduct the business of the day.

Sometime before Bam that day, Kenneth Bascome JP MP atiended Parliament
Street and attempted to walk through the south western gate leading to the House
of Assembly. At that titne ho was confronted by a woman not presently before the
court, who became belligerent and began shouting “Yow're selling out
Bermuda!” Mr. Bascome walked across Parliament Street (o avoid any further
confrontation. Soon after he walked back across the street and attempted a second
time to walk through the same gate, At that time four males emerged and stood
directly in front of the gate shoulder to shoulder, creating a human wall, thus
blocking Bascome from gaining access to the House of Assembly grounds
Bascome tumed and walked awasy from the area to avoid any potential
confrontation with the individuals.

Shortly thereafter, Deputy Speaker of the House, Suzann Holshouser JP MP
arrived on Parliament Street with the intent of attending the House of Assembly for
the scheduled meeting to debate the sbove mentioned Dills.

As she approached the North West pedestrian gate to walk through, approximately
four (4) males stood directly in front of her and linked their arms together, denying
her access, One of the men said to her, “WE ARE NOT LETTING YOU IN.”
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She inlormed them she had to attend work, whioh was inside the HOA and again
one of them responded, ‘NOT TODAY,”

While she remained there in the company of 4 uniformed Police Officer she heard
a males voice ring out directly behind her saying, “THEY MAY COME WITH
A THOUSAND POLICE, BUT WE'LL BRING THOUSANDS MORE.”

Mus. Holshouser proceeded to walk south along Parliament Street, with the intent
of entering through the south western electronic gate, At that time she observed the
accompanied by a uniformed Police Officer. Thero were two (2) males not before
the courts at this lime, verbally and physically preventing and denying the
Honorable Minster access to the grounds by:

e When asked by the officer to step aside they said "NO.”
o The Police Sergeant explained to the men it was unlawful to prevent any
person from entering the grounds as such.

The two males, one being a large male nnd the second n smaller thinner male, did
not heed to the request of stepping aside. The Honorable Minister remained there
for a few moments, before leaving the arca and attended his office. This encounter
was captured on video by a member of public and later disseminated on social
media outlet “Bernews",

The Honorable Minister of Education Wayne Scott JP MP arrived on Parliament
Street later that moming. As he drove up to the vehicular entrance pate on
Parliament St, he was unable to drive through due to the large group of protesters
blocklng the entrance and relusing to move aside. He was told, “NO ONE 18
PARKING HERE TODAY.”

Minister Scott subsequently parked his vehicle outside the Cabinet Office on Reid
Street and walked to Parlisment Street. On his arrival he attempted to gain entry o
the HOA grounds via the south western gate, and was again blocked and denied by
a group of approximately ten (10) to fifteen (15) persons, mostly males who he
could see had their arms lockoed proventing access,

Two (2) of the males stood directly in front of him at the pedestrian gate. Having
been denied entry Minister Scott lefl the aren. Thin encounter was captured on
video by a member of public and later disseminated on social media outlet
Bemews.

B I Summary of Evidince: Ermest Trots, Antions Minors, Sheman FOll, Dormielly Farrell
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BERMUDA POLICE

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statoment of: 1R, Wayne Scott
Date of Birth: Fabruary 4" 1967
Address: 4, Ord Road, Warwick WK 08

Phone: (H) (W) 5313401
Qccupation/Employer: Minter of Education | Phone: 324-3401
This statement consistin

0 of 2 pages each signed by moe, is true to the best of my knowled
and belief and | make it knowing that, if it is tendered in ovidence, | shall bo liablo to
prosecution If | have wilfully stated In It anything which | know to be false or do not believe
be true, |

Dated the 18th day, of January, 2017 Signed: R, Wayne Scott

Slignature witnessed by: D, Berry 2072

091 5hrs I‘.mnil::mmurmmumm
I am the person named above and 1 cumaintly hold the position of Minister of Fduca
within the Government of Bermuda. T was elected o9 0 Metber of Parliament in Decen
2012 and 1 have been n cabinet minister sinL:a then, I was appointed to my current

approximalely two years ago.

On the 2™ of December, 2016 thero was o sitting of the house which [ am requirg

atiend. The sittings are held at the House of Assembly located on Parliament Street.

sesslons start at 10:00am but L always try to get there early.

I was looking to get in to the House for nbout 9:00am, | drove along Front Stres
turned on to Parlisment; 1 drove up Lo the main gate of the House of Aasembly, Howeve
approached 1 noticed a group of people in front of the pate, there was approximately twer

thirty in that immediate area. 1 stopped in front of the gate entrance ns people were blockin

way. | had my window down and 1 heard someone say,"NO ONE IS PARKING H
TODAY",

\

1 had seen the night before :llessagﬁs suggesting people should be up to the House of Assc

to protest the aivport legislation. 1 presumed that these people were present due to that,

Signed: R, Wayne Scolt . Signature witnessed by: D, Borry 2072

B
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the entrance, T eventually walked off neross the stieet 10 the Mintster of Fisances’ office. Thes

2| T et ofher colfesgies. I would ssy 1 serived st tie office by about 9:15am, T stiyed there unt

later Int the moming when we ali mat in the Presrtier’s 6ffice B the sarrent Cabinet Offlce,
i veas probably a couple of hours lnter whien aww this ‘live stream’

of whist was takir
place with the polies snd protesters et the Hasse of Astembly: Or sl this 1 [oR the bl
walked to sy cat, Urough the assembled crowed and drove home, |

R. Wayne Seutt

On- completion of this snterent

I fend over this document misd can confirm the i is a tn

epsord of what was sald,
R Wayne Seott

This atatcment wes recorded by.ma betwees 0915hes aiut 101Ghra o Wednesday 18 fanu

1| 2017 st the Cabinet Office, Innovetlon House, Reid Street, Clty of Hansilton, On completion t

= mmdawbyﬂwmkwwmﬂgmdi!u @ true recond of what was said,
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BERMIUIDA

POLICE £y £ coPyY

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: Deborah Brown

Date of Birth: 26/11/1958

Address: #3 Limohouso Lene, Hsmilton Parish :

Phone: (H) 7052460 w) i

Occupation/Employer: Seif Emplayed Phone:

This statement conslsting of pages each signed by me, |s truoe to the best of my

knowledgo and bolief and | make it knowing that, if it Is tendered In evidonce, | shall be lable

to groucutlon It | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not believe
to be true,

Dated the 24th day, of January, 2017 Signed: =
Signature witnessed by: o

| am Deborah Brown, mother of Nandi Outerbridge JP MP of Constini®hcy #2 81 Goorge's.

About 7:30um on Friday 2 of December 2016 | drove my work van, ® silver grey 15 soater
Toyola Hiave #MBO29, to Nandi's resldence. She had naked me to take har into tawn to the Houne

of Assembly for the Airport Bill debate that was scheduled for that day, We left her resiclence und
hendod out, with me driving,

We arrived in Hamilton about B:30am, 1 drove alonpg Reid Street and turned right onto
Parliament Bteeet, AL that thme | notleed a large crowd of protesters gathered near the electronic
gate leading to House of Assembly. | pulled up to the londing zone area right outside of the gate; It
didn’t appear as though the crowd recognized Nandl in the van, thngs were nlill calm.

| watched, as Nandi exited the van, and walked across the front towarda the gate, At that
time 1 recognized the demennour of the crowd had changed, Ap she was walking neroas the van |
heard people shouting “Surrogate, go scrons the other sidel” That was when | got out of the van, |
saw Jason Hayward, President of one of the unlons, and he walked up towards us, He said to me

"Aunty, you know she's wrong” before then saying "She needs to fo on the other side.” We know
ench other well and Jason Is a family member of mine.

It was at that time | heard Nandi's voice aaying “Take your hands off of mel® That took m}
attention from Jason and towards her, | saw the protesters standing in the front lines shovin
Nandi in the chest with their hands and arms, | didnt recognize anyone, it wns just so many o

them, but I can pay that they were all black men., They were shoving ber and preveating her fron
walking through the crowd nnd towards the gato,

Without, even giving it a second thought, | rushed in and sltood botween my daughter on
this hostile crowd to proteat her, | shouted out to them "Take your hands off my daughter and don
touch hor ugnin or elscl” | wasn't trying Lo threaten anyone; | just didn

t them to harm he
Signed; 7" Signature witnossod by: Ay
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LLNRIUDA PULICE, Page 2

Gantinuation of Statemomt of  Deborah Brown b

further. A few of the men shotted back “Well tell her 1ake her surrogate wsn back over the ather

sidel”

At that point & Police Officer in uniform

stepped in and ho dreased the crowd back & bit, He
then walked Nandl and I over to the other nlcle

of the road and msked if we were ok. Once [ was sure
Nandl was alright, | walked back across tho street to got in my wan. Unfortunately,

across the same heatile crowd to get in the driver's door, As | did,
shouting that 1 showld be asharmed to let my davghter ran with thase
told them “Oh Please” befare driving off. That was it,

i had to wall

@ couple of the guys were
erackers, I got i my van, and

I went home and felt hyped by what had huppened. 1 never thought | would wilnesa my
daughter being asssulted, just for her trying to do her job and po to the Housea of Anserbly, | stayed
in contact with Nandi through the day with toxt messages, just to make sure Lhat she was alright,

Thcmlypcnplewtwluwthmandlknmbymne
Furbert the PLP MP, who wna standing right next o Jnson. |
should be able to identify seme of them if I saw them again.

Y

were Jason Hayward and Wayne
don't know the other Fuys, but |

;O

Signed: Signature witnessed by: l
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FILE COPY

BERMUDA POLICE
STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Statement of; Kenten Troft
Date of Birth: Over 21
Addresa: C/0 Bormuda Polica Servica
Phone: (H) (W) 206-0011
Occupation/Employer: Deteclive Sergaant 2345 Phone: 717-2345

This statement consisting of 1 pages each signed by me, Is trus fo the best of my knowledge

and bellef and | make It knowing that, If i is tendered In evidence, | shall be llable to

;:ouwﬂon it 1| have wilfully stated In it anything which | know to be false or do not believe to
true.

Dated the 20th day, of December, 2018 Signed:

Signature witne!

| am Kenten Trott, Detective Sergeant 2345, of the Bermuda Police Service currently
attachad to the Berioun Crime Unit,

On Friday 2 December 2016, 1 was on duty and dressed In the uniform of The Bermuda
Pollce Service. | was tasked Lo asnist with pollcing the Protest occurring at the House of
Assembly / Parllament in regard to the proposed airport development.

At 12:30pm on the stated date at the Hamiiton Police Station, I was naked by Detective
Chicf Inspector (DCI) 926 Naimah Astwood to perform the role of scribe for her. Bhe
iinformed me that she was the linispn between the Police and the various Uniona, She asked
that 1 record contemporaneous notes of all of her interactions as linison.

At 12:41pm at the Court Street junction with Church Street, 1 was present when DCI 926
Astwood met with Chris Furbert of the BIU and Glen S8immens of the BIU, DCI Astwood
identified herself an the liaison between the Police and the Unions, DCI Astwood then asked
Mr. Furbert if we could have some sort of peaceful solution or resolution to this current
impasse, Mr, Furbert reaponded *No solution right now, We maintain our position”, Mr,
Furbert went on to state *We are not letting them in the house”. DCI Astwood informed Mr.
Furbert that if that is their position, “The Police will be assisting to get the ministers info the

house” and that “Police will do what is necessary te facilitate that”, At 12:44pm the meeting
ended,

At 12:48pm, DCI Astwood and [ attended Pa.rliamemJ Strect near the entrance to the House
of Assembly / Parliament , | assessed the crowd present and saw that Mr, Furbert / Mr,
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BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuation of Statement of _ Kenlen Troll

Assembly / Parliament. There were about 150 peopie in front of the gates closer to the
junction of Parliament Btreet / Church Street. A few members of the Opposition Party - The

Progressive Labour Party (PLP), were gathered near the gates closest to Parliament Strect /
Church Street,

At 1:11 pm, | was present when Detective Inspoctor (D) 282 Marc Clarke addressed the
crowd by giving them formal instructions [declaration) in front of the main gates to the
House of Assembly [ Parilament | waa standing immediately beside DI Clarke's (on his
right hand side) and 1 was recording contemporaneous notes. Present at the time were
Chris Furbert, Glen Simmons, Reverend Nicholos Tweed, Jason Hayward, members of
Parliament, and the earlier mentioned crowd of about 75 people, DI Clarke was unable to
give inatruction as the crowd started shouting “We shall not be moved".

At this point Police officera in riot gear (PSU Team) lead by Puolice Inspector 2000 Tracy
Burgeas commenced walking down Parliament Street towards the main gates of the House
of Assembly / Parliament, Upon secing the officers in rlot gear (PSU Team) [ pul my
notepad lnmypuckntnnd-tnodunme-'d:manowtlmotherpoliu:nffcenmmlmn
pathway to the House of Assembly / Parliament. Tho crowd continued to block tho main
gates, and &s the PSU Team approached the gates some individuals in the crowd began to
shout und act in an aggressive manner towards Police, Once the officers engaged the crowd,
lheuwdunmdmwlhbnckmdnntnnowlhﬂPulectnmakunpnmny.looutd-zc
that the PSU Team were outnumbered and were being overcome by the crowd, so |
rendered assistance to the officers. | stood beslide the PSU Team, along with other Police
officers dressed in the normal attire of the BPS. Whilst | was assisting the other officers to
m-.lc-l]:-.lhm.um-meﬂuml]wmwd.rnbhudhypolh:ahnkctmdbnpnwpullm.
Anodwrindiﬁdunlgrabhedmmndmymck'imlh:h'hundna.ndhemmmmy
throat, | immediately used my hands to free myselfl from the person that was choking me
mdlmmthcpmnmhbhgmphoe}mlmtmmmmwau&-p-.ne between
myself and them. Other officers also intervened to aeparate the Individuals and mysell. | am
u.nahleto!dentilythntvnlndivldtnhwhomngnbbingm-buﬂdormllthntl.hepmm‘l
who choked me was male wearing a dark colored jacket, and the person that grabbed my
jncbtw-nnmnh“ningnb.lﬂcobradm

The crowd of people was unrclenting, and they were pushing, grabbing and shouting at
officers. 1 continued to assist my colleagues a8 wo were being overpowered. | attempted to
persuade m:mttrlolthﬂ:mlwn.llo.theHP‘pl-lgetntheHou-:ofA-en‘lHyl
Pminmmt.buttlwymldnotchwnm.lthmnoﬂoedoutofnwperlphem!wlbn
that someone in the crowd swung an umbrella that hit a police officer in the head. I ran
omtnwnndldmu!ymcmmhutmepuwnrunmmthecmdnnddluppured.Au

1 looked towards the House of Assembly / Parliament, | Inspector 551
e, L D 25 _ vt .
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BERMUDA POLICL Page 3

Cantinuation of Statement of _ Kenten Trott

Steven Donnelly was tying lo get the atlention of the PSU Team. | could see that CI
Donnelly was signalling for the officers to tactically retreat to the right. It appeared he was
trylng to pass the message over the Police radlo, but due to the noise and commotion he
could not be heard by officers, 1 tapped the shoulders of some of the officers on the PSU
Team and pointed their attention towards C1 Donnelly. I also told them to move to the right
as tactically instructed by Cl Donnelly,

Aa the PBU Team sttempted to move to the right, they were prevented from doing so as the
crowd of protesters had effectively created a bubble around them. I saw MP Wayne Furbert
(PLP}, MP Dervick Burgesa (PLP) nnd Olen Simmons (BIU) were amongst the crowd of
protesters, | went up to thess gentlemen and explained to them that the PSU Team was
uylng to exit to the right. [ asked for their assistance to make a pathwey through the
crowd to which they complied. The PBU Team was ablo to move to the vight and tectically
retreated from in front of the main gates to the House of Assembly / Parliament.

I romained in the vicinity of the House of Assembly / Parllament to monitor the crowd. Aflter
the PSU Team lcft the area in front of the main gates to the House of Assembly /
Parliament (Parlinment Btreet mide), the orowd somewhat quellod In comparison to mements
carlicr.

At 1:33pm at the junction of Parlinment Street and Reld Street, Pom; | was prosent when
DCI 926 Astwood and DCI 854 Nicholas Pedro met with Opposition Leader, David Burt of
the PLP. DCL Astwoeod Informed MP Burt that she s the laison officer between the BPS and
the Uniona, DCI Astwood further went to say that she will meet with the rank structure of
the BPS and get back to him, MP Burt indicated that he will remain at that location until
she retums, Ho went on to say that it was wrong that the Police used pepper spray.

At 1:43pm at the Hamilton Police Station, DCI Astwood and [ met with Superintendent 437
James Howard, During the meeting, SBuperintondent Howard informed us that the Speaker
of the house ruled that the House will not sit today. DCI Astwoed informed Superintendent
Howard that she will inform the Opposition Leader and the Union Leaders of this
information.

At 1:56pm on Parliament Street near Reid Street, I was present when DCI Astwood met
with Opposition Leader David Burt (PLP), MP Lovita Foggo (PLF), and MP Wayne Furbert
(PLP). DCI Astwood informed them that the Police will remain in a capacity to keep the
peace and that “We will not advance”, MP Burt aald that this was fine and that he
understood, MP Burt went on to state that he was “unhappy that people were tasered and

pepper sprayed”, ng concluded at 2:02pm. Y o
Signe Signature wit

83



BERMUDA POLICE Page 4

Conlinuation of Statemant of _ Kenten Troft

Al 2:14pm on Parllament Street near the Department of Workforce Development, | was
present when DCI Astwood met with Chris Furbert (BIU), Jason Hayward (BPSU), Qlen
Simmona (BIU) and Reverend Nicholas Tweed. This wan a briel meeting about the events of
the day. DCI Astwood informed them that she wants to keep the lines of communication
open. Mr, Furbert indicated that he is appreciative of the geature, At 2:17pm the meating
concluded.

DCI Astwood and | subsequently left the area and returned to the Hamilton Police Station.

Signed: Signature witnessed by:
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POLICE | FILE COPY

SERVICE Statemant of Witness

Statement of  Christopher Randall Clarke

Addrass Hamilton Police Statlon, 152 Victarla Straet, Clty of Hamilton, Putnhfoke,
Phone (H)  295-0011 w) 247-1084 (Cell) 7170526
non 13" October, 1962 Emall  colarke®bpsbm

Occupation / Employer  Police inspector, Bermuda Police Service
Vacation Dates February, 2017
{in the next 12 months)

This statement consisting of two (2) pages, ﬁmod by me, Is true to the best of my knowledge and
belief and | make it knowing that, if it is tendered In evidence, 1 shall be liable to prasecution if | have
villfully stated anything which | know ta be false or do not beleva to be true

e Wednesday 7" December, 2016 L S N
AR o

Signed; Slgnnture witnessed by:

Print name ~ Print name: Q\,“,“ Q,L,_b Qs

I am Christopher Randall Clarke, Acting Chief inspector Number 526 of the Bermuda Pollce Service (BPS).
I am presently attached 1o the Patrol Department of the Community Posicing Divislon.

On Friday 2™ December, 2016, | was performing the role of Siiver Commander for the Operation In
refation to the protest at The House of Assembly (HOA). In this capacity, | collected Information and
pessed on directions from the Gold Commander, who was Acting Assistant Commissioner of Police
(ACOP) 437 Jarmes Howard. Additionally, | bilefed several Individusis snd units with various aspects of
the operation.

About 0920 hours that day, | met with several Uniformed Police Officers on Parliament Street, outside
the main gate leading to the HOA compound. | had a brief conversation with the officers and directed
them to activate thalr body camerns to record my conversation with the crowd. Some of the officers
who accompanied me Included, Police Sergeant {PS) 412 Lawrence Dean, Police Constables (PC's) 2212
Chels Thompison, 2342 Sandip Roy, 2203 Ascensius Baptiste, 966 Denlse Dowmney, 2449 Jerome Overby,
2480 Thomas Greenslade, 2383 Carol Skerritt and others.

I identified myself as a police officer to the crowd and told that words to the effect that: thay had a
Constitutional right to protest peacefuly and lawfully; however they could not block access to the HOA
or pravent anyone from lawiully sccessing the compound, | further told them that they had fifteen (15)
rminutes to clear the gateway. The crowd started to shout back stating that they will not move and they
would not allow s s of Parllament to enter the House. | walked away and left the area,

Signed: Signature witnessed by b ‘ 0ss% 5

Pago 1 of 2
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* 3ERMUDA
POLICE

SERVICE Statement of Wilness

About 1250 hours the same day, while at the Hamillon Police Station, | spoke to Detective Inspector (D)
282 Mark Clarke and briefed lvm concerning his duties as part of the Operation  In that briefing, |
directed him to go the main gate at the HOA and speak with the cowd. | further directed him 10
explam to them that they had & Constitutional right 1o protest peacefully and lawfully; however they
could not block access to the HOA or prevenl amyone fram lowhully accessing the compound,
Furthermore, If they block access to the HOA, thelr actions would constitute criminal offences, for which
they could be arrested  Additionally, | directed him to activate his bady camera and have all officers
wha were with him and equipped with cameras to activate them during the proceedin

O AL fos

N 4“! g Nasye
Signed: Slgnature witnessed by -

Pago 2 of 2
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BERMUDA POLICE
STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Statemont of: Mark Bhuart Clarke
Date of Birth: over 21
Address: c/o The Bermuda Pollce Service
Phone: (H) (W) 247-1086
Occupation/Employer: Polica Officor Phone;

This statement consisting of 4 pages each signed by me, is true to the best of my knowledge
and bollef and | make it knowing that, if it Is tendered In evidence, | shall be liable to

prosecution If | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not baliove to
be true,

Dated the 5™ day, of December, 2016

Signature witnessed by:

I am Detective Inspector 282 Mark Stuart Clarke ofef
Bermuda Police Service.

5 Serlous Crime Unit c/o the

On Friday 2™ December 2016, 1, along with other members of The Serlous Crime Unit,
reported for duty at the Hamilton Police Station where we remained on standby In
regards to the events unfolding In the surrounding environs of the House of Parllament,

About 1300 hours, this same date, 1 was detalled by Acting Chief Inspector 526
Christopher Clarke to attend The House of Assembly to give a dedaration to the
protectors obstructing the main entrance.

prior to departing Hamilton Police Station I was fitted with a Police Body Camera (Body
Cam) #8248, which was attached to my right shirt pocket,

1, along with, DS 2351 Derrick GOLDING, PC 952 Terry-Lynn PAYNTER and others
attended this location. PC 952 Terry-Lynn PAYNTER was the daslgnated videographer,

Prior to crossing Church Street, junctlon with Parllament Street, 1 atong with DS 2351
Golding activated our '‘Body Cams’ and with others we walked down the middle of
parllament Street, stopping at the main entrance to The Sesslons House,

At 1311 hours, this same date, I stood in front of persons assembled In a manner which

effectively obstructed anyone or anything from entering the main entrance of the House
ol Assembly ¢/o The Sessions House #21 Church Streaet, City of Hamiiton,

These persons, not | Ing those assembled on the sidewalks, app
80 perso
o __ Hignature witnossed by:

to excacdoec
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BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuation of Stalament of DN 282 Mark Clarke

In the front row were people whom | Immediately identifled as being Rev. Nicholas
TWEED, BIU Leader Mr Chris FURBERT, MP 1P Derrick BURGESS, MP JP Wayne
FURBERT, MP P Walter ROBAN, Former MP Glenn BLAKENEY, former BPSA
Leader BALL, a man I only know as "DINGBAT SIMMONS, and others who should
have been captured by my Police BodyCam and Videographer,

All persons, If not most, In the front row had their arms interfocked with the
persons standing beside them.

As this crowd was noisy T waitad untl their leaders requestad that they remain
quiet until 1 was heard. Once they were silent 1 stated, "LISTEN UP.
CONSTITIONALLY YOU HAVE A LAWFUL RIGHT TO ASSEMBLE, HOWEVER

YOU...” My volce was drowned out with the chanting “WE SHALL NOT, WE
SHALL NOT MOVED.” in an ever Increasing volume,

Whilst T could not ba heard I finished my dedaration, “...CANNOT ASSEMBLE
UNLAWFULLY. TO DO SO YOU WOULD BE COMMITTING OFFENCES."”

Having denled the completion of my declaration It was clear to me that this group
were determined to continue obstructing this entrance.

I remained standing In place untll my attention was drawn to officers approaching
In three columns led by Inspector 2000 Tracey BURGESS.

Having made this observation I stepped back to allow the team led by Police
Inspector 2000 BURGESS to approach. Shortly after stepping back, 1 was
approached by MP 1P Wayne FURBERT and MP JP Derrick BURGESS, They

requested that 1 not allow this to escalate. Owing to the events unfolding I did not
answer any questions,

From my position I observed that these officers were belng prevented from gaining
access to the entrance gates nnd events scon escolated Into a disturbance
consisting of strengthen push back by this mob, thereby obstructing the Intent of
the Police gaining entry to the grounds of the Sessions House.

lﬂ- Signature witnessed by: ¥ Far o)

8



- BERMUDA POLICE  Page 3

Conbiuntion of Slaemoptof m:faz'mwlamg__ _

During thase svents 1 mpmwﬁ Bl mmt two ) ﬁrcm:a to allow my tmdymm <]

record the mrﬁms..wmtsi 1 was fadmg wwtwards mwarm ma Gwmmem-

Admmls!.ratﬁan ﬂuiwlng, 1. hoard a niplae mm munded ke wmmmg Mﬂ strut;k F:]
netmet, (n taming 0 fat:e sm 2rea of the fmr Magistrama Count - mmﬂg i

-giimmm # redreating b{ue um%:msla. AL the same &me the orowd mrged amﬁ ! WL
not able to see the hokder of the umbrella ‘but Further ebseived mﬂwmd'

Rty

During this %ime 1 was a;mmachm 1y various MP’s lm:‘!uémg Me 3P Waaber ROIML _

Laader of the Opposition MP 3 David mr, MP 3P Livita mgo, MP IP Michadl
SCOTT.

Betvesen Haom 1 was aékgéﬁ a vﬁﬁﬂv of duﬁ&lms}

o MEOIP Walter ROBAN was repeatedly demanding the grsunds forthe ?ﬁﬁw
{%ﬂﬁﬁ,

o MPIP Lovita FOGGD m.s&aﬁng. that her grandchiid's father was pepper
sprayed

» MP 3P David BURY wos quastioning the decision to deploy

+ MP JP Michosl SCOTT was questioning who was responsibie for deploying the
Folice

E)wlﬁg &0 tha !m:maﬁngw esa:ai.atmg unm%amg emntg' l:eymd d%mmng them o
Hamilton Pokica Station, 1 Mmed 0 anmAer any questions %‘k&d,

Evants shifted from e mein sntrance on Paritament Skrect and | observed officers
under the remit of Inspector Tracy Burpiss depart this brea and hoad esst down
Rkl Sereel

Having made this obseryvation 1, slong with my . team, made DUT woy o the wres of
] the southern entrance of The M@mﬁ Houss méﬂ mglsmzm Car Park). ‘Tiwm Was
full scale mnfmntauscns mumng betwm mmtmm of t&m public and police. Al

which should have been recorded by varous deviews, inchuding those possessed by
memiers of the public,

Bigned: Slanaturs witnagsod fst
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& BERMUDA POLICE Page 4
-
Continuaton of Statement of DI 282 Mark Clarke

During my presence on Reld Streel there ware several people being balsterous In
their threats and conduct. Andre 'Blacka’ Simmons and
whom I can name,

'Plukey’ Brangman were two

There were two other maias who directly threatened me with the comments, “"WE
KNOW WHERE YOU STAY. YOU'RE DAY 1S COMING!" These threats were

personal and 1 conslder them to be threats levelled against myself and family

members outside of the remit of my office. Both males would have been recorded
by Police Videographers and I will be abla to recognize them again.

1 have viewed several videos on YouTube, In the House of Assembly protest
compliation video, a black male wearing a light, blue t shirt with grey goatee beard

at 16:36 Is clearly heard to threaten me, stating, "WE KNOW WHERE YOU STAY,
YOU'RE DAY IS COMING!”

A second male was also making similar threats, He was also a black male wearing
dark coloured MOVE T-Shirt with a qoatee type beard,

Of all the negative based utterances made during this period, including the
commentary of Andre Simmons and ‘Plukey’ Brangman, It was the comments of the
two unknown males that I personalized. These were personafized as I have a young
family, Including grandchild who reside with me. It |s their safety for which I have
paramount concerns,

= L

SBigned: === 0 Slgnature witnessed by:




BERMUDA POLICE

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: Marina Jin Piarre
Date of Birth: Adult
Address; 10 Hoeadquarters Hil, Devonshire D2
Phone: (M) (W) 205.0011
Ooeupulwmyor: Bermuda Police Senvice Phone: 2950011
This sta t consin o5 ea ned by me, Is true to the best of m o
and bollom | makas MmS?m. if Icth Il.:gnduz ln.;vidlnoo. I shall be lhblz::“m »
:rn;uu;uﬂm i | have wilifully stated in it anything which |

0 p

know to be false or do not belisve
Dated the 6 day, of August, 2016 Bigned: T
Signature witnessad by: | i
I am Maring Jn Pice, Police constable

Number 2381, | tm a memhar of the mehck Police Sery
tached to Comops Polive dispotch) at Prospect, Devonshire.

Thereafier, I yoported 1o Hamilton Police
bricfed by Acop Howard, Shortly aforwards,
colleagues to the entrmace gate on parliament

Bhﬂmﬁmgwllhmyothucoﬂunmnhw!m-ﬂﬂ
I was deployed 1o House nru-mbly-hng with my otk

Street, The teams wuhhglulbyulwmhgu&




o

BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuation of Statsment of __Marina;jn Pierre PC 2381 -

been ceptured, ss 10 bow to treat thelr eye. | waq not equipped with n cmptor, Taser or & baton during the
protest.

Whilst sl (he station, [ felt my right hand hurting, but Bought the pain would have stop or lessened poon
after, but it got worst over the weekend. | later sotght medical trestment from fhe police doctor at Proapect,
whire | wan trested mad glven a prescription for medication. 1 have so broken hones, but my daily activities
wero hindered by this injury as | am right handed. 13mve a follow-up visit on Friday the 9 of Decomber 2016.

-
\
ﬂo—ﬁgr‘# Signature whasssed by: SH‘““‘\
N
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BERMUDA POLICE

COPY

STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Statement of: Darvren Olasford
Date of Birth: 02 Aug 1970
Address;: o/o Police Hondquaters, Prospoct, Dovonshice

Phone: (H) (W) -2950011
Ocenpation/Employer: Police Officor/Bermuds Government Phone: 7170716

belief and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidenece, I shall be lable to prosecution If 1
have wilfully stated in it anything which I know to be false or do not belicve to

becz 7
Dated the 7th  day, of December, 2016 Signed: =§¢. #6 !/ 7 _d

Signnture witnessed hy: —;-,—@i i -

[ nm SBergeant 716 Duorren Glasford, presently nttached to the Gang Turgeting Unit In the
Intelligencs and Information Divisloa of the Bermuda Police Service,

On Friday the 2™ of December 2016, [ was on duty in uniform at the Police Support Unit officer
in Prospect, Devonshire, As a result of an ongoing protest at the House of Assembly I waa detailod
a8 n PSU Section Commander, [ slong with other offlcers that formed up the PSU all got dressed in
Public Ovder gear which consisted of holmets, vest and protective pads on foresrms nnd lega. After
being briefed by Insp. 2000 Burgess I along with the PSU attended Hamilton Police Station. We
were briefod again by ACOP Howard and €1 Donnelly, We were informed that the protestors that
were blocking mocess 1o the House of Amembly were protesting illegally, We werce instrucied to
attend the House of assombly and form o Bubble, which is a PSU tactic, around the main gate and
allow free access to the Heuse of Asscinbly. We were also (01d to assist other officers with the
arrest of any offenders as desmed necessary, Prior to losving Hemilton Police Station we received
information that the peotestors at the Houss of Assembly exceeded one lnsmdred (100). Shortly after
1:00pm we left Hamilton Police Station and I tumed on my Axon Body Camers and walked to the

main gate of the Howse of Asgembly on Parllament Street with the PSU, As we walked down
Parliament Street and started to approach the gate.

Signed: Qsé_?{é__%/_ Signature witmessed by ﬁ_&
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BERMUDA POLICE COPY

Continuation of Statement of i C’f—f" sfoed

luouldnelhllheanwdmuulvdyommmhaulm.Ibomiuarlheemwdinauncduwc

mwdmnlzuofmmﬂoklmdmymlullnﬂa. lmﬂdnnmnnymnlupmmngom::mbnck
from thnm.loouumoﬂhcmﬂunpungtoduuinminuduﬂnnmdtomﬂa violently

Mln.mdpdlingmy&mlheoﬁmMthillimulmbﬂndnmofomcmwh:nlswa

blue umbrolla come over the top of the crowd and strike an officer in his helmet. 1 immediatley drew

my Captor incapacitent spray and pointed hltthcmlcwbowmhuldimﬂwunbmlh. Ho wis being
pulhdbn:kby!heﬂuvda!ﬂ:ﬂm:mldidnutﬁploymymm.Thkmu!evvuhrnwn shinned,
wound 5710 pnd was wonrlog o navy blue jecket, Due to the size of the crowd this male was not
mted.Tquuwdmnllnmd&uMmduﬂlmlmll-eoﬂ!mm-yoﬂh-nmlwolv-l in
mﬂ]u-ithm.l-uw&umy-hyldmtiﬂllythnfdyofﬂnomelnmﬂnfrunl
line. lmom-uomemmmmmlmxﬁmmmmeMw-mu
Muu-dtonnmdlhumlhgumnaldsunu.Aawonnd-ucwnylummhgmleouldlu-
mbudmhmnﬁuh&-wuﬂ:mmmnndnmAamarﬁwdlthwuhwelmulﬂ
m-mwdhhddmhmm-enmhdunmmomwdhumhuhmdmm
Mclﬂypmhdbwkmmno(&ul.Icuuldmufﬂmsguﬂnglnmlcnfﬂuwilhnlles.lhww
M(:mhudbundapluy-dulml-huuh.umuuonmlhchwupanofmyfloe.ﬁmlhmgh[
mnmmyaddluulythil-moiumldl-upwudu(.‘-ptmnnbomiedbylheWind.lnmicad
two officers aunvunlhdehinumhwhuwm-i-lmg violently. I drew my Captor and aprayed Lhe
mlecnmuymuislhmhmupmm:wowmmi.ﬂmndbemmhd.m-.i.ueemthndlo
n-lunnr.lm%dhmmmwthmw.lmmmohommmﬁpwin
Mroln-nmlmmmmhumdmb (hcoﬂ'nmhsbm&uyuhomdxhad, violenlty pushing
wnd pulling wway lluml.hoﬂh:nmdlhobeinnndhdl‘mllun!ﬂun;mphyunm

Signed: . 6 Signature witnessed by: ,é@
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BERMUDA POLICE COPY

Continuation of Statement of _.“ZLL%M ~

We wene soon sfter glven the order 1o stardd down and retumn to the station, 1 did not receive any injuries
but continued to have n burning senstion va my fhce until | was ablg
fimther dealings in the matter,

St 76 :9274/ /7%

to treat it with water, I had no

Signed: Signnture witnessod by:
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BERMUDA POLICE

FILE COPY

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: Pc 2431 Danlel Cole

Date of Birth: Over 21

Addrosna: C/O Police Headguarters, Prospect, Devonghire
Phone: (H) 7172431

(W)
Occupation/Employer: Police Offlicar/Bermuda Police Service Phone; 295-0011

This statement conalsting of 2 pages each slgned by me, is true to the best of my knowledge
and bellef and | mako it knowing that, If It Is tendered in evidence, | shall be llable to

prosecution If | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be falsq or do not helleve to
be true.

Dated the 12th day, of December, 2018 Signed:;

Signature witnessed by:

l am Daniel Cole Pollce Conptables 2431 1 am currently attached to
of the Community Pollcing Division of the Bermuda Police Service,

nody&mamm.wethmmadcourwtmm
,Ri.ghtontnChm'dlStu\dthml.ehmtoMmmt

lorge crowd gathered, The road was obstructed pnd the gate into the Cabinet grounds wes blocked,

6-7 people deep and in excess of sround 150 members of public,

wnnunmncdtnmukeourvlythrmghmdpinlmslnme

ake a way through the crowd te the gate mysell and fellew officers
ohme \Up ageinst groat resiatance from the protest members,

lmmunmcdwcvuyhumemdhadun
Hocklnguwpte.lmhﬂngmybeutommpmn

aru.Thanmllo/ymmplawhukm'.‘puhb 'dpnt leg them through’. 1
Signed; s Sigrature witnessed by;

intention of moving from the roaduide or

————
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k4 ﬁmumi mym]f abthe frong ﬁam of Hu Pulie mxlz a tmpﬁmg i m;: Y Tt imm bty
hark ﬁg ?\cﬂm Ciffioos wivd Wl ;m@dseing ﬁ}rm agmm m}sgsr mﬁmbﬁm of the P&Jim{, The r:mma
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feraona dosp wwiit i ﬁ.txmm:il& et Ui S0ps of the oromd with indmutin of hittng Palios Cfficnas i
the Hno. The usabrelis sast sabssed my hoad dae 4 my Tt bist o eirfvs wead oflloer wha was

mm:;;denzw m@:tamwm‘ zwmun&mﬁmmmmmmmmhammnﬁwawmm
mrmﬁ‘mi

by mmm;y sli%t’wal ,mmm of m mmmimiw

Af#wmmmxwmw%h iwﬁmt iﬂ]ﬂmlﬁ m@ﬁﬁirﬁ%ﬁnmﬁmmm& Mrhﬁ'mmattm
Jursstion of Paslbninent wnd Reid B8 We o & hiem 10ld T s o laf ) e
imtnmmawﬁcwmﬁmﬂ;@rmwmyémmhbew&,muﬁlmalgm Mwmmﬁmt{mﬁ
He o e %a@mkﬂsmﬁlﬁammL& mlmmﬁ;wh

mtﬂe mmﬁm of thas ;mmhﬁ, m
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wwpmmmamwmwmmmmmwm wﬂwmmwﬁuttﬂ-mﬂmt P‘calz;#émd
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I mmm azn beh&ms it mat. gm neer the g&mm in ﬁm m‘hﬁ;mt gxmmtim wvm: ai:x:mydng e
o protes members pidhing them sgingt the wall wnd. sleo Wimbing ants the Cabliet Wall or
gats, imﬁdm xﬁﬁwx ahmtum Ciot Flah 'hmmﬂmdiimmmﬁms ol the. s::tw m
wmﬁs&@m Tasd Lhw imn! Hoen T‘czppm* &pmmm i ua—imml m:\mm %A’ﬂm wea. sﬁ'mmd oy ‘mpmz’
wpmyémi“mm :.im axaa mthﬁmiwy wmn’tmjxm nnd. muki mmap

X mmmn&mr I OF K protemsters in pmﬁcu;w mmugm mmmg izx mm st o Lﬁm e
wnd wan yory mwﬁ mml Jeering on- n—%hm- mm!w %mm W{a@m Arpele e i&l&m snd
dsenning Uhiis wiﬁmmmw W W!W

m ﬁpm 3;xsm :m mm:i had nek mm;ﬁ mui SARE m;g the hig}uw ssrsil m d.inpm !:tw:
?u!m’& bm alfisidn 6o &rw tkm A ﬁy&éﬂm wm mn&s . FSU lmrp Qurma for e m&a mqm
officers 1o finwm g wnd dtand e, fma mmlam r&hxm 15 E!amﬂifm mm M&fm A e Bleind

Mmf s Ineditenst § mmwmmfnm MB‘EE it regaentod that thes Toainge 1
dowminaded

1 Bt -ty Bisitiems ot 3 todn dnckent .

Bignem -

Bignature withessed by
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BERMUDA POLICE

STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Statement of: Litanya J, Smith
Date of Birth: over 21

Address: 10 Headquartors Hill, Prospect, Devonshire
Phone: (H) 2471704 (W) 2471428
Occupation/Employer: Bermuds Police Seivice/Constable
This statement consisting of 2 pages sach signed by me

and belief and | make it knowing that, it it Is tendered in
prosecution If | have wilfully stated in it an

Phone: 2050011

) Is true to the best of my knowledge
evidence, | shall be liable to

ything which | know to be false or do not believe to

be true.

Dated the Gih day, of December, 2016 Signed: le
Signature withessaed by:

lam Litanya Bmith, Police Conpstable 2126 and
Division, Response Unit,

DnFridq,2"Demnber9016a1M45hnlwuondutylnuniformmHnm{!tuansk:
Station when I was detailed to patrol and malntain urder al the House of Assembly,

presently attached o Community Follcing

About 0730hrs 1 was present in House of Asmembly grounds close to the North West pate, At

thin time the North West snd the Soulh \I'cnp!nwuenunbsmdbyu:ypcmm-. but they
were locked, Shortly aftor 0800hss My, Amaold Allen, the Property Mannger arrvived Lo unlock the
gate, By this time there was o small gathering of people, Incdusive of BIU Fresident Chris Furbert. 1
heard the ralsing of volces and observed Mr. Furbert yelling at Mr, Allen about the locked gates. |
hieard Mr. Furbert say, “THEY ARE NOT LOCKED ANY OTHER TIME|"

By 0900hrs the gnthering of people pot larger In numbern nnd they jolned up to restrict
accesa to both gates. About 1055hrs | was approached by Sergeant 412 Dean who stated that he
neadeod 3 Officers to return to Hamliton Police Statlon with him. Myself and PCs 952 Paynter and
2498 Basden went with him. When I returned to the Station I was handed a black Bony Handy
Cam Digital Camcorder nnd wan instructed to video protestors,

I returned to my previous post on the prounda of House of Assombly and as I arrived |
obsorved Officers woaring protective helmots, srm and knee pads walking in a southerly direction
on Perliament Street towards to majotity of the crowd. | saw the Officers in the middle of the crowd
near the South West gate and there | uwpunhingnndnhorlnghytlwuwdmsdthe(!ﬁmn. I saw

a peraon In nbluejudwl.nndwmtnbamhunenprnhenhlueumbmlhnndbmughthdumln-
striking motion towards the Officers, | could not sce if any of them were hit but I heard a loud

whacking sound. The Officers sterted to advance towasrds the person but were prevented in doing so
by other membera of the crowd and | saw Minister Wayne Furbert intervena,

P in a stopping motion, | observed
“PUSH ME AQAINT DORT FUCK WITH MY FAMILY." | yeiled at

Sign = RSL  sgnaten witneased by
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BERMUDAROLICE,  I'nge 2

Contination of Statsment af_ Liipiy: .

| i rmimerous i (o w g with Ofcer 31l sow 1o g0 back 0t of fho pete, Therr wee

sthset faeenboretof the commsity and polios 2180 trying to de-caelate the affustion, 1 thon bosd
him say, "YEAH 1 KNOW 1M OF VIDEO, “SHE CAUGHT 17" Onos Torhow Had catired down and
rolurmed 4o hisiprevions position af the gasm, { was approached by Otfces Ml wha saled o i1
eaprased the exshiangs butwesh bim and Torkine and 15 sles eapliirs on vidéo aunther pocac
known 59 ko i Eeneat Trott who af the te wes wearing s rmngs > Anfody feat over @ whits shirt,
1 oomtiniied videotnping and 1 could hewr persons yolling, “HOLD 75T QAT Aii aloging,

WE BHALL NOIT t51 MOVED, |
Lroturndd to Hamilton Sathon and banded tha vide samers and the Fecordings to Sergant
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STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statemant of: Tracy Burgoss

Date of Birth: Over 21 2

Address: c/o Bermuda Police Service, 10 Headquartors Hill, Prospoct, Devonshire, DV02
Phone: (H) (W) 205-0011

OaeupationEmployer: Bermuda Police Service Phone: 2050011

'lhhshhmntnnmlsﬁ:gof ' | p-m-uuhdqnubymhlmhmbmoﬂnylmomdg-
and Mudmdlm.ltknmthIInbhnMdlanllhlllbonﬂﬂotn

g:moculon i lunwﬂluﬂyﬂntndlnlimtlngwﬂehlhwh be false or do not holleve to
true,

Dated the 6th day, of December, 2018 Signed: 8_%‘:1__

Siqn;m witnessed by: ,?&/_{"’

Ialimmzmodmw.MmMmmmmmemmun.d
the Beimuds Police Service.

mlm-mhmm
Commisaloner of Police l-luu-ruavdcrhrb-p.nhoom-oy

FMBMMII‘.M #ongside ather officers to the House of Assembly On arrival
-llliuba-qnloh-mdlhrwcmudofmhﬂaodhlurndallhnﬂlﬂl-r-mBlm-!-nlr-u | was
u-u.lnmmmumwmdmmuﬂnmnmtwmmmmw
Access (o it W-Mmuhum-ndmunp-udmho.dwung“nmhgmﬂ—\-

N-h-ndnm-n-mguuuhoumhnwmld-urhenblnm-.d-mmm. sbout 56 tall, baiding
mm-mmblhd‘lwuﬂuwmmo-w&u—wnme---hohtvury

aum@wﬁ, Slgnature withessed m&m

. ]
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BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuation of Statament of _T'rapy Burgess

Alfter Sovernl unsuccessful nitempls to gain sccess 1o ihe grownds of the House of Assembly, officors
wore askad ta wiltiraw and return back to the Hamiton Pollos Station Upon examinig nvysell for physical
injuries | couly foel pain and discomiont to my shoulder ares and nedk Thin was omsed by being repeatacly
mumwlmmw-hmwdw.ln-mmmmuumm
ummf.mm-mwhwmmm:w-wmm. mmhmmnmm:
;mdnomrmmmmnm.lmﬂmmmm-ydﬂnrmiyhaumm.

llumd:i::ﬁ& Signature witnessad W:Jgé-r
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Run No.
Record of CCTV Viewing

HOA PROTEST INVESTIGATION
EVIDENTIAL / NOK EVIDENTIAL

-

Exhibit Fumber:

Address Where Found: Parliament |
Street, City of Hamilton

Description from Exhibit:
WD My Passport Ultra {Black in color)

Total Number of Cameras:

Viewing Date: 20t March 2017,

Viewing Times -
Btart: 1550hrs.
Finish: 16:10pm

Reason for Viewing: HOA Protest Investigation

Cameras Viewed: “Facebook video#10154736130019402"

!

RS ST ECE Y AL
W. v - 2 A . ‘mm
1. Minute 01:49 Amoine Minors seen singing “We lhall not be moved”
in crowd,

mfl—
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BERMUDA POLICE
! STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Statement of: Domiolle A FARREL
Date of Birth: 8" January 1990
Addrean: 11 Raynom Drive, Southamptat, SNO4
Phone: (H) 2388400 (w)
Occupation/fEmployer: WEE Quary Depot Phone; 505-3470

This statement consisting of pages each signed by me, Is true to the best of my
knowiedge and belief and | make It knowing that, if it Is tendered in evidence, | shall be liable

to prosecution If | have wilfully stated In It anything which | know to be false or do not bollove
to be true.

Datad the 13th day, of December, 2016 Slgned: /\u :D‘;V“tg
Slgnature witnessed by: ,!‘f{’&;
| am’ the shove named person and [ live at the above stated addross.

S te221s |

On Friday @™ December 2016, | wan present during a peaceful protest outside the House of
Assembly to do with the proposed sirpatt redevslopment. project. I went to support follow islanders
and colleagues, copacially bacsusa of the fact that [ did not agroa with the way povernment had not
consulted and communicated with the general publie, [ am not in favour of the way the bill ceme

about. ! have no problem with a new sirport but [ am definitaly not happy about the whols
situation and the way it came about.

1 got to the house of Assembly around 0815 to 0830 am as | wont to St David’s to repost to
workt flrat. When [ firet arrived in town [ wont to the main vehicle gate on Parisment Stroet, Thera
were a lot af pecple already there, There were colleagues, members of the public, male and female, It
was calm; people weore juat standing around jeking, talking and meeting new people, Peapla were
just ganerally mingling end chatting. There were some police officers at various points around the
building, & few of whom [ lchew, and had oomyversntions with. Thern wis o tension between the
protestors that were there at that point and the police that wore standing around. [ probably stood
thare for mbout ten minutes, and then | wandered round to the Reid Strest gate, and sew more
colleagues and members of the public, so I joined them and atayed there for the remainder of the
day, Again the mood was calm, and there was 1o apparent tonaion. At about 100 pem or just aftes,
1 was standing talking st the gate, and some people from the bue depot came by and we chatted
with them, il of a sudden nomeans sid "OH LOOK WHO'E COMINGY, At thin tima | was atanding
by the small pedestrian gate to the Houee of Assembly on Reld Street. The mejority of peopls
standing srousd mo were elderly women pnd women gonerally, | leoked up and saw the riot police
about 10 feet away from ma facing towards the House of Asacmbly, [ can't say how many but thers
were o lot of yellow vests and heluiots! | heard no warnlngs or verbal cotsmands. [t was like thay
wete doing some kind of formation; they just came in at us and were pushing and pulling people
wway from the gate, The gate behind us was closed and had police officers behind it. One of tha
police officers must have kicked the gate open and then | saw a fomale bas driver backing up
asgminst the stepa and the police officars Luiod to pull har out and the way and ahe fell back snd
lended on the ground with a resounding “whack®, She just laid there. I was going to go and assist
her, but another lady was nguashed up againat the wall, and ahe grabhed hold of me and naked me

-
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BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

o o b el fand soffes Whop Whien waskioc Ty B

Conthiustion of Btatomnant of | Dooriets & FARREY, 3

spesyod stralght by ine fooe, ! 22w the affionr sho Aty me and world descrilie birn se ion,
bk ShArt, Blue fucket, nad white onmgleaicn. | ianssdiaey sterted 1 uew up, but acthing was
comitg out, Just sir and salive, iny faom wae Wiaeming and § mléﬁg'_b@@sgﬁé Propechy, B thiost wais
bismnlsigg, 1 bt By owd evers lowsr snd oy Soodie camns down. ven furiber pud then T s thie
centstars come fiht into my oot and sarey me agaln 6 oias 7 fade arit myes, A police i
Wit Lo thrmugh wesidong seslty, § thiak ha is a'm_&man@g-mc Smons, grabbel Hald o
e el e Eying $u e i:_z'v;j:'z:ma df'#hs: srowd, e eveniualy gt m& Sut of hatm's seny and Bk me

e over and Ko 10, weash Y Ayea ot with veatas, vy
For Ty &mmﬁm eaned the barning e fittle. § Bien wond e, Eherwared bl svhaied sy
lotin, vl T e adnes bedl s harow i she Fmah Tvesine S st TRy st Gomnes eat |
thet returned ty fown, by chock oo other pranks wtio T e papper mprayed s fie bus diives

 lely who bad fullen e By thie Bme | anrived back, the tlat palice were pora, and these Buire fumt

the reuting palise «@icrs il L, Lapicn to m fow of o ationt st ¥ibd hsjpensd sod asked

ﬁma STATEMENT WAR TAREN BY Me, yiie URDERSIONED SETWEEN THR HOURS OF
1400 ARD 1430 O TUESDAY 1% DECEMBRS 2016 AT 31 COURT STageT. T WAS RiAD
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"Facehook video ¥10154736130019902"

lme: 0149 s
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BERMUDA POLICE

COPY

STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Statement of: Dominique Simons
Dato of Birth: Ovor 21
Address: Cjo Bermuda Police Senvice
Phone: (H) 2471704 (W) 2050011
Occupation/Employer: Police Officer / Barmuda Police Service  Phone:

This statement consisting of 3 pages each signed by me, is true to the best of my knowledge
and belief and | make It knowing that, If it Is tendered in evidence, | shall be lable to

prosecution if | have wilfully stated In |t anything which | know to be false or do not belleve to
be true.

Dated the 7 day, of Dacember, 2010 Signed: s S gy
Signature witnessed by; M

I am Dominique SIMONS, Police Constable 2469 of the Bermuda Police Seryvice
currently attached o the Response Division, at Hamilton Police Station,

Around 6:30 a.m. on Friday the 204 of December, 2016, T waus on duty at the Humilton Police
Station, dreased in the uniform of the Bermuda Police Service and wearing my high visibility

forescent vest. [ was briefed by Acting Chief Inspector 536 Chrin Clark. 1 was ansigned to the
grounds of the House of Assembly.

Around 7:00 am. later that ssme day, | was stationed at the South Qate which is eated on
the Reid Street near its junction with Parliament Street. [ was in company of PC 2462 Bimon Frasoer,
PC 2315 Marceano, PO 754 Watnon,

Around 8:30 a.m. later that same day there was a small crowd of people at the Bouth Cate, 1
would guers no more than ten (10} 1 informed thom thst they could come on the property but they
could not block the entrance to the House of Assembly. Several Qovernment aemployees attompted
to gndn accens to the South Gale to get their government vehicles, A man 1 now know as Antony
Burgesn told the crowd to that no one was allowed to get into the House of Asnembly, The crowd
refused to allow the government employees access, One of the peaple in this crowd was a man |
know as Dorniclle Farrel. I know Farrel becatne he has beon my complalnant for two (2) different

casen. [ had o conversation with Farrel and I told him it was againat the law to block access to the
Houao of Ausembly. Ferrel did not respond to me,

Armund 10:00 a.m. later that sarme day I saw people in the crowd shout and point. T looked
over the wall and saw st the junction of Reid and Parlisment Street o man [ now know as Edmond
Smith striking Police Inspector Bcott Divine in {he leg with o large stick. Divine was trying to hold of
SBMITH while resching for his radio. ! jumped over the wall and ran towards Divine. PC Ming and
wrrested for ansault
on police. Smith was conveyed in the police van to the Hamilton Police Station, [ walked back to my
post and saw a large crowd of protestors had complotely blocked the east entrance to the Houwse of
Assembly which is located on Parliament Street near its junction with Reld Strect. Several of the

proteators pointed at me and called ma skinny, nord and made comments about how they couldnt
belicve 1 was o potice officer because of my size, [ ignored them. !

EWMJ*M Slanature witnassad b ll“ll-m
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BERMUDA POLICE Page 3 COP Y

Conlinuation of Statement of Dominlgue Simons

FC MacNab then shouted folky you eannot block aceess to the house of assombly move or
you will be captored, No body blocking the gate moved, The crowed continued to push police officers
away and block the gato, PC MacNab informed the erowid twe (2) more times that if they continued
to block the gate they will be captored however no one followed his instruction and the crowd was
continulng to become more agrressive with the police officers that were atlompting to gain nccesn to
the house of assembly, PC MacNab deployed his caplor, Farrel was the first person (o get hit and
began complaining about his eyes. I told Farvel to Just leave the crowd but he stayed whero he was,

I continued to asgess the situation and still felt that captor was the best course of action.
Denplte my feelingn | still hesltated to deplay captor. 1 asked Pe MacNab who trained me in the use
of captor if | was authorized in this situstion o use captor and he said yes Deapito averything I still
hesitated. 'Then 1 naw to my left about twalve (12} feet away a male use their right hand, place it
inaide PC 2460 Arron Dyer's high vislbility florescent vest and take hold of him, 1 feared for PO Dyer
safety but he was too far for me to et to becanse of the crowd and I know the only way | could help
was to eaptor, [ doployed my captor in a shoit quick burat and hit the male on the right side of his
face. The male Immediately roleased PC Dyer. I reassessed the situation and saw to my right about
twelve (12) feet away that a male had placed both hin hands inaide of PC 2429 Jullan Brassington's
high visibility floreacent vest and took hald of him, 1 feared for Brassington's safety and deployed my
captorin a short quick burst and hit the male on the left uide of his face, The male immedintely
released PC Brassington. T saw that there were angry males moving towards the back of PC
Brasaington. In order to protect e Brassington 1 deployed short bursty of captor in the direction of
the males. The crowd then began to surge towards me and PC MacNab in an nggreanive manner,
One male raised his hand and resched towards me wo | doployed captor, I then reaasessed the
situation and put my captor away, PC Brassington made It closet than any other police officer and
shouted push pull, PC MacNab and | began trying to push people that were blocking the entrance
but they refused to move. Farrell who was still complaining about the ffectn of the captor finally
staried to walk out of the crowd, | helped him up the stairs, He threw his helmet to the ground and
it broke, I then helped him to a walk {0 & wall where he sat dowm, 1 returmed to my post and the
Bate was dlosed, | saw that members of the crowd were receiving treatment for captor, | helped
Farrel up and led him outside of the fate so that he could receive troatment, Police ntoppaor
altempting to gain eccess to the Houae of Asaembly,

Heveral members of the crowd identified me as one of the officers that doployed captor and
began pointing and shouting at me threating to kill me In various ways, They shouted that 1 was
going to got ahat, 1 was golng to get beat up, | was golng to be sprayed with baygon and aet on fire, |
did not respond. A man I know as Richard Brangman who works for Augustus Funeral Home sald
he wan golng to throw acid on me and hmve his sons beat me up, People walked up to me and tool
photos or asked for my badge numbers which I provided. | waa later relieved of duty and returned
to the Hamilton Police Station, 1 immedistely filled out my use of force form for deploying my captor,
Ps Taylor welghed my captor and found it weighed Sg. 1 played my cuptor in a police evidence bag,
signed it, avaled it, and gave it to P8 Taylor,

The whole situation wie unreal, 1 was fearful not only for my own safety but the safety of the
olhurpullcoo[ﬁccro.‘l‘hluwunotonly the first time [ have used captor but the first time evor in my

M AT Slannhir witnesead be lL.-H.\
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BERMUDA

FILE COP'

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: Temy Paynter

Dato of Birth: Over 21

Address; C/O Bermuda Police Service

Phone: (H) (W) 247-1337

Occupation/Employer: Police Constable Phone:

Thia statement consisting of 2 pages each signed by me, is true to the best of my knowle

and bellef and | make it knowing that, If it Is tendered In evidence, | shall be liable to

prosecution if | have wilfully stated In It anything which | know to be false or do not believe
bae true,

Datod the Gt day, of December, 2016 Signed:

Signature witnesseod by \

I am Police Conntable PC) 95 Terry Paynter, praaently attached to Community Policing
Divislon, On Friday 27 December 1 wus called to duty at Hamilton Police Station (H/Dj al 0645
I wans asaigned dutles of foot patrol on the grounda of Parinment with Pe 2498 Bagden, Someth
around 105Chra Polica Sergeant (PS) 412 Dean requested PC's 2126 Smith, 2498 Basden and |
acoompiny him Lo the H/D, Upon arrival at H/7D Acting lnspector 711 Astwood addressed us &
asked if we would take 8o handheld cameorder and video the people in and around the Partiam
Grounds, [ wae lesued with a Bammung H/ D 52X Video camora seriol numbers HMX-FUOWN/)
and 8/NASHQCNIFBOOGYWE,

About 1310hrs | along with my pariner PC 2498 Basden was instructed to nccompan
Inupectar (Insp) 282Clarke and his section of about fourteen officers, We walked from the Stati
the front gate main entrance of the Parliament grounda, Upon arrival [ saw a lnrge group of ma
men gathered at the front get interlocking thetr arme an police arrved, | recognised Mr Clirks
Furbert (BIU president), Jason Hayward [BPSU president), Mr Walter Roban, Mr Wayne Furbe
Ray Tweed, My Denads Lister and My Glenn Blmmons (dingbat), 1 heard tap Clark pay to the ¢
“Listen UP, it is your constitutional and lawlul right to sascmble, however it is not legal for yo
then the crowd began singing “WIE SHALL NOT BIE MOVED® | could no longer bar Insp Clarke

A few minutes later | observed the memberns of the Public Service Unit (PSU) arriving wi
south on Parliament street. The unit approached the main gate in an attempt to gain excess ¢
prounds through tha gate, The crowded resisted the PEU unit and prevented them lrom gainh
entry. Mr. Derrick Burgess, Dennis Lister, Walton Roban and David Burt, approached Insp C1
anking him on what muthority and law wan the instruction carried oul, Insp Clarke made no
to any of them,

An the PEU proceed to attempt to cloar the way on parllament, the crowd was pushing
shoving attempling to resiat the PSU. I continued videoing during all the mayhem, | obaerved
in & Blue jacket, white cap and dark shaden swing an umbrella and hit a PSU officer on the b
alne observed n hoavy set dark-akinned male in nighting the crowd tolling thews to ptand theit
ground, and saying “Where they go we go*,

Slgned: Torry Payntar E_ Signature witnessed by:_gms‘—'-

TR
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X BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuakion of Statement of _Teny Paynier

PEU maste their Wiy R the cimier b this ssiythern gat of the gonngs § remsdned on
Parlismnent Street with nsp ﬁ!a;rke who was ttm mbjm of mw;h alwse frl:xm Mz, ‘Dierrick Burgess
{:mmm Lok s Waktani Rabu; basp Cltarle stmde fi pephy to. wny mf Ehenees,

The PAL unit madn their way 1o the mutl-mm enleaninsiol Pmﬁmwn: on Redd "%t:rw:t, it
ke mmﬁé&} faltorpend, W preivnl 8 a&wwml 6 mmzhm ol this persors pm:mt wmm wory ve
mnd saying they had been aprayed. The same hesvy gmt%«zmm wifh the white broad whs ‘shonting
‘szl anothar talk hmm mmrmd mm g hmwm oy m mk&ng fm smpmr amhng he fysd maten

£ mm\ﬁuumd fitrnimg the crowl mﬂ‘ﬁ b wins instructec to stip fitming

Signed: TMPWF a7
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BERMUDA POLICE

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: Melesia Iris

Date of Birth: January 22" 1084

Address: afo Barmuda Police Servica, 10 Headquarters Hill, Davonshire
Phone: (H) (W) 2050011
Occupation/Employer: Police Constable/Bermuda Police Service Phone:

Thia atatement consisting of pagos each signed by me, is true to the best of my
knowledge and belief and | make it knowing that, If It Is tendered in evidence, | shall be llable

to prosecution if | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not bellev
to be true.

Dated the Wednes day, of 14" December, 2018 slgm-.ém__“
Signature witnossed by: _ecrtl donc 52 2401 Dt

| am Police Constable 2219 Melesia IRIS and | am currently attached to Recorda
Managnment Support Unit,

On Tuesday, 69 December | was tasked to assist the Central Criminal lnvestigat
Department (QCID) with the inveatigation of the Protest that took place on 204 of
December 2016 cutside the House of Assembly.

Whilst attached to CCID | was asslgned to locate any articles as well as any soch
media videos that | could find relating to the Protest, previously mentioned.

On Tuesday, 60 December 2016, 1 extracted the following videos from the variot
slios;

“Lady Speaks Outside House” (Bernews).
- Ppolice in Riot Genr Move In On People At the house” (Bernewa).
. *Outgide The House of Assembly, 11:55am December 2016" {Berncws),
- *House of Assembly Grounds At 8:30 am, December 2 2016" (Bernews).
*Police At House of Assembly, December 2 2016"

- *Police Arrive At House of Assembly, Dec 2 2016” (Bernews),
*“Tempers Flare At Protest At House, December 2 20167

-~ *Police Pepper Spray Protesters At House, Decomber 2 2016"

- *House of Assembly Protest Compilation®

Caption They woukin’t let Bob the snub in’

- Caption ‘Facebook video# 10154736130019402'

I then placed the following videon in the Pollee G:\CCID\CID 2016\File
Management\Memex 2016\HOA PROTEST\Video footage of HOA\Bocial Media
Recordings folder,

Whilst watching the video labelled (Police Arrive At House of Assembly, Dec 2 %
from Bernews), | saw that around 6; 18 minutes into the video, people shonting at P
“Go Round!”, 7:18 you ean see aboul four men In the center of the screen looking m
and shouting at Police, (description of person, Male in blue shirt, grey long beard ar
bald head). 7:30 you obserye male in blue shirt, grey beard shouting, *Lot dem go 1

Signed: === ~ ___________ Signature witnossed hy; 1(4_ Mﬁ‘mi
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Slgned:

Continuation of Statement of Melesia Iria

- Where peaceful protest is regarded as unlawful O The Royal Qazettel'Bermuds
DOpinton

- Premier calls for report on palice erackdown (1 The Royal Gazettel Bermuda
Politics

- Qroup clalms police action 'excessive' (1 The Royal GazetteOBermudn News

- Column(! If We Forget, We Are Doomed To Repeat - Bernews.com ()
Bernows.com

- Premier And PLP Leader On Protest & Airport Bill - Bernews.com [
Bernews.com

- Police Investigate Social Media Threat To Premier - Bernews.com 0
Bernewsa,com
Trevor Lindaay - I'revor Lindsay posted a video to Bermuda News Asa..,
Comments - Kirk Butterfield's Page

't Hours Of Live Video Replaysil Protest At House - Bernews,com U
Bornews.com

And then 1 saved all above mentioned arlicles in the folder located G:\CCID\CID
2016\ File Management\Memex 2016\HOA PROTEST\News Clippings taking from
Facebook,

On Tuesday, 13" December 2016, 1 extracted the following video, “Crowd in clas
with riot police” and plamd‘ that video in the felder G:\CCID\CID 2016\File
Management\Memex 2016\HOA PROTEST\Video footage of HOA\Bocial Media, ! 5

-

____ Signature witnessedby:
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STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of; Molosla Iris

Date of Birth: January 22* 1pa4

Address: oo Bormuda Pollco Service, 10 Headquarters Hill, Devonshire
Phone: (H) (W) 2850011
Ocoupation/Employer: Police Constable/Bermuda Pofice Sarvice Phone:

This statement consisting of pages each slgned by me, is true to the best of my
knowledge and bellef and | make It knowling that, it it |s tendered In evidence, | shall be liable

to prosecution if | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not beliove
to be true,

Dated the Tues day, of 24" January, 2017 slnnh_l_E

Signature witnessed by: >, Z._\-ﬁc&o_ B 2 By,

[ am Police Constable 2219 Melesla 1RIS und | am currently ettached to Records
Management Support Unit.

In addition to the statement | made on Friday, 11% November 2017, | then
downloaded the video from periscope labelled;

“24.Jan.2017 2219* (httpe:/ /wrww. periscope. tv/w/ InAJEkaLZNvELS ) (Periscope)

I then placed the video on the Working end Master Hard Drive in Gi\Video footage
of HOA\Social Media Recordings

I then complled n funning log outlinlng the times that | observed the subject scen
in the video,

I produced a DVD with of the above mentioned video and labelled it M11,

Q-

4

Ngmtf"_}?k) e ,_"9““““""’“:%“&%’7
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STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Btatement of: Courthey Simmons
Date of Birth: Over 21
Address; 52 Victorin Street, City of Hamilton
Phone: (h) 441, Phone: (w) 441.247.1413
Phone: (a) A41.717.2428
Email: esimmona2@bps.bm
Oceupation Palice Officer Employer: Bermuda Police Servica

This statement conaiating of (4) pages cuch nigned by me, I8 true to the beat of my
knowledge and belief and 1 make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, 1

shall be linkie to prosecution if [ have willfully stated In it anything, which 1 know
1o be false or do not belizve to bo true, (Buction 9 of Evidenca Aat 1908)

R%ncﬂ%{ e R..

Witneased by: ..%«“M.yn’dﬂ;ﬁb
States,

My ocurrant poating within the Bermuda Police Service is in the Criminal
Investigation Department ot the Hamilton Police Btation, Through the Bermuda
Police Sarvice | nttended a course put on by the Forensic Support Dopartment on
retrleving CCTV footage as well 911 calls [rom the Verba System that holds the

recordings of calls placed through Policel Operations. | have been authorized to do
50 by the Commissioner of Police.

Date; December 14, 2016

Around 2:00pm on Monday the 5% of December 2016, 1 was on duty in the
Criminal Investigation Depnrtment at Harnilton Police Station when | was informed

that an Investigation has commenced into the House of Assembly protest that
occurred on Friday the 2% of December 2016,

Around 9:18am on Tueaday the 6% of December 2016, Detective Sergeant
(DS) 590 Roberts handed over to me three handheld cameras (exhibits) fo

download footage from the camema in relation to the protest. They were the
following cameras;

* Sony Camera (PC Smith) with markings “LJS1*
¢ Samsung Carnera (Ps Dean) with markings “LCD 1"
s Hamsung Camera (Pe Paynter)

Around 11:00am on that same doy | downlonded the sald footage from the
three cameras as the following:

* Sony Camera (PC 8mith) 1 video file from December 2, 2016
¢ Semsung Camar (Pe Dean) 10 video files from December 2, 2016

¢ Samsung Camera (Pe Paynler] 8 video files and 1 picture from December 2,
2016

31@%!&% Signature witnessed byaaf{é‘. s \ A
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Continuation of Statement of:

I downlonded all foolage on to a WD “My Passport” 2TB external hard drive
under file HOA Foolage placed the footage in folders for each officer’s camera and
also made a working copy.

During the investigation 1 was taaked to view videon from December 2, 2016
and | was able to identify peveral as knowlng them for different, reasons, | viewed
footage from the hand held cameras and Bocial Media which included;

Wayne Fubert, MP
Derrick Burgess, MP
Edward David Burt, MP -
William Lawrence Scott, MP '
Michael Scot, MP
Jamahl Simmons, MP
Glenn Blakeney

Jason Hayward

Chris Furbert

Rev, Nicolas Tweed
Walter Roban, Mp
Shermean Hill

Andre Simmons

Akil Darrell

The remaining individusls 1 wsed pletures to identify them to inchude in the

below mention sereen shots as [ have previously did not know them. That inchuded
the following Individuals;

Alfaja Torine Henry
Lilymay Bullord
Chris Furbert, .Jr
Antione Minora
David Saltus
Edward Ball
Antony Burgess
Desnell Davis
Ernest Trott
Glenn Simmons
Jahmel SBamuels
Neville Goodard
Sean Burgess
Arnold Smith

At 10:40am on Friday the 9th of December 2016, I again viewed footage fram
the handheld cameras and viewed video [rom Social Medls and  compiled
screcnshots of the following with descriptions of wha 1 saw in that particular

* PC Paynter Video# SDV_0044: 19 screens shots were captured with my
markings C8 4 through €822

m@ﬁmamtm wilnessed by: -,/4;—4‘5“.#.
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BERMUDA POLICE

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: Everard T. "Bob” Richards JP MP

Dato of Birth: 16 May 1948

Address: 3 Willlamsholme Drive, Warwick

Phone: (H) w)

QOccupation/Employer: Deputy Premior Phona:

This statement conslsting of ~ pages each signed by me, is true to the best of my knowledge

and bellof and | make it knowing that, If It is tendered In evidence, | shall be llable to

prosecution if | have wilfully statod in it anything which | know to be false or do not helieve to
be true.

A
Dated the 1# tlly. of January, 2017

b S0

Signature witnessod by:

I am Evorard T, *Hob® Richards an active Member of Parlisment. | an prescntly representing
Constituency #11; Devonshire East, 1 am the Deputy Premier of Bermuda and also the Finance
Minister of Bermuda, As Deputy Premier and Minister of Finance, offices’ that I've held for mare
than three [3) yonrs, I'm required to attond the House of Assembly (HOA] when we are in sitting,
Puring thoss house alttings we the members would debate various Bills tabled; one of the recent
Bills up for debate for which I waa in charpe being the Airport Authaority Act 2016 and Bermuedn
Airport Concesaions Act 2016,

The house sittings are propared on a schedule which we the membern are made aware of by
an email distributed. In relation to the Airport Bill we were to meet al the HOA Friday 2+ Decembe
2016, and as such we were to debate these particular bills.

Between 7:35%am and 7:40am Friday the 20 of December 2016 my wife had dropped me to
work at the Government Admin Building (GAB), Parliament St Hamilton. My office overlooks the
prounds to the HOA. The view from my office is clear and unobstructed.

As soon nx | exited my car [ naw police officern posted on the gates to Parliament; lwo (2)
waore on the small midn gates and nnother two (2) on the clectrie gates, There were other police
officers roving around the HOA grounds, There were two (2} more officers close to the Church 5t
corner,

At that time police appeared to have total control of the situation. Thers wore 5o 1
demonatratara at the main gates, and | could have entered the Parliament grounds if | had wished,
Far the record the previous day I was advised by the Minister of National Becurity, Jeffrey

Baron that I would be met by the door of the OAHB by a Hpecial Branch officer who would escort me
to Parliament at 8am,

Even though on that ineming 1 could have casily accessed Parliament grounds st that
moment, | didn't want the officer to show up there at 8am and not find me there | Therefore |
‘decided (o go to my office on the 2™ floor of the GAB 1o wait for him,

Between T:45am and 7:50am that same moming while waiting for the police officer | hogan

chatting with the Finance Secretary, It was then | saw my collesgue Sylvan Richards MP inside the
Parliament grounds walking up the stairs to enter the building, Clenrly the palice had allowed him

ncoeas.
Signad; g;)‘:! I 1 ""'z & | 7 Slgnature m.m
]
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Continuation of Statement of _Everard T. "Bob" Richards JP MP

Al the end of the day we were never able Lo meel to debate the proposed Airport
Redevelopment Bills because of the petions of those who prevented us from entering the premises
carry out our Legislative Dulies,

These are the events ns they unfolded,

. ' “Ha 2
12

6
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This statement consisting of 5. Nmmﬂmwmlﬂmhﬂmhmm

YRR R EERSY

STATEMENT OF WITNESS
Mmmtgf' K,!h Wm ﬂQRTON
Pato of Birth; 22 dsiany 1048

Addreas: 198 North Shoro Road, “irglni Cottage™: Hamiti: Pailah
“Phooe: {*ﬁ _ W) 2922800 -
Ommﬁcmmnym Gowt of Bepmuda . . Phone:

i

Whmu?u”'.
wmm:makmmmmuw inevidence, 1ohail bo Rable to o
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Mkmmmmmmm Iwmm' imﬂm?wpmdmmnmm;

anywlicee ehse. m»mmmm :mam m uma soan mﬂm He mnms foasbEeT
--’bsmim mmm I{hﬂmm !ﬂmhﬁﬂnmﬁnnm wmgmmmmmm
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— BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuation of Statement of _K.H. RANDOLPH HORTON
uumdmethnll;hnPhhmh-d-umegyhplmmenmnuktylotboMmbor-anurﬁmmL
lhmldﬂhnnotethntlﬂuolpubwidnmrminaawmuu. Olnny Ferson and we had a
lengthy discussion concerning what was going on and relevant parts of the Parliament Act 1957, |
donlmlyruc-lllrtlnmﬁummmar-Poﬁce-h-nhnyn-mlnmnb-hmnr-ﬂ-rmy
conversation with Acting Governor Ferson, I can say that afler my conversation with Acting
CGovernor Ferson, | was minded to adjourn until 1:00pm. I should stresa at thia point that | did te
the Acting Governor that if the sitting took place at 1:00pm 1 would not sit as Speaker for that tim
and the Deputy Speaker Mra. Suzann Holshouser would have to act as Spesaker nnd she would
sasume the chair, At that point, at about 10:50, I telephone the Premier, the Leader of the
Oppasition and the COP that the House of Assembly would meet at 1:00pm that same day.

A-I;OOpmnpprnlched.llonhdouuideudmwﬂm!mldemburufhﬂlmtmmdb
rpproach the House, [ was still in the building, Because of this 1 sew that there appeared to be
maore poople gathered outside the gates than the morning hours, It locked like there wore some

conversations going on botween the Police and those persons blocking the gate, From where | was
could not bear what was going on or boing asld.

I can't say exactly what time but it could have been around 1;15pm when | saw Police
Officers with helmets on their heads marching in formation. They came from the directlon of the
Church Street and marched toward the crowd sl the main gate where cara drive onto the House
groundas. | watched for about 10 minutes as they made their way into the crowd, I maw scuffling
between theae two groups, It looleed like people were pushing and shoving, | was stunned when |
saw the Police coming. lm-maﬂedatth:ncuﬂingmdshoﬂngmﬂlthm;huhntmmm
m‘“’““mwmw-:' o1 : -

aomﬂ:lme-round i 30|:||n lu-n‘tmm:mberexnﬁhr 'I‘hrmdwutthedqylmllmnonmed'i
my stalf whom I would not want to endanger themaelves by coming in at this time, At thin point |

only knew there to be five peoplo in the building; those being Minister Sylvan Richards, Sgt At Arr
Allen, two cleaners Mr, & Mrs. Brangman and me.

m:mmammqmmlmumm.memumomﬁm
and the Commissioner of Police to inform them of this.

As far an the busincss day was concemed, that was it for me. | had to stay in the House
until the crowd had dispersed and it was safe to do so. This was around 4:30pm. Before thin |
Mmmmm%ofmmﬂmmdhﬁmhnhmmambunmnm
House would not sit that day. 1 can remember when | called DCI but | recall that DCH sent {t oul
arcund 2:45pm - someone informed me of that.

Aﬂrllﬂlthailuunlnnlhtwdﬂnnnmll-w-nmepeoplndulmmthcwullloma

Government Post Office. Thqnhmhdoneortwothlnpout,it-oundgdnmﬁwhﬂlcan'tauc
say what it was. I retumed home sefoly later that evoning,

Signed: K H. Randolph Horton Signature witnessed by: P, Santlago, DS 842 L
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cmnammnismm ol K.H mmm
liwihm

Ihwrmdﬂwﬁbmmmmtmd!hammmldthanmnewm. witer o add saything

Twish. Thin sledemend bs troe; (e mndde 1§ of my own frée wilk,

iLiAZhrs.
Id@u%ahmudﬁﬁmmﬁagﬁum ?ﬂwm 1.am:mwmmmm;;m wi!izﬂw

Commdastonsr of Polie mgmmwm" my support s1al coming onlo the premisos

in isppbat of legsbitive prosoeds, Ha told me tat he could provids Police pratrction to them ta get .
wmmﬂxumimbunﬁidnmwmmmmmmWﬂImmunmmhmHmn
Hene, WimmmmwmmmmmaMmem*wmmm
1mu!ﬁmtm&tshmhﬁwbyhmgmamgmmmm idi&nntmma&y!mﬂtﬁi-m
mmmnmzmd ammmm i sndnirn the Houne sitting that dey,

1181he, KHR. Borton

;mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmﬂmﬁ
aﬁdawﬁﬂnglmh. This statement is true and | have made it of my own fiee will.

l(.ﬂ,’l. anm

This statement wia recocded by DS 842 Bantiags,

Signed: 1 H. Randdlol Horon Signatere witnessod by P, Sarliage. DS 84
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BERMUDA FILE COPY

POLICE
STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statoment of: KENNETH BASCOME, JP, MP

Date of Birth; 31/8/1948

Address: C/o Cabinet Office, Reid Street, Pembroke

Phone; (H) W)

Occupation/Employer: Member of Pariament Phone: 205-5161

This statement consisting of pages each signed by me, Is true to the best of my
and bellef and | make It knowing that, If It Is tendered in evidence, | shall be liable

to prosecution if | have wilfully stated In it anything which | know to be false or do not belleve
to be true.

Dated the 19th day,of January, 2017 Signed: K Bacome

Signature witnessed by: _A, Bartley, 2092

| min Kennoth Bascame JP, M. | have been o Member of Parliament since December 2012, 1
am MP for Constituency #1 St. Qeorge's North,

It is my leglslutive duty to attend the House of Assembly when House is in session, to discuss
and debate various bills for the Ialand of Bermuda, On the dayn the House is in sessjon, we

convene at 10am, have lunch midday for an hour and a half, we then reconvene and continue the
debates soanelimen o the early meming hours,

In tho week prior to December 2+ sesslon, | was made aware of this particular sitting and
that one of the hills ta be debated were in reference to the Airport ESIL

On Friday December 204 2016, | canght the early moming 6:15am bus from St George's to
make my wey to the City of Hamilton, | srrived in Hamilton shortly after, and went to The Spot

restaurant lor breakfast, After breakfast | lelt and began to walk towards the House of Assembly for
an early arrival for that day's session,

I walked along Church Street, then tarsed right onto Parlimment Street; that was when | saw
several Police Dfficers in the area. | also saw several members of public standing in and around the
Parlinment Street areas, | didn't see any other Members of Parliament in the area at the time.

1 walked down along Parlisment Street, towards the entry gate leading to the House of
Assembly with the intent of wallang through the gate. | wanted to make my way to the House for
an cwrly start and prepare for the session of the day,

Junt then | wan npproached by o young black lady, She walked up to me and begun
shouting al me, [ just stood there and listened as ahe sald “You're selling Bermuda out” snd

Signed: K. Bacome ~ Signaturo witnessed by: A Bartley, 2062 6

il
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/ BERMUDA POLICE Page 2

Continuation of Statement of KENNETH BASCOME, JP, MP

other various things of that sott. 1 never responded because it was my belief that if 1 had it would
have only enraged her even more, Thia lady her rant for what felt like two minutes or so.

I then left hor and walked neross the street towsrds the Qovernment Administration Building.
I no longer wanted to be subjected to this woman'’s verbal abuse, After a cooling period, 1 walked
back across the strect and headed straight for the gate. As I approached, 1 saw four hlack men
emerge and stand directly in front of the gate, shoulder to shoulder, creating a human wall, Thin
prevented me from being able to walk through at which time | turned to walk away.

At that time o Police Officer approschecd me and asked if 1 wanted to get through to attend
the House, Although it was my intent to walk through the gate and attend the House, as is my clvic
duty, | told the Officer that it was no need and continued to walk back toward the Government
Administration Building. 1 did not want to cause nany confrontation with the four gentiemen who
were obviously intending on blocking me access through the gate,

After [ walked back I stayed on the other side of the road and continued to observe, That was
when | saw the Ministor of Finance Mr Bob Richards, walking towards the sume gate, The pamae

wall. 1aawn Polico Officer approach these men and it nppemd nn thmugh wmlo were owhnnml
before the Officer and Mr Richards tumed and walked away, The four men never moved from in
front of the gate,

At this point I left the area and made my way to Serpentine Road to Ambrosia's Cycles,
During this time | recelved neveral colls from my Parlinmentarian colleaguon nsking for my
whereabouts. [ assured them that I was snfe as well as updating them about being blocked from
getting into Parlimnent earlier that morning,

1 eventually wallked back into the City, to the Cabinet Office In Reid Street where 1 met my
colleagues. Throughout the remainder of the moming we were in constant discussions, trying to
davise a way to gain entry into the House of Assembly, [t was alwaya my intent to attend the House
for the debate, as is my job as an elected Officlal,

My reason for not going back onto Parliament Street to gain access a second time was to
avold any confrontation with the protestern who wete present down there, These numbers had
continued to swell throughout the moming and | knew from earlier incident, that they were not
golng to move and open the gate on my behall. Therefore, | remained at Cabinet Office with my
colleaguon.

Throughout the discussion, Police attended the office and suggested options to galn entry
onto tho grounds. | exprensed my concerns with the optionn which were suggested due to the

Signed: K. Bacome Signature witnessed by: A. Bartley, 2002
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Continuation of Statement of KENNETH BASCOME, JP, MP

hostile tone the protesters had taken, 1 didn't believe it was in our bost interest as a matter of
safety to attempt to gain entry anto the grounds,

I don’t know who the four men were that blocked me, just that they appearcd organised

blocking the gate, Thaumquuunkwpmphnrounduudlwmldnibelblemwnm
face,

Whint 1 con say is that from the early moming when | was blwkod(rmnmﬂngmlhap
it wawn decided to reconvene at a later date, it was always my intention to sttend House of Asse:

which is my civic duly, My maln reason for not making further attempts way to avold canfront
with the protestors,

Signed: K. Bacome Signature witnessed by: A Barllay, 2002
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BERMUDA

"OUCEFILE GOPY

STATEMENT OF WITNESS

Statement of: SUZANN HOLSHOUSER DEPUTY SPEAKER JP MP

Date of Birth: 11/8/59

Addresa: clo Cabinel Office, Reld Street, Pembroke

Phone: (H) 533-1959 (w)

Occupation/Employer; Member of Parliament Phone: 205-5151

This statement conslisting of pages each signed by me, is true to the best of my :
knowlaedge and belief and | make It knowing that, If it Is tondered In svidence, | shall be llable

to prosecution if | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not beliove
to be true,

Dated the 19th day, of January, 2017 Signed: S, Holshouser

Signature witnossed by: A Bartley. 2002

I am Suzann Holshouser, | have been an nctive Member of Parlisment since Decomber 2012
I am MP for Constituency #4 St. Oeorge’s South,

As Deputy Spenker of the House I have reaponsibility for the House and Grounds, 1 also nit
and chair in committee for all bills put before the House. These are my elvio responsibilities as an
elected ollicial and Member of Parllament, | sttend the House to represent my constituents as their
elected official,

About 7:30am on Friduy 2+ of Decomber 2016, | left my residence to make my way to the
City of Hamilton, My husband drove our vehicle with me in the front passenger aeat. We drove
mong Reld Street and past Pariament Stroet, ot which time 1 did obnerve & number of persons
standing in the ares. We continued along Reid Street, turned right onto Burnaby Strect and then
right onto Church Street.

My husband drove along Church Street, stopping the vehicle Jjust alter tho stop lights by the
restaurant near the junction with Parliament Street. | observed several Police Officers standing
near the northorn entrance on Parliament Street, 1 exited my vehicle and oroased the road. |
approached the gate. There were between four to five men. As these men made eye contact with
me they immediately linked arms, creating a human barrier and said "We are not letting you In™
to which I responded *Good morning.” The men hesitoted before replying “Good moming.” |
informed the men that | needed (o get to work to which one of the men respoaded “Not today,”

At that point | noticed more membors of public atarting to show up in the urea, [ turned to
the Police Officer and he told me to hold on. As the Officer comforted me, | heard a man’s voice rin

out from right behind me saying “They may come with a thousand Police but we'll bring
thousands more.”

Signed: 8. Holshouser _____ Signature witnossed biABadey, 2082
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Confintstion of Statement of _ SUZANN HOLEHOUSER DEPUTY SPEAKER JiP MP

" Prom that point I turned and wallced down towards the southern gats on Pastinment Street
new Minister of Finuoce Dob Richards stending near the gate, it appeared as though Mr. Richard
was talking with a group of pamlc mndmg between himself and the gate. Twasn't able to focus ¢
whllmbctn;ul ut it v : 5 40

I spoke with Mr. Richarda and supgested we cross the street, which we did. Jhe two of us
proceeded to Mr. Ri mMH*mhMcMMdmwmﬂ
Bullding, There is a window in Mr. Richards’s office which overlooks Parliament Street, down over
the southern gate. | decided to watch from the window ane oven took a phota of the scene down
near the gate. The crowd continued to swell throaghout the morning. [ used my IPad to capture
the picture which date and time stampaod it

Later thet moming | continued to watch from the window. During that time I observed Nan
Outerbridge’s mathor's van which I'm quite familiar with, turn from Reid Sireet up ento Parlinmen
Street, It appeared o8 though the vehiclo was altempting to drive through the southern gate but
there were far too many people standing there blocking the gate.

'nuvnrimpnﬂmdhathnauml'fornudﬂhuwhkhpnh:tlnwﬂandlmltmcvehldn. Sh
walked around the front of the van anc townrds the front af the crowd and out of my vision. Soon

after, she re-appeared near the rear of the van before walking scrons the slreel towards Governme:
Administeation Building.

[ remained in the office until about 1 lam at which point Premier Dunkley called over and
anked that we make our way to the Cabinet Office on Reld Street. Severnl of us decided 1o take a

back door to make our way 1o avoid any potential confrontation with the erowd. We arrved al the
office withaut incident.

Other Members of Parliament and | remained in the office discussing what had taken place.
HSometime before 1pm, it wan discussed whether it wan still our intention to dttend the House o
carry out our civic duty, Wo decided that we would still sit for the session. A Police Officer
attended the offices and discussed possible oplions available to gain access T the grounds. One of

these options was that Police would clear the gate and we would go in by vebicle, We were told the
House would reconvene at Lpm.
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e I e e
oﬂlbm!ﬂdlhdﬂnmt.m“mﬂm Allhntjdnuhg Pr'u_nhr
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date,
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ANNEX 8

Comments from interviewees Regarding Their Experiences on 2" December 2016

Person A:

To this day she cannot walk or drive by Parliament Street without feeling traumatized all over
again.

She felt:

s humiliation, as she watched the policemen pepper spraying the crowd laughing at those

who were injured.

s betrayal, as she was reminded of her ancestors who were subjected to hostile treatment by
law enforcement officers, while engaged in a peaceful protest.

e offended, as she felt her democratic rights had been taken from her.

» disappointed that she had no follow-up response from her submission to the Police
Complaints Authority.

Person B:

-

People were pressing against her, but there was nowhere to go.

A tall person threw himself in front of her to protect her. Police pulled him away; her glasses
were knocked off.

She felt her face on fire; the pepper spray came over her face and it was burning. She used
water to wash her eyes out, but it did not help.

Her eyes were swollen for 7 days.

When the Riot Police came rushing toward them, she thought they were coming to escort the
MPs to the House. The action was 50 unnecessary.

She did go to the Police Complaints Authority and was told to come back to give her report. She
had given a hand written one. She was not interviewed at the time. In hindsight, she thought
there was something wrong with the fact that she was not allowed to give an official complaint.

Person C:

At 1:00 p.m. word came again that the House would not sit. More people arrived. Everyone
thought the demonstration was a success.

15minutes later, the Policemen were marching in the middle of the road; they were in riot gear
with shields over their faces. They stopped where she was. A lady came and said “We needed to
lock arms”. People were pressing up against her and someone said of her “This is a Senior; do
not press on her”,
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People were pushing from behind; she stumbled and lost an earring and a shoe in the process.
Her chest was very sore from the pressure. She thought she would die! She was afraid and
hegan praying. She had never experienced this before.

The Police came after the announcement that the House would close. Why did the Police (in riot
gear) come after the announcement that the House would close?

Why was the order given to use pepper spray when everything was over?

The interviewee expressed appreciation for having the opportunity to talk about the incident as this
was the first time she has tatked about that day and she feels better, but will never forget it.

Person D:

There were about 10 people there and they were quiet. The number of people increased as the
morning progressed to about 40 — 50, mostly seniors and mostly women.

They were interacting with the police and not causing any problem. They did ask why the gate
was locked.

All was quiet until after lunch when the Riot Squad came around the corner from Parliament
Street. People also came from Parliament Street.

The interviewee and others couid not get out of the way. The Police Officers started spraying
people with the pepper spray. Police were behind him pushing and shoving.

He had been to demonstrations before but this was the first time he had been pepper sprayed!
There were women on the con the road, the steps and lawn, mostly seniors. They were being
pushed and shoved and were sprayed.

He did not hear a command given to use the pepper spray and no warning was given. The
Officers just started to spray people. They were heard saying- “You push and we will pull” as the
people were being pushed.

He and others asked the Police” Why are you beating us up”?

A woman was pulled through the gate and was laying on the ground inside the gate.

He knew the Police would focus on him because he was big. They were pulling at him; he told
them “l am a human being, not an animal”. But they continued to spray him,

He was very concerned about the elderly women who were there and tried to protect them with
his body.

Person E:

Contrary to what was generally believed, the BPS locked the gates to the HOA, not the
protestors.

Protestors were not disrespectful to Officers; Officers passed freely through the protestors on
their way to and from the HOA grounds.

He did not understand the purpose of the “bubble tactic” because throughout the day, the
Police had had no problem accessing the grounds.

He did not understand the tactics with the riot squad because it was the Police who were
keeping the gates locked, not the protestors.

No-one had any intention of having a physical confrontation with the BPS; however, the riot
squad “bum-rushed” the protestors.
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He felt duty-bound to help people who had been sprayed. He saw people trying to flee. Officers
looked visibly confused.

Police should have assessed the crowd before acting; there were women and seniors present,
Threat levels have to be assessed; the riot squad came although there was no real risk. Police
did not exhaust all of their options before acting.

Person F:

The relationship between the Bermuda Police Service {BPS) and the protestors had been cordial
right up to the time of the incident. The protestors were not disrespectful. During the change of
shifts Officers had no problems moving through the protestors to gain access to the House of
Assembly (HOA) grounds,

The BPS, not the protestors, had restricted access to the HOA by locking the gates.

There was no dialogue from the riot squad which had “bum-rushed” the crowd.

The point of having the riot squad attend was unclear, since Officers were having no problems
accessing the grounds whenever they needed to.

A female Officer seemed to be in charge,

Officers appeared to be visibly confused during the pepper spray incident. One Officer stood
behind the wall on Reid Street and laughed during the incident.

The interviewee felt he was specifically targeted by the BPS,

The interviewee felt that Bermudians were generally a passive people and thus he found it hard
to believe that any Officer was attacked. In fact, some Officers had later apologized for their
actions.

He felt that dialogue was important; had it occurred between the Government and the protest
leaders on the day, the incident may never had happened.

The BPS should have assessed the crowd. Although the riot squad was sent, the actual risk level
was low since there were a number of seniors and women present. The BPS did not exhaust all of
its options.

He did not accept the explanation that the HOA grounds were not fit for protest on that day, as
there had been protests there both prior and subsequent to the 2" December 2016 incident.

In defining civil disobedience, he noted that an ambulance is allowed to run through a red light. If
one believes in a cause, one has to be willing to be like the ambulance and run through a red light.
He noted that previous protests had been non-violent and had ended with dialogue. However,
the BPS appeared to have different tactics in mind on the day of the incident.
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